
1SBERBANK SI  |   ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Annual Report

2017
Sberbank banka d.d.



2 SBERBANK SI  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Dunajska cesta 128 a
SI-1000 Ljubljana
T +386 (1) 5307 400
F +386 (1) 5307 555
SBERBANK BANKA, d.d.
info@sberbank.si
www.sberbank.si
www.e-obresti.si
080 22 65



3SBERBANK SI  |   ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Contents
Report of the Management Board 4

The bank in numbers 6

International network 7

Governing bodies 8

Sberbank banka Group 9

Organisational structure 10

General business environment 12

Strategy in 2018 13

Core business 15

Statement of financial position 21

Results from operations 24

Risk exposure 25

Equity and shareholders 26

Development milestones 27

Key facts 31

Report of the Supervisory Board 33

Internal governance statement 35

Financial statements 38

Statement of responsibility 39

Independent auditor's report 40

Statement of financial position 44

Income statement 45

Statement of comprehensive income 46

Statement of changes in equity for 2017 47

Statement of changes in equity for 2016 48

Statement of cash flows 49

Notes to the financial statements 50

Our network 119



4 SBERBANK SI  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Dear Ladies and Gentlemen,
The macroeconomic environment in 2017 was favourable, 
as Slovenia experienced a remarkable GDP growth of 5%. 
As in previous years, the main engine of growth was exports, 
but the tourism sector also had a record year. Domestic 
consumption also showed satisfactory growth throughout 
the year. All this positively affected corporate investments 
and real estate market developments. 

The above positive trends were beneficial to the banking 
sector, although this also saw interest rates fall further in 
all areas in 2017, and even fiercer competition, mainly with 
regard to lending interest rates. At this point, the monetary 
policy of the ECB must be mentioned, which remained 
unchanged and contributed to the low level of interest rates. 
This negatively affected the interest rate margin or income 
earned by banks.

Nevertheless, all this has been positively affecting the 
investments dynamics, consequently also accelerating the 
reduction of non-performing loans secured by good-quality 
real estate collateral. The investments dynamics has a 
strong and positive impact on prices and sales of such real 
estate.

As mentioned already in the 2016 annual report, the bank 
planned to have a stable lending growth in 2017. This was 
crucial for liquidity management because of the repayment 
of funding provided by Sberbank Russia, which amounted 
to EUR 210 million. With careful planning, we managed 
to gradually replace those funds with customer deposits 
(some 50%) and funds placed in the interbank market 
already in 2016 (some 50%). All this worked as planned or 
even better due to the favourable deposit operations, as the 
liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) was well above the regulatory 
and even higher internal limits at all times. The bank was 
therefore able to pursue its lending operations as planned 
and even significantly step them up in the second half of 
the year, regardless of the repayment of debt to Sberbank 
Russia.

Regarding deposits, the bank saw an increase of 12.8% 
or EUR 137 million. The total amount of deposits was  
EUR 1,212 million at year-end. The bank experienced a 

Report of the  
Management  
Board

slightly higher growth in the private individuals segment 
(13.18%) as compared to the legal entities segment 
(12.63%). As with the rest of the banking sector, Sberbank 
banka also saw a shift in deposits from term to sight deposits. 
This was due to low interest rates on time deposits, which 
are not stimulating. Already in 2016, the bank introduced 
certain new term deposits products, which helped smoothen 
this trend in 2017: the bank now has a significantly better 
ratio of term to sight deposits as the rest of the banking 
sector. In the next couple of years, the bank will focus on 
the gathering of deposits from private individuals to improve 
the deposit structure (currently private individuals represent 
27% and legal entities 73% of total deposits).

To refinance, the bank used certain primary sources of 
finance, such as deposits, but also relied (and will continue 
to rely) on the programmes offered by SID Bank (Slovenia's 
export and development bank) and, to a limited extent, 
by the ECB (the so-called TLTROs), although the latter 
remained more or less at the 2016 level.

Lending business grew by 7.35% in 2017, which was in line 
with the above-mentioned planned stable growth. In this, 
it must be mentioned that lending to private individuals 
grew by 12.77%, which was mainly due to consumer loans. 
Lending to legal entities grew by 4.92%, which was also in 
line with the plan.

In the 2017 income statement, the bank shows a net interest 
income of a similar size as in 2016, despite the strong 
pressure on interest margins and the negative interest rate 
environment. Net interest income amounted to EUR 33.4 
million, which is 0.61% or EUR 206 thousand less than in 
2016. Net non-interest income amounted to EUR 8.05 million, 
which is 1.83% or EUR 150 thousand less than in 2016. This 
lower result was mainly due to financial instruments and 
derivatives as significantly lower volumes were observed 
in the area of hedging against RUB/EUR exchange rate 
exposure.

Labour costs and administrative expenses grew by some 
6.5% in 2017, and reached EUR 26.3 million. Consequently, 
the cost-to-income ratio (CIR) increased slightly to 63.4%, 
but is still better than the market average.

Sergey Ludentsov, Gašpar Ogris-Martič, Elisabeth Friedl, Aleš Zajc 
(from left to right)
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The result of other activities was mainly affected by the 
contributions to the Resolution Fund and the Deposit 
Guarantee Scheme.

Developments in the segment of non-performing loans 
(NPL) were very favourable already in 2016, and continued 
that way in 2017. They fell by around EUR 24 million to 
EUR 166 million at year-end. The fall can be explained by 
the successful collection on the one hand and the small 
number of new cases on the other. The solving of non-
performing loans in 2018 also points to continued positive 
developments in this area. We want to emphasize that while 
our highest priority is the reduction of non-performing loans, 
we will still strive to recover as much as possible by selling 
real estate collateral or loans as such. The current status 
in this area is 160 resolved NPL cases in the segment of 
medium and large companies from 2015 to today, with an 
average recovery rate of 71%.

The related ratios, i.e. the NPL ratio and the LLP coverage 
ratio, were favourably affected, as the NPL ratio decreased 
from 14.6% to 12.0%, and the LLP coverage ratio increased 
from 37.8% to 42.1%, while the total coverage ratio was kept 
high at slightly below 100% in both years. Net provisions 
were also favourably affected: they were EUR 11.5 million, 
which is EUR 4.3 million less than in 2016.

Overall, the bank achieved a profit before taxes of EUR 3.6 
million in 2017.

Capital adequacy ratio (CAR) was at a high 18.98% level, 
while TIER1 or CET1 ratio was at 14.92%, which gives the 
bank sufficient room for manoeuvre in view of the minimum 
capital requirements imposed by the regulator. We must 
also mention the impact of IFRS 9 implementation in the 
total amount of EUR 9.4 million (EUR 7.6 million after tax), 
which decreased the bank’s capital adequacy ratio (CAR) 
in the 2018 opening balance sheet to 18.13%, and TIER 1 
ratio to 14.06%.

During 2017, the bank had 348 employees on average. 
After significantly increasing the number of employees in 
2014, the bank kept it more or less the same in 2015 and 

2016, to again increase it by 4.5% in 2017 when, at year-
end, it had 15 employees more than a year ago, or a total 
of 354 employees.

During 2017, we organised various training programmes, 
which resulted in a total of 946 training days. In accordance 
with the guidelines, employee training remained focused on 
those areas that are work processes-related and deemed 
necessary to build employees’ expertise and ensure service 
and product quality. Also in this area, the bank follows 
the strategy of digitalisation, offering e-learning courses 
in several areas, but mainly within certain regular training 
programmes. The bank is aware of the importance of 
employee training, as this gives it the required foundations 
for stable and safe operations, and for customer service.

The bank also invested in technology and new product 
development in 2017. Special attention was given to the 
digitalisation of processes, especially those related to 
consumer loans. We started implementing robotic process 
automation (RPA) and completely renewed online bank for 
private individuals. The main focus of the IT development 
was on building and implementing a new, service-oriented 
IT architecture (SOA), which will very positively affect the 
further development of banking services.

Looking ahead to 2018, we expect the positive trends in 
Slovenia's economy to continue. On the one hand, this will 
positively reflect on our reduction of non-performing loans, 
and on the other, this will further boost competition in the 
banking sector and consequently put downward pressure 
on lending interest rates. If the first positive signs regarding 
the negative interest rate environment improving towards 
year-end materialise, this will have a positive impact on our 
income.

Of the projects going on in 2018, we must mention a couple 
that are required by the law or regulator: Markets in Financial 
Instruments (MIFID II), General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) and Revised Payment Service Directive (PSD2). 
We launched them in 2017 but the related changes will only 
start to apply in 2018. 

Gašpar Ogris–Martič     
Chairman
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The bank in numbers 2013 –2017

2016 2017201520142013

1,311

1,478

Total assets
million EUR

2016 2017201520142013

998
767

Amounts owed to customers
million EUR

2016 2017201520142013

1,288

Loans to customers
million EUR

2016 2017201520142013

47,7

Operating income
million EUR

2016 2017201520142013

22,6

Operating expenses
million EUR

2016 2017201520142013

6,9

-4,1
1,2

3,0

Total profit before tax
million EUR

1,122 31,9

18,8

1,3

1,902 1,846

1,099 1,075 1,212

1,277
1,222

45,5

39,9 41,3

23,5 24,7
26,3

1,779 1,741
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International network

About Sberbank Europe 
Sberbank Europe AG, headquartered in Vienna, Austria, 
is a banking group that is 100% owned by Sberbank of 
Russia, the largest bank in Russia. Sberbank of Russia 
is servicing more than 70% of the Russian population. 
The European subsidiary Sberbank Europe is present in 
eight European markets: Austria, Germany, Bosnia and 
Herzegovina (Sarajevo and Banja Luka), Croatia, Czech 
Republic, Hungary, Slovenia and Serbia. In Germany, 
Sberbank Direct serves retail clients, offering online basic 
banking products. In Austria, Sberbank Europe serves 
corporate clients with business focus on CEE markets, 
Russia and CIS. Sberbank Europe Group has around 
665,000 customers, operates 190 branches, and employs 
4,050 employees across Europe. Total assets of Sberbank 
Europe amount to EUR 12.6 billion (year-end 2017).

Sberbank Europe’s business model
Sberbank Europe’s business model continues evolving 
around four pillars:
•  Profitable: Following a successful development in CEE 

markets, Sberbank Europe will focus on utilising its 
capital, resources and capabilities so as to further grow 
the business of its subsidiaries. 

•  Self-funded: Building on its previous achievements 
in optimising the funding mix and decreasing the 
dependency on shareholders, Sberbank Europe will now 
focus on prudent capital and risky assets management to 
achieve the maximum possible return on equity.  

•  Modern: Sberbank Europe will continue upgrading its 
digital capabilities and developing an adequate mix 
of physical and online presence, which should ensure 
superior customer experience across all channels.

•  Light: Sberbank Europe will work further on the continuous 
improvement of its operations, and on the most effective 
possible Group management.

Czech Republic

Austria
Sberbank 

Europe AG

Serbia

Hungary

Croatia

Bosnia and 
Herzegovina

Slovenia

Germany
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Governing bodies at year-end 2017

Supervisory board
Chair: Stefan Karl Zapotocky (Sberbank Europe AG,   

 Vienna), since 21 March 2017
Deputy Chair: Sonja Sarközi (Sberbank Europe AG,   

 Vienna), since 13 November 2017
Members:  Elena Viklova (Sberbank Europe AG, Vienna)
 Kornel Halmos (Sberbank Europe AG, Vienna), 

since 13 November 2017
 Sanjin Bogdan (Sberbank Europe AG, Vienna), 

since 13 November 2017
 Anton Burghardt (independent member), since 

13 November 2017

Audit committee 
(in this composition since 21 November 2017)

Elena Viklova, Chair
Stefan Karl Zapotocky, Deputy Chair
Kornel Halmos, Member
Anton Burghardt, Member

Risk committee 
(in this composition since 21 November 2017)

Sanjin Bogdan, Chair
Stefan Karl Zapotocky, Deputy Chair
Sonja Sarközi, Member
Anton Burghardt, Member

Management board
Gašpar Ogris-Martič, Chair
Aleš Zajc, Deputy Chair
Elena Burdakova, Member 
(appointed on 8 November 2017, ECB decision received 
on 13 February 2018)
Hoja Platovšek Antič, Member 
(appointed on 8 November 2017, ECB decision received 
on 13 February 2018)
Elisabeth Friedl, Member (on maternity leave)

Credit Committee

LICO Committee

RICO 
Committee

Project Portfolio  
Committee

Security Forum

DACSI 
Committee

Cost Management 
Committee

ALCO
Committee

Process Management 
Committee

Crisis Management Team

GENERAL MEETING

AUDIT COMMITTEE ORGANISATIONAL 
UNITS

RISK COMMITTEE

SUPERVISORY BOARD MANAGEMENT  
BOARD
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The Sberbank banka Group comprises Sberbank banka 
d.d. and its 100% owned subsidiary Privatinvest, d.o.o., 
Ljubljana, which has its head office at the same address 
as the bank. As at year-end 2017, the subsidiary’s balance 
sheet total was EUR 3,837,552.51, which represented less 
than 1% (precisely 0.2%) of the bank's balance sheet total. 
The value of this equity investment was EUR 962,950.90. 
The main activity of Privatinvest d.o.o. is acting as real 
estate agency/intermediary (activity code 68.310). The 
company's directors are Sergey Ludentsov and Kristina 
Čebular. Due to its insignificance for the financial position of 
the Sberbank banka Group, Privatinvest d.o.o was excluded 
from consolidation in accordance with Article 56 of the 
Companies Act (ZGD-1). The Bank of Slovenia was informed 
of its exclusion from consolidation in accordance with Article 
7 of the “Regulation on the supervision of banks and savings 
banks on a consolidated basis”.

The bank also met the IAS 27 requirements regarding 
the exception from consolidation. Privatinvest d.o.o. was 
consolidated by Sberbank Europe AG, which prepares its 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS.

On the basis of Article 545 and Article 546 of the Companies 
Act, the company's management prepared a report on 
relations with the parent company and other subsidiaries 
in the Group, in which it found that Sberbank banka d.d., 
based on the circumstances known to it at that time, did not 
enter into such transactions with the parent company and 
its affiliates or taken or abandoned other actions at their 
initiative in 2017 that would be to its detriment or result in it 
suffering a loss.

Sberbank banka Group
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Organisational structure

OU001
Board Secretariate

OU
Trade finance  

& Documentary  
Businesss

OU062
Global Markets

Operations

OU022
Transaction 

Services

OU063
Payment 

transactions

OU065
Cards Operations

OU083
IT Business 
Solutions

OU031
GM Trading

OU032
GM Sales

OU940
Large Corporate

OU069
Contact Centre

OU027
Trade Finance 

& Financial 
Institutions

OU003
Human Resources

OU058
Security

OU066
Forced 

payments

OU082
IT Operations &
Infrastructure

Supervisory Board

ALCO
Commitee

LIKO
Commitee

CREDIT
Commitee

DACSI
Commitee

Cost Management 
Commitee (CMP)

Project Portfolio
Commitee - PPC

SECURITY
Forum

RICO
Commitee

Managing Board

OU081
Facility  

Management

OU035
ALM

OU005
Controlling

OU017
Reporting

OU007
Accounting

OU061
Loan Administration

OU006
Finance Division

OU060
Banking  

Operations

OU
Business Analyst

OU011
Products

OU014
Distribution/Branch

Network

OU012
Partnership

& Bankassurance

OU096
Marketing

OU013
Digital Banking

OU084
Lean & Organisation

OU080
Organisation & IT

OU653
Center for the 

financing of micro
entrepreneurship

OU100
Celje

OU161
Tepanje

OU200
Lj. Miklošičeva

OU350
Lj. Dvorni trg

OU450
Lj. Vič

OU500
Lj. Dunajska

OU800
Lj. Šiška

OU550
Šentjernej

OU300
Koper

OU400
Kranj

OU600
Maribor

OU151
Šentjur

OU041
Risk Management

OU044
Restructuring &

Workout & Collection

OU004
Workout

OU043
Restructuring/ 
Pre-Workout

OU045
Collection

OU039
Corporate / SME

OU038
Micro

OU048
Risk

Controlling

OU046
IRM

OU049
Operational Risk

OU047
Corporate & Retail Credit 

Risk

OU50
Market & Liquidity Risk

Process Management 
Commitee - PMC

CRISIS
Management

Team

OU037
Retail

Chairman of the Management Board 
(CEO)

Deputy Chairman of the Management Board
(Deputy CEO)

OU055
Compliance Office

OU008
Legal Office

OU002
Internal Audit

OU030
Investment Banking

& Global Markets

OU020
Corporate Division

OU941
Corporate

OU930
SME Ljubljana 1

OU931
SME Ljubljana 2

OE932
SME Štajerska

OU933
SME Primorska

OU024
Large Corporate &  

Trade Finance

OU023
Corporate & SME

OU021
Sales Support 
& Monitoring 

& Product 
Development

Annotation:
(1) Loan Administration is only organisationally subordinated to the CEO in case of substantive decisions regarding SME Corporate the competences  
are allocated to Deputy CEO.
(2) In case of approvals in retail segment the competences for this OU are allocated to CEO.
Internal Audit is only organisationally subordinated to the CEO. As regards the content and reporting, it is directly responsible to the Management Board
Compliance office is only organisationally subordinated to the CEO. As regards the content and reporting, they are directly responsible to the  
Management Board.
Risk Controlling is only organisationally subordinated to the Member of the Management Board. As regards the content and reporting, it is directly 
responsible to the Management Board. 
OU Security is allocated to the IT Operations & Infrastructure department and is only organisationally subordinated to the Organizaton & IT division. As 
regards the content and reporting, it is directly responsible to the Management Board.

Chairman of the Management Board:
- Chief Executive Officer,
- Chief Corporate Banking Officer (incl. ALM) 
- Chief Operations Officer (without Credit 
Administration) 
- Chief Financial Officer (without ALM),
- Credit Administration

Deputy Chairman of the Management Board
- Chief Retail Banking Officer,
- Chief Information Officer
- Chief Risk Officer

Commitee

Staff Unit

Division

LEGEND:

Department

Group within the OU, in which common tasks and 
responsibilities are completed
Dislocated OU's (Branches, Agencies)
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In the euro area, the slightly higher-than-expected 
economic growth continued in the last quarter of 2017; 
short-term growth prospects are improving further. 
Economic activity in the euro area rose in all sectors, with 
confidence indicators already exceeding those before the 
crisis. International institutions, most recently the IMF, have 
revised upwards their growth forecasts for both the global 
and EU economies. The IMF estimates risks to the growth 
forecasts for this year and next as balanced, but tilted to the 
downside over the medium term, particularly owing to the 
threat of accumulation of financial risks, protectionist policies 
and geopolitical tensions. 

In Slovenia economic activity also increased further 
towards the end of the year in most sectors; the value 
of the composite economic sentiment indicator is the 
highest in ten years. The high year-on-year growth in exports 
of goods and services continued, boosted by stronger foreign 
demand. Growth in manufacturing output intensified, driven 
not only by an increase in foreign, but also further growth in 
domestic demand. The increase in household consumption, 
supported by favourable labour market conditions, was highest 
in the segments of some durable and semi-durable goods 
and in leisure activities, which, together with higher exports of 
services, positively affected turnover in most service sectors. 
A further recovery in the property market, alongside higher 
investment expenditure by the government, contributed to an 
increase in construction activity. The high values of consumer 
and business confidence indicators are rising further. 

The increase in employment and the decline in 
unemployment continued; wage growth was also 
higher in the recent period, following several years of 
only modest improvement. Towards the end of last year, 
the number of employed persons rose further, most notably 
in manufacturing, trade, transportation, and employment 
activities. Meanwhile, more and more enterprises, particularly 
in manufacturing, are facing a shortage of workers with the 

appropriate skills, which, among other things, is contributing 
to increased recruitment of foreigners. With smaller inflows 
into unemployment and with hiring, the number of registered 
unemployed continued to fall. In December it was 14.6% 
lower than one year earlier. Average gross earnings in the first 
11 months of 2017 were up 2.7% year on year in both the 
public and the private sectors. Wage growth remains lower 
than in the pre-crisis period, however, and does not exceed 
productivity growth, meaning that it is not causing any visible 
imbalances as yet. 

Year-on-year growth in consumer prices rose somewhat 
at the end of the year. The main contributors to December’s 
growth (1.7% year on year) were higher prices of energy and 
food. The contribution of prices of clothing and footwear also 
increased relative to preceding months, while the contribution 
of service prices declined. The movement of core inflation 
does not indicate any major pressures on price growth. 

The volume of loans to domestic non-banking sectors 
rose last year for the first time since 2010. The growth 
in household loans, having started in 2015, continued. The 
volume of corporate and NFI loans has also been increasing 
modestly since the middle of last year. After seven years of 
deleveraging, enterprises were increasing particularly the 
demand for investment loans and working capital loans, while 
the demand for loans for refinancing slowed. 

Owing to the continuation of strong revenue growth, the 
deficit of consolidated general government budgetary 
accounts was substantially lower in the first 11 months 
of 2017 than in the same period of preceding years. 
Expenditure growth otherwise strengthened slightly in 
November owing to the payment of matured financial liabilities 
of hospitals. Amid favourable economic trends, the high 
growth of tax revenues and payments of social contributions 
continued, maintaining a relatively low general government 
deficit on a cash basis.

General business environment 
in 2017

20142013 2016 2017 2018 201920122011

0.2 -0.5

2010

Inflation in %

0.7
0.5

1.7 1.9 2.11.9 2.0

2.7

2015
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Despite the 5.1% and 3.8% economic growth expected in 
2018 and 2019 respectively, conditions in the banking sector 
will be extremely challenging. The period of low interest 
rates, negative euribor, excess liquidity and accelerated 
deleveraging will continue, which explains why the strategy 
of the Corporate Banking division will remain unchanged and 
will be subject to ongoing adaptation to market conditions. 
The main focus of this strategy is to be an active bank in the 
corporate segment, especially in the segment of small and 
medium-sized companies.

The bank is not planning to increase its market share in 
2018 as regards the corporate segment, but will focus on 
client partnerships, support to good investment projects and 
positive client experience.

Corporate segment
In 2017, the bank continued with its focus on small and 
medium-sized companies and, to a smaller extent, with large 
companies. A lot of attention and energy was also devoted 
to factoring and export financing, two services offered above 
all to Slovenian exporters to the Russian Federation. We 
also continued our excellent cooperation with the Slovene 
Enterprise Fund.

Strategy of corporate segment in 2018
We will focus on partnerships with the existing and target new 
customers, profitability improvement through cross-selling, 
and ongoing development of our services and products.

In 2018, Sberbank banka d.d. will actively pursue the 
following objectives:
•  financing of exports to and foreign trade mainly with CIS 

countries and in cooperation with the SID Bank, to insure 
risks;

•  financing in combination with the Slovene Enterprise 
Fund;

•  financing in combination with insurance companies which 
are offering insurance of claims;

•  increasing factoring activities;
•  increasing the share of syndicated loans in Slovenia and 

at the level of Sberbank Europe Group;
•  increasing documentary business, mainly warranties and 

letters of credit.

Retail segment
In 2018, the retail segment will continue implementing its 
strategy, which mainly focuses on further digitalisation, 
process optimisation, and development of new online sales 
channels and approaches.

To this end, the bank strategically decided to renew its IT 
infrastructure in order to facilitate and accelerate new product 
implementation and process optimisation.

The latter, together with remote banking services, will 
significantly improve customer experience. 

As regards growth, the Retail Banking division relies on key 
products that are both innovative and guarantee an excellent 
client experience. Focus remains on consumer lending and 
card business, which will be subject to further improvements 
in 2018.

Customer satisfaction will be achieved also by immediately 
measuring their reaction in contacts with the bank. The 
goal is to enhance customer experience and also increase 
customer loyalty.

To achieve said demanding objectives, the bank will also 
employ innovative and effective marketing actions and highly 
motivated and qualified employees.

In 2018, the retail segment will try to find new business 
opportunities within the implementation of the new European 
directives, PSD2 – the Payment Services Directive, and 
GDPR – the General Data Protection Regulation, as well as 
the new Slovenian ZVOP2 – Personal Data Protection Act.

Assets and liabilities management
In 2017, we continued with the policy of assets and liabilities 
optimisation, with a particular focus on the replacement of 
sources maturing in 2017. The volume of deposits increased 
despite the standstill in the loan portfolio, which resulted 
in a decrease in the loan-to-deposit ratio. The structure of 
deposits was adjusted by means of our pricing policy to 
ensure assets and liabilities matching (we increased retail 
deposits and reduced concentration).

Strategy in 2018
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Risk management
Given the economic situation, the bank plans to grow its loan 
volume moderately, based on the following: the risk must be 
acceptable, borrowers’ liquidity must be monitored closely, 
the bank’s collateral requirements must remain strict. The 
bank also plans to grow its deposit volume, as well as the 
volume of other financial and investment products sold.

In its business plan for 2018, the bank undertook to carefully 
monitor all cost items. In this way, the bank will improve the 
streamlining of operations.

Being aware that the financial crisis affected the real sector in 
the past years, the bank accordingly strengthened its credit 
and operational risk management. Above all, the bank must 
be able to identify clients in difficulty early in order to be able 
to assist them. The bank devotes considerable attention to 
a rapid identification of problems that have affected or may 
affect individual clients. This allows it to develop strategies 
for managing said problems.



15SBERBANK SI  |   ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Sberbank banka d.d. has an authorisation to perform 
banking services pursuant to Article 5 of the Banking Act 
(Official Gazette of the Republic of Slovenia, No. 25/15; 
hereinafter ZBan-2). Banking services are the acceptance 
of deposits and other repayable funds from the public, and 
the granting of credits for its own account.

The bank has an authorisation to perform mutually 
recognised and additional financial services.

The bank may perform the following mutually recognised 
financial services pursuant to Article 5 of ZBan-2:

1.  acceptance of deposits and other repayable funds;
2.  granting of credits, including:
  - consumer credits,
  - mortgage credits,
  - factoring (with or without recourse),
  - financing of commercial transactions, including 

forfeiting;
4.  payment services;
5.  issuance and management of other payment 

instruments (i.e. travellers' cheques and bankers' 
drafts) in the part in which this service is not included 
in the service of the previous point;

6.  issuance of guarantees and other commitments;
7.  trading for own account or for the account of customers 

in:
  - foreign exchange, including currency exchange 

transactions,
  - exchange and interest-rate instruments,
  trading for own account in:
  - money market instruments,
  - transferable securities;
8.  participation in securities issues and the provision of 

services related to such issues;
15.  investment services and operations and ancillary 

investment services in accordance with ZTFI.

The bank may perform the following additional financial 
services pursuant to Article 6 of ZBan-2:

1.  insurance brokerage in accordance with the law 
governing the insurance business;

6.  marketing of investment funds and sale of investment 
coupons or shares in investment funds,

  - brokerage of financial leasing.

Loans
 
Despite the good economic indicators, 2017 was extremely 
demanding in the corporate banking segment. All banks 
started pursuing an active financing policy, which resulted 
in a significant drop in interest rates. We can certainly 
confirm that the banking market is extremely competitive 
and that our business partners have all the choice.

The main focus in 2017 remained on the segment of 
small and medium-sized companies, the volume of which 
decreased only slightly, but we also continued supporting 
large companies and Slovenian exporters with various 
export financing products.

The bank also increased factoring activities.

The retail segment grew further in 2017, by 13% altogether. 
Focusing on the more profitable consumer loans, the bank 
succeeded in growing its retail loan portfolio by EUR 48 
million. This is also attributable to the relatively stable 
developments as regards housing loans, a segment 
where the bank is well known for its high-quality advisory 
services, individual treatment of clients, and competitive 
terms and conditions. The excellent result in the consumer 
loans segment is attributable to the upgrades made to the 
“Express” loan product, which was introduced on 2016 and 
where clients can be granted and paid out a consumer loan 
in only 3 hours. Micro loan portfolio grew by EUR 9 million 
or 10%. In the table below, micro loans are included in the 
“Companies” category.

Loans to banks decreased by EUR 70 million, as the bank 
had less short-term deposits placed with banks as at year-
end 2016.

Core Business
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Loans by client type 31 Dec 2016 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2017 Structure (%) Index

Banks 113,116 8 -69,816 43,300 3 38
Companies 842,123 63 41,387 883,510 65 105
Households 379,474 28 48,366 427,840 32 113
Total loans 1,334,713 100 19,937 1,354,650 100 101

Loans by maturity
Short-term 221,821 17 -64,486 157,335 12 71
Long-term 1,112,891 83 84,424 1,197,315 88 108

Loans by currency
EUR 1,282,422 96 34,422 1,316,844 97 103
Foreign currencies 52,291 4 -14,485 37,806 3 72

As regards loan maturity, long-term loans still prevailed, 
and increased by 8% to EUR 1,197 million. Short-term 
loans decreased by 30% to EUR 156 million. The share of 
short-term loans as proportion of total loans decreased by 
5%, while the share of long-term loans increased by 5%.

Euro-denominated loans increased by 3% to EUR 1,316 
million. Loans in foreign currencies decreased by 28%. 
Euro-denominated loans account for the largest portion 
(97%) of the bank’s loan portfolio, followed by foreign 
currency-denominated loans (3%). Ever since the onset of 
the financial crisis in September 2008, the bank has not 
offered loans in Swiss francs.

Loans (Structure in %)

Loans to banks

Loans to companies

Loans to households

thousand EUR

69 63 65

25 28 32

6 8 3

2015 2016 2017
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Deposits
Deposits from non-banks and banks represent the most 
important source of financing available to the bank. 
Deposits as at year-end 2017 amounted to EUR 1,485 
million, down 6% from a year ago. As regards deposit 
currency, 99% were euro-denominated, and the remaining 
1% were foreign currency-denominated. As regards deposit 

maturity, 34% were long-term (mainly placed by banks), and 
the remaining 66% were short-term. Deposits are shown 
in the balance sheet within financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost (excluding subordinated debt and other 
financial liabilities).

Deposits from banks decreased by 46% to represent 18% 
of the total deposits collected by the bank.

Deposits by client type 31 Dec 2016 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2017 Structure (%) Index
Banks 505,671 32 -232,800 272,871 18 54

Companies 775,871 49 95,596 871,467 59 112

Households 299,045 19 41,796 340,840 23 114

Total deposits 1,580,586 100 -95,408 1,485,178 100 94

Deposits by maturity
Short-term 795,012 50 182,411 977,423 66 123

Long-term 785,574 50 -277,819 507,755 34 65

Deposits by currency
EUR 1,452,078 92 20,316 1,472,394 99 101

Other 128,508 8 -115,724 12,784 1 10

thousand EUR

In the above table, the “Banks” category includes also long-
term loans obtained from banks, which at year-end 2017 
amounted to EUR 210,601 thousand (2016: EUR 344,850 
thousand).

In 2017, the bank pursued a clear objective regarding the 
structure of deposits and loans to banks. Actively attracting 
new deposits in the Slovenian market, we wanted to first 
reduce the portfolio risk concentration in the segment of 
large companies and, on the other hand, to reduce loans 
to banks. The bank was successful in both tasks. Also in 
2017, deposit interest rates were at very low levels, as 
a result of excess liquidity in the banking sector and a 
negative Euribor.

The bank also launched a new product, known as a ‘’roll-
over deposit’’, which the customers accepted and started 
using.

The retail segment grew by EUR 42 million in 2017, up 
14% from 2016. This result reflects the re-introduction of 
the three-month deposit with an automatic rollover. With 
this product, we managed to fulfil customers’ needs and 
expectations while pursuing our strategic goal of growth 
of term deposits. The overall growth of this segment that 
exceeded the market average proves that our customers 
still put trust in our financial stability and safety. In the sub-
segment of micro companies, deposits grew by EUR 18.5 
million in 2017, up 19% compared to 2016. The highest 



18 SBERBANK SI  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Available-for-sale debt 
securities
In 2017, the bank’s holdings of long-term securities 
decreased by 25% (2016: increased by 35%) to EUR 172.6 
million. The bank discontinued the investment policy of 
increasing its securities portfolio: it reduced its investments 

in short-term securities (treasury bills) because of their low 
yield, but decided not to invest in long-term securities to 
keep interest risk low. The liquidity surplus was partly used 
for repaying long term loans at maturity. 

In 2018, while maintaining its current structure, the bank will 
probably slightly reduce the portfolio volume.

31 Dec 2016 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2017 Structure (%) Index
Long-term securities 134,532 59 -11,916 122,616 71 91
- Government bonds, domestic and foreign 84,659 37 27,946 112,605 65 133

- Bonds issued by Slovenian banks 0 0 0 0 0 0

- Bonds issued by foreign banks 49,873 22 -39,862 10,011 6 20

- Other long-term securities 0 0 0 0 0

Short-term securities 95,035 41 -45,035 50,000 29 53

- Government bonds and treasury bills 95,035 41 -45,035 50,000 29 53

Total investments in securities 229,567 100 -56,950 172,616 100 75

Investments in securities by currency

EUR 229,567 100 -56,950 172,616 100 75

Foreign currencies 0 0 0 0 0 0

thousand EUR

growth was observed in term deposits. In the chart below, 
micro deposits are included in the “Companies” category. 

The bank had EUR 340 million of household deposits at the 
end of 2017.

Deposits (structure in %)

Deposits from banks

Deposits from  
companies

Deposits from 
households49

3219

2016

18

59

2017

23

49

3318

2015



19SBERBANK SI  |   ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Payment transactions
Sberbank banka d.d. processes domestic, cross-border 
and international payments mainly by using trans-European 
payment systems such as SEPA (IKP, IDD, CORE, B2B, 
EDD CORE) and TARGET2. It also relies on its own 
correspondent network consisting of 13 nostro accounts 
abroad (4 multi-currency accounts) and 10 loro accounts 
with the bank.

In 2017, Sberbank banka d.d. processed 5.2 million domestic 

payment transactions in the total volume of EUR 15,471 
million, and 586,646 international payment transactions in 
total volume of EUR 6.3 million.
 
The number of domestic payment transactions increased 
by 19%. The number of foreign payment transactions also 
increased, by 25%, but their amount fell by EUR 2,096 
million, which is mainly related to certain major customers.
 
As much as 98.98% of all domestic payment transactions 
and 95.8% of all international payment transactions were 
processed through the internet banking channel.

DPT 2016 structure (%) change 2017 structure (%)
incoming 9,071 63,26 -1,356 7,715 49.87

outgoing 5,269 36,74 +2,487 7,756 50.13

total 14,340 100 +1,131 15,471 100

IPT 2016 structure (%) change 2017 structure (%)
incoming 6,279 74,70 -2,288 3,991 63.25

outgoing 2,127 25,30 -192 2,319 36.75

total 8,406 100 -2,096 6,310 100

million EUR

million EUR

Structure of domestic payment transactions:

Structure of international payment transactions:
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Bancassurance and investment  
products
The bank was again successful in the area of bancassurance 
and investment products, as we managed to achieve and 
even exceed target numbers. The product of collective life 
insurance for individuals who take our loans, developed 
in 2014 together with the insurance company Generali, 
represents a stable source of fee income and already more 
than half of total fee income from this area. 

Somewhat less successful than expected was the sale of 
investment funds, as financial markets were quite volatile, 
which in turn affected investor confidence and willingness 
to invest.

In 2018, we plan to introduce some new insurance products 
and pay more attention to advisor training in the area of 
investment advice and fund sales.

Derivative financial instruments

In 2017, the bank provided services related to currency, 
interest rate and commodity derivatives to banks and 
companies. The latter are aware of the roles that derivatives 
play in reducing risk. As a rule, the bank provides services 
related to derivatives only to first-class clients, and only 
within pre-approved limits. 

The majority of derivative transactions are back-to-back 
hedged, both in the domestic and international inter-bank 
markets. The remaining ones expose the bank to market 
risk, which is imonitored on a daily basis against the 
approved limits.

In 2017, the volume of transactions with currency, interest 
rate and commodity derivatives decreased mainly due to 
lower market volatility. 
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At year-end 2017, the bank’s balance sheet total amounted to 
EUR 1,741 million, down EUR 105 million or 6% from 2016.

Statement of financial position

20172016

1,901,650
1,950,000

1,850,000

1,750,000

1,900,000

1,800,000

1,700,000

1,650,000

Total assets as at 31 December
thousand EUR

Structure of assets
The table below shows bank assets as at 31 December:

thousand EUR

Assets 31 Dec 2016 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2017 Structure (%) Index

Cash, cash balances at central banks and 
other demand deposits at banks 231,421 13 -60,766 170,655 10 74

Financial assets held for trading 6,984 0 -4,773 2,211 0 32

Available-for-sale financial assets 245,952 13 -56,751 189,201 11 77

Loans and receivables 1,336,771 72 20,327 1,357,098 78 102

Held-to-maturity financial assets 3,018 0 -3,018 0 0 0

Property, plant and equipment 8,332 0 -702 7,630 0 92

Investment property 8,608 0 809 9,417 1 0

Intangible assets 1,211 0 444 1,655 0 137

Equity investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and joint ventures 1,015 0 -52 963 0 95

Tax assets 877 0 -61 816 0 93

Other assets 1,930 0 -716 1,214 0 63

TOTAL ASSETS 1,846,119 100 -105,259 1,740,860 100 94

2015

1,846,119

1,740,860
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Loans (to banks and non-banks) accounted for 78% of total 
assets, up EUR 20 million or 2% compared to year-end 
2016.

Available-for-sale financial assets decreased by EUR 57 
million or 33% and accounted for 11% of total assets. The 
bank mainly invested in short-term government securities 
to reduce interest rate risk and portfolio maturity.

Cash and and cash balances at central banks decreased 

by EUR 60 million to EUR 171 million at year-end 2017 and 
represented 10% of total assets.

Structure of liabilities  
and equity
The table below shows bank liabilities as at 31 December:

thousand EUR

Liabilities and equity 31 Dec 2016 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2017 Structure (%) Index
Financial liabilities held for trading 6,579 0 -4,825 1,754 0 27

   Derivatives (hedge accounting) 0 0 0 0 0 0

   Financial liabilities at amortised cost 1,667,950 90 -104,484 1,563,466 90 94

Provisions 2,130 0 420 2,550 0 120

Tax liabilities 85 0 63 148 0 0

Other liabilities 278 0 544 822 0 296

Subscribed capital 133,140 7 0 133,140 8 100

Capital reserves 27,248 1 0 27,248 2 100

Accumulated other comprehensive income -16 0 28 12 0 -72
Reserves from profit 6 0 0 6 0 100

Retained earnings (including income from 
the current year) 8,719 0 2,996 11,715 1 134

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,846,119 100 -105,259 1,740,860 100 94

Financial liabilities at amortised cost, which represent the 
largest portion of liabilities, decreased by EUR 104.5 million 
compared to year-end 2016. This is mainly explained by the 
decrease in deposits placed by banks.

Financial liabilities held for trading decreased by 73% or 
EUR 4.8 million.

Provisions increased by 20% or EUR 420 thousand, which is 
explained mostly with the EUR 346 thousand increase in the 
provisions for off-balance sheet liabilities.
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Off-balance sheet items
The amount of off-balance sheet items involving the bank's 
contingent and assumed liabilities decreased by EUR 154 
million to EUR 1,029 million in 2017.

thousand EUR

Off-balance-sheet risky assets 31 Dec 2016 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2017 Structure (%) Index

Contigencies arising from pledged 
collateral, acceptance and other 
contigencies and commitments (including 
pledged assets for client's liabilities

137,140 12 -29,983 107,157 10 78

Extended loans and advances, overdrafts, 
credit lines carried on assets side and 
other off-balance sheet commitments

281,050 24 -11,800 269,250 26 96

Notional amounts of spot transactions 5,680 0 36,172 41,852 4 737

Notional amounts of derivatives 758,662 64 -148,128 610,534 59 80

Total 1,182,532 100 -153,738 1,028,794 100 87

Of all off-balance sheet items, notional amounts of derivatives 
decreased the most, by EUR 148 million to stand at EUR 611 
million at year-end 2017. Liabilities from guarantees, letters of 
credit and other transactions decreased by 22% to stand at 
EUR 107 million. Loans, overdrafts and credit lines granted 

decreased by EUR 12 million to stand at EUR 269 million. 
Notional amounts of spot transactions increased by EUR 36 
million to stand at EUR 42 million.

Extended loans and advances, overdrafts, credit lines carried on assets 
side and other off-balance



24 SBERBANK SI  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2017

The bank closed the 2017 business year with a net profit 
of EUR 3,006 thousand, obtained in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards. The structure of 
net income and expenses in 2017 is shown in the table below:

Results from operations

 2016 Change 2017     Index
Net interest and similar income 33,572 -206 33,366 99

Net fee and commission oncome 7,900 317 8,217 104

Dividend income 0 35 35 -

Net gains/losses from financial assets not at fair value -1,892 2,104 212 -

Net gains/losses from financial assets held for trading 2,363 -747 1,616 68

Net foreign exchange gains/losses -578 -183 -761 132

Net gains/losses on derecognition of assets -282 159 -123 44

Other net operating icome/expenses -1,189 -43 -1,232 104

General administrative expenses 
(incl, amortization/depreciation) -24,684 -1,600 -26,284 106

Provisions -229 -124 -353 154

Impairment -13,763 2,668 -11,095 81

Total profit or loss before tax 1,218 2,379 3,597 295
Income tax and deferred tax -102 -490 -592 580

Net profit or loss for the current year 1,116 1,890 3,006 269

thousand EUR

Net interest in 2017 was approximately at the same level as 
in 2016 due to a further reduction in market reference rates 
(EURIBOR) and strong market competition.

Net fees and commissions for banking services increased by 
317 thousand EUR or 4%, mainly due to the higher volume 
of international transactions carried out by clients, and less 
fee expenses within Sberbank Group.

Net gains/losses from financial assets not at fair value 
increased by EUR 2.1 million compared to 2016. Net losses 
realised in 2016 are mainly attributable to an agreement with 
a client in default regarding the payment of EUR 2 million. 
In accordance with said agreement, the same amount was 
written off against impairment provisions.

Net gains/losses from financial assets held for trading 
decreased by EUR 747 thousand, mostly due to unfavourable 
market conditions and EUR/RUB exchange rate.

Administrative expenses including amortisation/depreciation 
were 6% higher than in 2016. The main drivers of the 
increase were information technology expenses (related to 
the development of the core banking system), labour costs 
(related to the additional employments) and consulting costs 
(mostly related to the Agrokor case).

The bank set aside EUR 11,095 thousand of impairment 
provisions (down 19% from 2016), in accordance with its 
internal policy for the assessment of losses arising from 
credit risk. The main reason for the decrease is the smaller 
number of new non-performing loans.
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The provision of financial services is inevitably linked with 
risks. These represent the probability of future events 
affecting the bank’s stability or its income and capital. 
Due to their important role in national economies and to 
preserve client trust, banks must conduct their operations 
with due care and prudence, and maintain an adequate 
level of capital for potential risk losses coverage.

There are several risks inherent in banking operations 
that differ in terms of their nature and level. Banks also 
differ in their scope of risk appetite, which depends on 
their size, organisation and culture. Let us illustrate this 
with an example of two banks: one that considers credit 
risk as high and the other that considers it as low. This 
affects their market activities (their aggressiveness and 
innovativeness), their loan portfolio concentration, their 
product diversification, their accepted collateral types, etc. 
Both approaches are perfectly legitimate and each could be 
the right one given the business environment in which the 
banks operate.

The central bank of Slovenia issued a “Regulation on 
internal governance arrangements, the management body 
and the internal capital adequacy assessment process for 
banks and savings banks” (Official Gazette of the RS, nos. 
73/15), laying down the rules on risk management in banks. 
Pursuant to said Regulation, the banks must prepare 
strategies for assuming and managing risks, thus revealing 
their approach to the risks assumed within the scope of 
their activities.

Strategies for assuming and managing risks must comprise:

• the objectives of and general principles for assuming and 
managing risk,

• an approach to managing individual risks,

• an approach to implementing the internal capital 
adequacy assessment process, and

• an outline of plans with regard to significant business 
activities, and a description of planned changes, if any, in 
the bank's business strategy.

Risks shall include credit risk, market risks, interest rate 
risk, liquidity risk, operational risk, strategic risk, reputation 
risk, outsourcing risk and risk of new products.

A more detailed description of credit risk, liquidity risk, 
market risks (including currency risk), interest rate risk and 
operational risk that the bank is exposed to can be found in 
the notes to the financial statements under section 3. That 
section also includes the bank’s strategies for assuming 
and managing risks, and other information required under 
the “Regulation on the books of account and annual reports 
of banks and savings banks”, and under IFRS 7.

Risk exposure
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The bank's equity comprises subscribed capital, capital 
reserves, reserves from profit, accumulated other 
comprehensive income and retained earnings including net 
profit/loss for the current year.

Subscribed capital remained the same in 2017 as at year-end 
2016. It comprises 31,928,152 ordinary shares with a nominal 

value of EUR 4.17 each. Capital reserves were not changed 
by receiving additional capital and comprised mainly share 
premium.

At year-end 2017, the book value of a share calculated based 
on the bank’s total equity was EUR 5.39, which is EUR 0.09 
more than at year-end 2016.

Equity and shareholders

thousand EUR

Equity 31 Dec 2016 Structure (%) Change 31 Dec 2017 Structure (%) Index
Subscribed capital 133,140 79 0 133,140 77 100

Capital reserves 27,248 16 0 27,248 16 100

Accumulated other comprehensive 
income -16 0 28 12 0 -72

Reserves from profit 6 0 0 6 0 100

Retained earnings (including income from 
the current year) 8,719 5 2,996 11,715 7 134

Total equity 169,097 100 3,023 172,120 100 102

At year-end 2017, the bank’s share register showed 20 
owners, of which 1 was foreign and 19 domestic. Of all 
shares, as much as 99.99% were held by Sberbank Europe 
AG. In addition to the Slovenian Sberbank banka, Sberbank 
Europe AG owns banks also in Czech Republic, Hungary, 
Croatia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Serbia and Germany, 

which have 190 sales outlets and about 4,050 employees 
altogether.

Sberbank Europe AG was, as at 31 December 2017, 100% 
owned by Sberbank Russia.

Shareholders as at 31 December 2017
Share of the bank’s subscribed capital

SBERBANK EUROPE AG 99.99 %

Domestic shareholders 0.01 %

Total 100.0 %

The bank’s financial statements are included in the consolidated 
financial statements prepared by Sberbank Europe AG, which 
are available for viewing at Schwarzenbergplatz 3, Vienna, 

and at the bank’s head office in Ljubljana. The bank does 
not have treasury shares in its portfolio, and did not form 
reserves to buy back treasury shares.

Movements in equity items in 2017:
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Branch network
In 2017, the bank had the same number of business units 
as a year ago. In addition to the branch at the bank’s head 
office (at Dunajska cesta 128a in Ljubljana, where the bank 
moved in the second half of 2001), this network comprises 
also the following branches: Gosposka, Miklošičeva, Vič 
and Pavšičeva. The bank’s branches outside the capital 
comprise branches in:
•  Koper,
•  Kranj,
•  Celje, 
•  Šentjur pri Celju,
•  Maribor,
•  Tepanje and
•  Šentjernej.

The bank has also a centre providing micro financing at its 
head office at Dunajska cesta.  

Capital investments
Maintenance and renovation of offices owned by the bank 
continued also in 2017. The bank renovated the central 
archive, complete with modern technical equipment. 

The bank also continued replacing the existing office lighting 
with newer LED lighting.

In all business premises, the bank conducted energy audits, 
which included an in-depth analysis of the selected cooling 
and heating systems.

As planned, the bank continued with investing in security 
system maintenance and modernisation in all branches.

Information technology
support
In 2017, the Information Technology division was mainly 
focused on optimisation, automation and digitalisation of the 

existing banking processes, as well as on the development 
of the IT support in view of the nw regulatory requirements.

The main focus was on the implementation of a new, 
service-oriented IT architecture (SOA), which the bank 
started already at the end of 2016 and which will enable a 
significantly faster development of new products or changes 
of/upgrades to the existing processes. The bank accordingly 
began with the development that will enable optimal 
automation of all key business processes (integration with 
all internal and external systems involved in the process 
using APIs (automatic programming interfaces)), as well 
as their digitalisation (introduction of electronic signature, 
electronic archiving, etc.).

Related to regulatory requirements, the bank finished the 
IFRS 9-related development, as well as designed and almost 
finished the PSD2- and GDPR-related development (which 
will be completely finished in 2018, within the prescribed 
deadlines).

In addition, the following important projects/tasks were also 
completed in 2017: 
•  complete renewal of e-banking for private individuals,
•  introduction of mobile banking for private individuals,
•  introduction of modern (internally used) communication 

solutions, like MS Exchange and Skype for Business,
•  introduction of robotic process automation (RPA),
•  various upgrades to the core banking system (Hibis), 

CRM and DMS.

To increase security, the bank again upgraded the IDS/IPS 
system, which detects and blocks unauthorised access 
to and manipulation of the bank’s information system. In 
order to ensure continuity of all critical banking processes, 
the bank regularly updates its business continuity plan and 
organises crisis training for its employees. 

All the above mentioned activities, as well as others pursued 
by the IT division, were designed and performed with the 
objective to enhance the IT support to the bank’s new 
products and to improve the bank’s internal processes. 
In accordance with the principle of continuous knowledge 
expansion and transfer, the bank organised additional 
trainings for its employees in the field of information security 
policy and protection, and thus raised awareness and 
improved management of relevant risks.

Development milestones
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Employees
After significantly increasing the number of employees in 
2014, the bank kept it more or less the same in 2015 and 
2016, to again increase it by 4.5% in 2017 when, at year-
end, it had 15 employees more than a year ago, or a total of 
354 employees (2016: 339).

In view of its objectives as regards technological development 
and digital banking, the bank strengthened the teams of IT 
business solutions, IT operations and infrastructure, and 
digital banking. In view of the activities in the field, the 
bank also strengthened the loan work-out and collection 
teams. In view of its business plans, the bank also carefully 
monitors the number of employees in sales and marketing, 
strengthening these teams to provide quick and high-quality 
services to its customers.

The average number of employees in 2017 was 348. 
Their educational structure improved, as the percentage 
of employees holding a degree higher than secondary 
education grew further from 64% to 67%. 
Given the ongoing introduction of various changes at the 
bank, Human Resources manly focused on the following in 
2017:
• In order to further improve employee performance 

management and strengthen target management, 
the process of selection of a new provider of a digital 
performance management system started in the fourth 
quarter at Group level, and was completed by year-end.

• Digitalisation of other HR processes was also launcdhed 
(e.g. the employee's personal portal within the eHRM 
system, which enables employees  to monitor their data 
kept by the bank, including the e-salary slip), in line with 
bank’s objective to gradually digitalise its processes.

• Trainings were organised to enhance strategic and 
management skills of senior managers, as well as to 
upgrade leadership  well as career development skills 
of sales team leaders.

• Care was taken to ensure that the employees 
responsible for digital development obtain additional 
knowledge, including through participation at international 
confrerences.

• Internal trainings led by internal trainers continued, 
Including with new content according to the identified 
needs.

• Procedures were carried out to determine the suitability 
of management board members and key function 
holders, and Human Resources also got involved in 
other procesess within the framework of corporate 
governance arrangements.

All these activities were aimed at improving effectiveness 
and change management, and consequently ensuring 
employees’ personal and professional development as the 
key factor of the bank’s success. 

Employee training remained focused mainly on on those 
areas that are work processes-related and deemed 
necessary to build employees’ expertise and ensure service 
and product quality. One of priority areas in 2017 was the 
continuation and expansion of the internal training with 
internal trainers (managers and other experts). Such a 
systematic internal transfer of knowledge proved as very 
efficient, as it allows us to offer broader training possibilities 
with a minimum input cost. The purpose of said training is to 
upgrade the existing and obtain new knowledge required for 
high-quality work processes resulting in high-quality service. 

In terms of the number of training days, compulsory periodic 
training stands out in 2017:
•  more than 20% of employees were involved in training 

required under the Consumer Credit Act (ZPotk-2),
•  e-learning was organised for the needs of periodic 

training on the prevention of money laundering and 
terrorist financing,

•  in-house training was organised in the field of compliance,
•  periodic training was organised in the field of safety and 

health at work.
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Training activities in 2017 by type of training were the following: 

Training number of training 
days

Leadership training 42

Team building activities 57

Sales training 106

Compulsory training 264
Professional seminars and 
conferences 411

Internal training 66

Total number of training days 946

Remuneration policy
On 18 July 2017, the bank’s Supervisory Board approved 
a new remuneration policy which is based on the bank’s 
business strategy and objectives, organisational structure 
and long-term interests, and which also includes measures 
aimed at preventing conflicts of interest. As provided for 
by the new local remuneration policy, in order to provide 
a platform for cooperation of all functions involved in the 
monitoring and performance of the remuneration policy-
related activities, the bank appointed a working group 
managed by the head of Human Resources and composed 
also of the heads of Risk Controlling, Legal Office and 
Controlling. 

The bank, as part of the Sberbank Europe AG Group, must 
adjust its remuneration policy to reflect that of the parent 
Sberbank Europe AG (remuneration policy of Sberbank 
Europe AG), observing, however, the following two rules:

a) If the remuneration policy of Sberbank Europe AG is 
in conflict with the local laws and regulations, the latter 
shall prevail.

b) If the remuneration policy of Sberbank Europe AG 
is different from the prevailing practices in the local 
market, the Supervisory Board of Sberbank Europe 
AG may approve the local bank to deviate from the 
remuneration policy of Sberbank Europe AG.

The bank’s remuneration policy was therefore designed on 
the basis of the parent’s remuneration policy, observing also 
the CEBS Guidelines, the Banking Act, the “Regulation on 
internal governance arrangements, the management body 
and the internal capital adequacy assessment process 
for banks and savings banks”, and the Directive (EU) no. 
2013/36.

In accordance with Article 88 of the Banking Act, the 
bank meets all additional disclosure requirements as it 
makes available all relevant information on its website, in 
a document entitled disclosures regarding governance 
arrangements in Sberbank banka d.d..

 

Social responsibility
Being a socially-responsible institution, we at Sberbank 
banka are aware of the importance of our ties with the local 
and also broader environment, which we maintain through 
many sponsorships and donations. Over the last years, 
we have allocated a portion of our income to support sport 
activities, as well as to various projects that are undertaken 
either by us alone or together with charities. The primary 
objective of our social responsibility is contributing towards 
the banking system stability and being accountable to the 
stakeholders, as well as continuous development and 
improvement of our increasingly client-friendly services. A 
healthy environment and professional development for our 
employees are the pillars of our operations.

Seven years ago, we joined the »family-friendly company“ 
project, and two years ago, we obtained the full certificate. 
In 2017, we continued implementing the 16 measures 
developed within this project to help our employees reach 
the work-life balance. Among said measures, the most 
frequently used are those aimed at female employees after 
maternal and paternal leave (e.g. child time bonus, work re-
integration). In 2017, a frequently used measure was also 
flexibility regarding working hours.

More than half of the employees are members of the bank’s 
sports club, which allows them to participate in various 
banking sports games and weekly sports activities. Our 
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sports club also organises the traditional winter sports 
games for all employees of the Sberbank Europe Group. 
In 2017, they were held in Kranjska Gora for the fifth time 
in a row. This is our contribution to the formation and 
maintenance of relationships among employees from eight 
European countries. Last but not least, with the many sports 
games and weekly sports activities, we also contribute to the 
general well-being and physical fitness of our employees.

We continued cooperating with the Ski Association of Slovenia, 
which is among the most recognisable associations in the 
country. Our cooperation involves, among other things, our 
sponsorship of the ladies' ski jumping world cup competition 
in Ljubno ob Savinji, and a couple of other smaller ski jumping 
events. It was the ski jumpers, both female and male, and 
cross-country skiers that were the main protagonists in 
our advertisements, thus enhancing, in their own way, the 
recognisability of our products and services in Slovenia.

Together with the Ski Association of Slovenia and the 
Slovenian Association of Friends of Youth, we also made it 
possible for 100 children from socially-deprived families to 
visit the ski jumping world cup finals in Planica early in 2017. 
To these children, i.e. from socially-deprived families, we 
also allowed free-of charge participation in our sponsorship 
projects aimed at the young and their sport education.

Among the sports clubs and associations supported by us, 
we must also mention the Canoe Federation of Slovenia and 
the Volleyball Federation of Slovenia, and among individual 
athletes Maja Vtič, a Slovenian ski jumper. We took under 
our wings also the best Slovenian beach volleyball players, 
Nejc Zemljak and Jan Pokeršnik. In the second half of the 

year, we started cooperating with the Slovenian national 
team in seating volleyball. Among their most significant 
events was the European championship in Poreč, Croatia.

Traditionally, we sponsored the largest sports event in 
Ljubljana in summer months, i.e. the 2017 CEV Beach 
Volleyball ECH Ljubljana Masters & Satellite, and we also 
supported the national championship in beach volleyball in 
Kranj and a beach volleyball tournament in Portorož.

In the past years, we used to both organise and sponsor the 
snow volleyball tournament in Kranjska Gora. In 2017, this 
was taken under the patronage of the European Volleyball 
Confederation (CEV), so the 2017 CEV Snow Volleyball 
European Tour in Kranjska Gora was organised by CEV but 
still sponsored by us.

We also supported those sports projects in Slovenia that 
involve the young and organise summer schools and 
camps for them (Slovenian BeachCamp Ankaran, Tine 
Urnaut volleyball camp, beach volleyball school of the 
Fabjan sisters).

After a two-year pause, we again organised a collection of 
toys that children of our employees have grown out of. The 
response was excellent. We cleaned and sorted the toys so 
collected and delivered them to various towns in Slovenia 
(Maribor, Celje, Šentjur, Metlika) and to the Koroška 
region in cooperation with the local units of the Slovenian 
Association of Friends of Youth.

In accordance with our tradition, we continued our cooperation 
with various Russian societies and associations.
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Key facts

 2015 2016 2017
1. Balance sheet items (as at 31 December)
Balance sheet total 1,901,650 1,846,119 1,740,860

Total deposits from non-banks 1,098,829 1,074,915 1,212,307

a) corporate deposits 806,390 775,871 871,467

b) household deposits 292,439 299,045 340,840

Total loans to non-banks 1,277,115 1,221,597 1,311,350

a) corporate loans 937,609 842,123 883,510

b) household loans 339,506 379,474 427,840

Total equity 167,501 169,097 172,120

Impairment and provisions 74,088 81,311 79,489

Off-balance sheet items 1,356,038 1,182,532 1,028,794

2. Income statement items (for the year ended 31 December)
Net interest income 35,352 33,572 33,366

Net non-interest income 10,167 6,322 7,964

Labour costs, general and administrative expenses -22,278 -23,400 -24,823

Amortisation/depreciation -1,270 -1,284 -1,461

Impairment and provisions -26,085 -13,992 -11,448

Profit before tax -4,113 1,218 3,597

Income tax 651 -102 -592

3. Statement of comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income before tax -1,087 591 23

Income tax on other comprehensive income 184 -111 5

4. Number of employees (as at 31 December) 333 339 354

5. Shares (as at 31 December)
Number of shareholders 27 26 20

Shares outstanding 31,928,152 31,928,152 31,928,152

Nominal value per share (EUR) 4.17 4.17 4.17

Book value per share (EUR) 5.25 5.30 5.39

thousand EUR
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 2015 2016 2017
6. Indicators (%, unless otherwise indicated)

a) Equity
Equity for capital adequacy purposes (thousand EUR) 225,978 221,502 210,289

CET1 capital ratio 13.48 13.58 14.92

T1 capital ratio 13.48 13.58 14.92

Total capital ratio 18.24 18.30 18.98

b) Asset quality

Impairments as% of total credit risk exposure 3.38 3.89 3.74

c) Profitability    

Interest margin 1.89 1.82 1.84

Interest + non-interest margin 2.43 2.16 2.27

Return on assets -0.22 0.07 0.20

Return on equity before tax -2.53 0.72 2.12

Return on equity after tax -2.13 0.66 1.77

d) Operating costs    

Operating expenses/average assets 1.26 1.34 1.45

e) Liquidity    

Average liquid assets/average short-term deposits from non-banks 46.89 54.68 50.04

Average liquid assets/average assets 17.36 20.75 22.79

thousand EUR
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1. Composition and functioning of the Supervisory 
Board
In 2017, the Supervisory Board monitored and supervised the 
bank’s current operations, financial results and performance 
of the Management Board in accordance with its powers, 
competences and duties as defined in the bank’s Articles 
of Association and Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory 
Board, as well as the applicable Companies Act, Banking Act 
and related implementing regulations (inter alia Regulation 
on internal governance arrangements, the management 
body and the internal capital adequacy assessment process 
for banks and savings banks).

The composition of the Supervisory Board of Sberbank banka 
d.d. changed significantly in 2017. A new member of the 
Supervisory Board, Stefan Karl Zapotocky, was appointed 
on 21 March 2017. He replaced Valentin Lubomirov Mihov 
he as chairman of the Supervisory Board. On 13 November 
2017, four new members joined the Supervisory Board: 
Sonja Sarközi (deputy chair), Kornel Halmos (member), 
Sanjin Bogdan (member) and Anton Burghardt (independent 
member). 

Three members of the Supervisory Board resigned in the 
last quarter of the year: Leila Nurmanbetova (on 30 October 
2017), Alexey Bogatov (on 14 November 2017) and Radu 
Octavian Topliceanu (on 1 December 2017).

Since December 2017, the Supervisory Board has been 
functioning as a six-member body: Stefan Karl Zapotocky 
(chairman), Sonja Sarközi (deputy chair), Elena Viklova 
(member), Sanjin Bogdan (member), Kornel Halmos 
(member) and Anton Burghardt (member). 

The newly-appointed members were assessed in accordance 
with the bank’s Fit & Proper Policy applying to the members 
of the bank’s governance bodies and key function holders, 
and the results were submitted to the Bank of Slovenia and 
ECB.

At year-end 2017, the Supervisory Board consisted of five 
members who are representatives of the bank's majority 
shareholder (Sberbank Europe AG, which holds a 99.99% 
stake of the bank), and one independent member. All 
members have the required knowledge and experience for 
adopting decisions in the best interest of the bank, and assure 
independent, unbiased, professional, objective, fair and 

comprehensive performance of their function as Supervisory 
Board members. The Supervisory Board members elected 
from amongst themselves a chairperson and a deputy chair.

The Supervisory Board supervised the legitimacy, expediency 
and economy of the bank's management by means of 
four regular sessions and written reports submitted by the 
Management Board. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board 
was regularly acquainted with the reports prepared by the 
Management Board, and adopted the required resolutions 
also at correspondence sessions. Such resolutions were 
then presented at the next regular session. Attendance at the 
sessions was very good, as the first and fourth session were 
attended by all members, while one member was absent 
(excused) at the second and third sessions. The second and 
third sessions were attended also by representatives of the 
Bank of Slovenia, who participated as guests.

2. Supervisory Board committees
In accordance with the Banking Act (Sberbank banka d.d. is 
not considered a significant bank by the Bank of Slovenia), 
the Supervisory Board established the Audit Committee in 
June 2009 and the Risk Committee in July 2015.

Given the changed composition of the Supervisory 
Board, new members of both committees were elected in 
November 2017, observing the restriction that the chairman 
of the Supervisory Board cannot be appointed chairman 
of a committee. The Audit and the Risk Committees, each 
consisting of four members of the Supervisory Board, met 
at four regular sessions in 2017. In accordance with the law, 
those sessions were regularly attended also by Management 
Board members and key function holders (Internal Audit, 
Compliance and Risk Management). Key function holders 
are granted direct access to the Supervisory Board members 
if they want to present an unbiased analysis of their work 
areas and brief the Supervisory Board or its committees in 
an independent manner.

The two committees of the Supervisory Board worked in 
accordance with their respective work programmes and 
tasks as determined in their respective rules of procedure, 
Articles of Association of the bank and legislative provisions. 
In accordance with the Banking Act (ZBan-2) the two 
committees consist of Supervisory Board members only. 
These have adequate expertise and experience, and are 
mutually complementary so that they assure relevant 

Report of the Supervisory Board
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Ljubljana, 25 April 2018

Stefan Karl Zapotocky
  Chairman of the Supervisory Board

knowledge and skills to perform the full scope of tasks of the 
Audit and Risk Committees.

3. Key decisions of the Supervisory Board
In the first half of 2017, the Supervisory Board confirmed the 
2016 Annual Report, acknowledged the related Independent 
Auditor’s Report, and provided its opinion to the Internal 
Audit’s 2016 Annual Report.

In 2017, the Supervisory Board supervised the implementation 
of the resolutions adopted by the Supervisory Board itself 
and by the General Meeting, considered the quarterly 
reports prepared by the Internal Audit, Compliance and 
Risk Management functions, and other control functions, 
as well as the reports on bank’s operations prepared by 
the Management Board. Additionally, it gave consent to the 
bank’s 2017 financial plan and to the Internal Audit’s 2017 
Annual Plan. It supervised the adequacy of the internal 
controls system, and confirmed the updated Remuneration 
Policy and Fit & Proper Policy. The Supervisory Board also 
supervised the areas of risk management and restructuring. 
In the area of risk management, it approved the Risk Appetite 
Statement, the Recovery plan and the NPL reduction 
strategy. Furthermore, it acknowledged the results of stress 
testing and the ICAAP report to the Bank of Slovenia. 
Moreover, it confirmed the updated Rules of Procedure of the 
Management Board, Supervisory Board, Audit Committee 
and Risk Committee. The Supervisory Board was promptly 
and thoroughly informed of all important matters concerning 

the bank's operations, strategy and policies. Additionally, 
it took note of relevant letters, decisions, resolutions and 
recommendations issued by the Bank of Slovenia or the 
European Central Bank.

4. 2017 Annual Report
The bank’s Management Board prepared the 2017 Annual 
Report of Sberbank banka d.d., and submitted it to the 
Supervisory Board for verification within the statutory term. 
Along with the Annual Report, the Supervisory Board was 
submitted also the Independent Auditor’s Report prepared 
by Ernst & Young d.o.o. on the audit of the 2017 financial 
statements, and on the review of the 2017 business report 
and disclosures in accordance with the third pillar of 
Basel requirements (risk and capital management). The 
Supervisory Board also reviewed the Report on Related Party 
Transactions, prepared in accordance with Article 545 of the 
Companies Act, and the respective Independent Auditor’s 
Report. According to this, the financial statements present 
fairly, in all material aspects, the bank's financial position as 
at 31 December 2017, as well as its income statement and 
cash-flows for the year then ended, and are in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by EU. The business report was considered consistent with 
the audited financial statements.

Based on this opinion, as well as on the report prepared by 
the Management Board on the 2017 annual accounts, the 
Supervisory Board confirmed the 2017 Annual Report.
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Sberbank banka d.d. has an internal governance system 
in place, including corporate governance, which is in 
accordance with the legislation applicable in the Republic 
of Slovenia, as well as in accordance with the internal acts 
of the bank.

Within this system, Sberbank banka d.d. fully observes the 
acts set out in Article 9(2) of the Banking Act1.

To enhance our internal governance system, we observe 
in particular:

1) the provisions of the applicable Banking Act defining the 
internal governance system, in particular the provisions of 
Section 3.4 (Governance system of a bank) and Chapter 
6 (Internal governance arrangements and internal capital 
adequacy) in the part applying to a bank/savings bank or 
to the members of the management body;

2) the Regulation on internal governance arrangements, 
the management body and the internal capital adequacy 
assessment process for banks and savings banks2; and

3) EBA guidelines on internal governance, on the assessment 
of the suitability of members of the management body and 
key function holders, and on sound remuneration policies, 
based on the relevant Bank of Slovenia's regulations on 
the application of said guidelines3.

As far as possible, we also observe the Bank of Slovenia's 
non-binding recommendations set out in their letter no. 
38.20-0288/15-TR of 23 October 2015.

By signing this statement, we also undertake to continue 
enhancing and promoting an appropriate internal governance 
system and corporate integrity within the broader professional, 
financial, business and other public.

To ensure a high level of governance transparency, Sber-
bank banka d.d. is hereby making the following statement 
relating to the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 
2017, which forms an integral part of the business report of 

the 2017 Annual Report and was prepared in accordance 
with Article 70(5) of the Companies Act (ZGD-1) and the 
exception set out in its point 2:

Stefan Karl Zapotocky
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

1   Banking Act (ZBan-2), Official Gazette of the RS, nos. 25/15 , 44/16 and 41/17.
2 Bank of Slovenia's Regulation on internal governance arrangements, the management body and the internal capital adequacy 

assessment process for banks and savings banks, Official Gazette of the RS, nos. 73/15, 49/16 and 68/17.
3 http://www.bsi.si/en/laws-and-regulations.asp?MapaId=1953

Internal governance statement

 

Gašpar Ogris–Martič
Chairman of the Management Board

Ljubljana, 25 April 2018
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Explanations in 
accordance with the 
Companies Act
In accordance with Article 70(5) of the Companies Act, which 
defines the minimum contents of the governance statement, 
the bank is hereby explaining as follows:

a)  Description of the principal characteristics of the 
bank's internal controls and risk management 
systems in connection with the financial reporting 
procedure

 Internal controls are implemented at three levels. The first 
level is implemented in the back office where postings are 
made. The correctness of postings is ensured observing 
the four-eye principle, which is integrated in the main 
information system.

 The bank has an information system for the recording of 
business transactions, which ensures single postings to 
the analytical accounts and main ledger.

 Balances of items in transitional accounts are also 
monitored and reconciled daily. Balances of items in 
transitional and temporary accounts are additionally 
monitored on a monthly basis as part of management 
controls. There are also quarterly and annual controls, 
which must be documented.

 The age of items, the reason for their existence and the 
intended reconciliation actions are controlled. Before 
monthly reports are prepared, balances in analytical 
accounts are compared against those in the main ledger.

b)  Data specified in points 3, 4, 6 and 9 of Article 70(6) of 
the Companies Act

 The bank's share capital is EUR 133,140,393.84 and is 
divided into 31,928,152 ordinary registered no-par value 
shares with the symbol VLBN, each representing the 
same share and amount of share capital.

 Each share gives its holder the right to one vote at the 
bank's general meeting, the right to a portion of the bank's 
profit (dividend), and the right to participate in the bank's 
assets remaining after its liquidation or bankruptcy.

 Sberbank Europe AG Vienna is a significant direct owner 
of the bank's shares: it holds 31,925,242 share or 99.99% 
of share, which represents a qualified holding (99.99%).

 There are no restrictions on voting rights. The bank's 
general meeting may be attended and the voting rights 
exercised solely by those shareholders who are registered 
in the central register of dematerialised securities at the 
end of the fourth day prior to the general meeting.

 The bank's general meeting decides, among other things, 
on the appointment and dismissal of members of the 
supervisory board, and on the amendments to the bank's 
articles of association.

 The bank's supervisory board decides on the appointment 
and dismissal of members of the management board.

c) The activities and key powers of the general meeting, 
and description of shareholders' rights and the 
manner of exercising them

 The bank's general meeting is the highest decision-making 
body, which has all the powers set out in the applicable 
regulations and the bank's articles of association. The 
bank's general meeting includes all shareholders.

 The general meeting decides on the following:
-  adoption of the annual report,
- appropriation of distributable profit,
- appointment and dismissal of supervisory board 

members,
- granting a discharge to the members of the 

management and supervisory boards,
- measures to increase and reduce capital,
- winding-up and restructuring of the bank,
- appointment of the auditor,
- amendments to the articles of association,
- other matters if so provided by the law or articles of 

association.
 

The bank's general meeting shall be convened in the 
cases set out in the law or articles of association, and when 
this is in the interest of the bank. The general meeting is 
normally convened by the bank's management board. It 
is convened at least once a year. As a rule, the general 
meeting is convened at the place where the bank has 
its registered office. The announcement of the general 
meeting must be published on the website of the Agency 
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of the Republic of Slovenia for Public Legal Records and 
Related Services (AJPES) and on the bank's website at 
least 30 days in advance. When convening a general 
meeting of shareholders, the management board must 
publish the agenda. For each agenda item, resolution 
proposals shall be specified in their entirety in a clear and 
unambiguous way so as to allow shareholders to assess 
the impact these might have on their voting rights.

d) Management and supervisory bodies
 The bank has a two-tier governance system in place 

with a management board and a supervisory board in 
accordance with Article 33 of the Banking Act.

 The supervisory board shall have at least three members 
in accordance with the bank's articles of association. 
They are elected by the general meeting for a period of 
not more than four years and may be re-elected. As a 
rule, the supervisory board adopts its resolutions at its 
meetings. The supervisory board shall hold a regular 
session at least once per quarter. The supervisory board 
has a quorum if decisions are taken by at least one-half 
of its members including the chair or, in his absence, the 
deputy chair. Each member of the supervisory board 
shall have one vote. The supervisory board can adopt 
resolutions by a simple majority of votes. In the case of 
parity of votes, the chair or the presiding member shall 
have the casting vote. Audio recordings of the supervisory 
board's sessions, the respective transcriptions as well as 
minutes shall be prepared.

 The supervisory board has an audit committee and a 
risk committee appointed while it carries out the tasks 
of the nominations committee and of the remuneration 
committee by itself. A committee cannot decide on the 
issues that are falling within the competence of the 
supervisory board. Each committee has a chair and at 
least two members, all appointed by the supervisory 
board. The work of the supervisory board and its 
committees is governed by the rules of procedure of each 
of these bodies.

 The bank's management board has at least two 
members in accordance with the Banking Act. The 
management board chair and members are appointed 
by the supervisory board for a period of not more than 
five years and may be re-elected. The supervisory 
board defines the areas of work of management board 

members. Each management board member is directly 
responsible for running the bank and achieving the 
objectives in his area of work. Regardless of the division 
of areas of work in place, management board members 
are collectively responsible for running the bank. The 
work of the management board is governed by the rules 
of procedure of the management board.

 The composition and activities of the management 
and supervisory bodies in 2017 are presented in the 
Governance bodies section of the annual report.

e)  Diversity policy
 Sberbank d.d. has adopted the Policy on selection 

of management body members, which defines the 
framework necessary to ensure that the management 
body of the bank is composed in such a way that, as a 
whole, it possesses the relevant knowledge, skills and 
experience required for an in-depth understanding of the 
banking activities and risks to which the bank is exposed. 
The bank is aware of the importance of diversity of the 
management body members, not only in terms of formal 
education, professional knowledge and skills, but also in 
terms of gender differences in personality, different level 
of expertise, age, international experience and personal 
traits. Policy principles are implemented in practice.

Management board

The Supervisory Board has undertaken to ensure, within 
all available options, that at least one woman seats on the 
Management Board. This has been put to practice since 
2014, as the bank has one female member of the total four 
management board members.

Supervisory board

Professional diversity contributes to the complementarity of 
knowledge and skills and ebsures suitability of candidates 
for membership in the supervisory board committees. 
The members shall also have adequate international 
experiences. The ratios of younger to older members and of 
female to male members of the supervisory board shall be 
adequate, for which reason the competent persons / bodies 
shall ensure, within all available options, that at least one 
woman seats on the supervisory board. This has been put to 
practice, as in 2017, the bank had two female members of 
the total six supervisory board members.
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Financial
statements
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The management of the bank has approved the financial 
statements of Sberbank banka d.d. for the year ended 31 
December 2017, the applied accounting policies and the 
notes to the financial statements (pages 44 to 118).

The management of the bank is responsible for preparing 
the annual report, which gives a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the bank as at 31 December 2017 and 
the results of its operations for the year then ended.

The management of the bank confirms that the applied 
accounting policies have been used on a consistent basis 
and that the accounting estimates have been made in 
compliance with the principle of prudence. The management 
of the bank also confirms that the financial statements have 
been prepared on the assumption of a going concern and 

in compliance with the relevant legislation and International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU.

The management is also responsible for the proper 
management of accounting, taking appropriate measures to 
protect the bank's assets, and preventing and discovering 
fraud, other irregularities or illegal acts.

The tax authority is allowed to start a tax audit in five years 
following the year when the tax return has to be filed. 
Consequently, additional tax liabilities, penalty interest 
and fines could arise in connection with income tax and 
other taxes. The management board is not aware of any 
circumstances that could cause a material liability in this 
respect.

Statement of management’s 
responsibilities

Ljubljana, 25 April 2018

Gašpar Ogris–Martič
Chairman of the Management Board
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Independent auditor’s report 
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Statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2017
ITEM DESCRIPTION NOTES

                  AMOUNT
31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits at banks 4 170,655 231,421
Financial assets held for trading 5 2,211 6,984
Available-for-sale financial assets 6 189,201 245,952
Loans and receivables 7 1,357,098 1,336,771
- loans  to banks 7.2 43,300 113,116
- loans to non-bank customer 7.3 1,311,350 1,221,597
- other financial assets 7.4 2,448 2,058
Held-to-maturity investments 8 0 3,018
Property, plant and equipment 9 7,630 8,332
Investment property 9 9,417 8,608
Intangible assets 9 1,655 1,211
Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 10 963 1,015
Tax assets 11 816 877
- current taxes 67 36
- deferred taxes 749 841
Other assets 12 1,214 1,930
TOTAL ASSETS 1,740,860 1,846,119
Financial liabilities held for trading 13 1,754 6,579
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 14 1,563,466 1,667,950
- deposits from banks and central banks 14.1 62,270 160,820
- deposits from non-bank customers 14.2 1,212,307 1,074,915
- loans from banks 14.3 210,601 344,851
- debt securities 14.5 10,001 15,003
- subordinated liabilities 14.6 60,899 60,888
- other financial liabilities 14.7 7,388 11,473
Provisions 15 2,550 2,130
Tax liabilities 16 148 85
Other Liabilities 17 822 278
TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,568,740 1,677,022
Share capital 18 133,140 133,140
Share premium 18 27,248 27,248
Accumulated other comprehensive income 18 12 -16
Reserves from profit 18 6 6
Retained earnings (including income from the current year) 18 11,715 8,719
TOTAL EQUITY 172,120 169,097
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,740,860 1,846,119

thousand EUR

Note: The notes are an integral part of the financial statements (pages 50 to 118) and should be read 
in conjunction with them.
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Income statement for the period from 
1 Jan to 31 Dec 2017

ITEM DESCRIPTION NOTES
                     AMOUNT

2017 2016
Financial and operating income and expenses 41,330 39,894
Interest income 21 41,708 44,084

Interest expenses 21 -8,343 -10,512

Net interest income 21 33,366 33,572
Dividend income 22 35 0

Fee and commission income 23 10,494 10,806

Fee and commission expense 23 -2,277 -2,906

Net fee and commission income 23 8,217 7,900
Realised gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities
not measured at fair value through profit or loss 24 212 -1,892

Gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading 25 1,616 2,363

Exchange differences 26 -761 -578

Gains and losses on derecognition of assets other then held for sale 27 -123 -282

Other operating net income 28 -1,232 -1,189

Administrative expenses 29 -24,823 -23,400

Amortization and depreciaton 30 -1,461 -1,284

Provisions 31 -353 -229

Impairment 31 -11,095 -13,763

TOTAL PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 32 3,597 1,218
Tax expense (income) related to profit and loss from continuing operations 32 -592 -102

TOTAL PROFIT/LOSS AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 32 3,006 1,116
NET PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 3,006 1,116

 

Basic earnings/loss per share 19 0.09 0.03

Diluted earnings/loss per share 19 0.09 0.03

thousand EUR

Note: The notes are an integral part of the financial statements (pages 50 to 118) and should be read 
in conjunction with them.



46 SBERBANK SI  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Statement of comprehensive income  
for the period from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2017

ITEM DESCRIPTION
                   AMOUNT

2017 2016
NET PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR AFTER TAX 3,006 1,116
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AFTER TAX 28 480
ITEMS THAT WILL NOT BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS 79 -9
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit pensions plans 86 -9

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified -7 0

ITEMS THAT MAY BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS -51 489
Available-for-sale financial assets -63 600
Valuation gains (losses) taken to equity -63 600

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 12 -111
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR AFTER TAX 3,034 1,596

thousand EUR
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the period from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2017

ITEM DESCRIPTION
Basic 

Equity
Share 

premium

Accumulated 
other  

comprehensive 
income

Reserves 
from profit

Retained earnings
(including profit from  

the current year)
Total

equity
OPENING BALANCE  
(BEFORE RESTATEMENT) 133,140 27,248 -16 6 8,709 169,087

OPENING BALANCE FOR THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 133,140 27,248 -16 6 8,709 169,087

Comprehensive income for the 
financial year after tax 0 0 28 0 3,006 3,034

CLOSING BALANCE FOR THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 133,140 27,248 12 6 11,715 172,120

thousand EUR
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Statement of changes in equity 
for the period from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2016

ITEM DESCRIPTION
Basic 

Equity
Share 

premium

Accumulated 
other  

comprehensive 
income

Reserves 
from profit

Retained earnings
(including profit from 

the current year)
Total

equity
OPENING BALANCE  
(BEFORE RESTATEMENT) 133,140 27,248 -496 6 7,593 167,491

OPENING BALANCE FOR THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 133,140 27,248 -496 6 7,593 167,491

Comprehensive income for the 
financial year after tax 0 0 480 0 1,116 1,596

CLOSING BALANCE FOR THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 133,140 27,248 -16 6 8,709 169,087

thousand EUR
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ITEM DESCRIPTION
Basic 

Equity
Share 

premium

Accumulated 
other  

comprehensive 
income

Reserves 
from profit

Retained earnings
(including profit from 

the current year)
Total

equity
OPENING BALANCE  
(BEFORE RESTATEMENT) 133,140 27,248 -496 6 7,593 167,491

OPENING BALANCE FOR THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 133,140 27,248 -496 6 7,593 167,491

Comprehensive income for the 
financial year after tax 0 0 480 0 1,116 1,596

CLOSING BALANCE FOR THE 
REPORTING PERIOD 133,140 27,248 -16 6 8,709 169,087

Statement of cash flows  
for the period from 1 Jan to 31 Dec 2017

ITEM DESCRIPTION 2017 2016
A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
a) Total profit or loss before tax 3,597 1,218

Depreciation 1,461 1,284
Impairments / (reversal of impairments) of loans and receivables 10,885 12,957
Impairments of tangible assets, investment property, intangible fixed assets and other 
assets 158 196

Impairments of capital investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture 52 299
Net (gains) / losses from exchange differences 761 578
Net (gains) / losses from sale of tangible assets and investment properties 117 271
Other (gains) / losses from investing activities -35 -3
Other (gains) / losses from financing activities 2,396 2,455
“Unrealised (gains) / losses from financial assets measured at fair value that are 
component of cash equivalents” 613 130

Other adjustments to total profit or loss before tax 70 1,238
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in operating assets  
and liabilities 20,075 20,623

b) (Increases) / decreases in operating assets (excl. cash, cash equivalents) 22,015 -51,353
Net (increase) / decrease in financial assets available for sale 56,776 -60,117
Net (increase) / decrease in loans and receivables -34,733 11,552
Net (increase) / decrease in other asset -28 -2,788

c) (Increases) / decreases in operating liabilities -100,413 -48,680
Net (increase) / decrease in deposits, loans and receivables measured a amortised cost -94,855 -68,208
Net increase / (decrease) in debt instruments in issue measured at amortised cost -5,002 15,004
Net (increase) / decrease in other liabilities -556 4,524

č) Cash flow from operating activities  (a+b+c) -58,323 -79,410
d) Income taxes (paid) refunded -595 1,145
e) Net cash flow from operating activities  (č+d) -58,918 -78,265
B. CASHFLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
a) Receipts from investing activities 10,658 8,810

Receipts from the sale of tangible assets and investment properties 7,641 4,800
Receipts from the sale of financial assets held to maturity 2,982 4,000
Other receipts from investing activities 35 10

b) Cash payments on investing activities -9,497 -2,364
(Cash payments to acquire tangible assets and investment properties) -9,041 -1,699
(Cash payments to acquire intangible fixed assets) -456 -665

c) Net cash flow from investing activities  (a-b) 1,161 6,446
C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES -2,396
b) Cash payments on financing activities -2,396 -2,455

(Other cash payments related to financial activities) -2,396 -2,455
c) Net cash flow from financing activities (a-b) -2,396 -2,455
D. Effects of change in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents -613 -130
E. Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (Ae+Bc+Cc) -60,153 -74,274
F. Opening balance of cash and cash equivalents 231,421 305,825
G. Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents  (D+E+F) 170,655 231,421

thousand EUR
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Notes to financial statements

1. Introduction
Sberbank banka d.d., Dunajska cesta 128 a, 1000 Ljubljana, 
prepared its annual report in accordance with International 
Financial Accounting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by 
the European Union, and the “Regulation on the books of 
account and annual reports of banks and savings banks”. 
In forming its accounting policies, the bank also considered 
other legislation, such as the “Regulation on the assessment 
of credit risk losses of banks and savings banks”, and other 
regulations and instructions issued by the Bank of Slovenia.

The bank’s majority owner as at 31 December 2017 was 
Sberbank Europe AG, Schwarzenbergplatz 3, 1010 Vienna, 
Austria, which in turn is consolidated within Sberbank of 
Russia. The consolidated financial statements are available 
for viewing on their web page.

All financial statements and tables included in the annual 
report were prepared based on matrix reporting to the Bank 
of Slovenia (BS1S and IVD reports). To allow comparability 
between the current year values and the previous year 
values, we used the same basis also for 2016.

Financial statements were audited by Ernst & Young, d.o.o., 
Ljubljana, which issued an opinion on page 38 of this annual 
report.

2. Significant accounting
policies
The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the 
financial statements are fully compliant with IFRS as adopted 
by the European Union, and the bank‘s internal policies.

All significant accounting policies are presented on the 
following pages. They were consistently applied in both 
financial years presented, except if otherwise indicated. 
If necessary, comparative data were restated in order to 
assure comparability with the current period.

a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements were prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the European Union.

b) Basis of measurement
The financial statements were prepared on the historical cost 
basis, except for investment property and financial assets 
held for trading and available-for-sale financial assets, which 
are measured at fair value, and financial assets, which are 
measured at amortised cost.

c) Use of estimates and judgements
Preparation of the financial statements requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The 
actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, 
and in any future periods affected.

Estimates were made in relation to loan impairment, 
provisions for off-balance sheet risks, amortisation/
depreciation period of intangible assets/property, plant 
and equipment, and provisions for employee benefits and 
pending lawsuits.

d) Definition of the Group
The Group consists of Sberbank banka d.d. as parent, 
and Privatinvest, d.o.o., as subsidiary (100% owned by the 
parent).

The bank’s equity investment in the subsidiary is recognised 
at costs in its financial statements.

In accordance with Article 7 of the “Regulation on the 
supervision of banks and savings banks on a consolidated 
basis” and due to its insignificance for the financial position 
of the Sberbank banka Group, Privatinvest was excluded 
from consolidation. The bank meets the IAS 27 requirements 
regarding the exception from consolidation. Privatinvest was 
consolidated by Sberbank Europe AG, which prepares its 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS.
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e) Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in euro, which is the 
bank‘s functional and presentation currency. All financial 
information is presented in thousand EUR.

f) Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions are translated to the functional 
currency at the relevant exchange rates on the transaction 
date. Foreign exchange differences are recognised in profit 
or loss.

g) Property, plant and equipment
The bank uses the cost model, under which an item 
of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation, and impaired only if there is 
objective evidence of impairment.

Depreciation of an item of property, plant and equipment 
begins when it is available for use. It is then depreciated 
using the straight-line method over its useful life. This is the 
period of time over which an asset is expected to be used by 
the bank, and is the following:

• buildings up to 40 years
• computer equipment from 3 to 5 years
• motor vehicles from 4 to 8 years
• other equipment from 2 to 10 years
 
Periods of useful life did not change in 2017.

Land is recognised separately from buildings. Its useful life 
is unlimited and it is therefore not depreciated. In case of 
co-ownership of offices, the value of the appertaining land is 
included in the cost of such offices.

On an annual basis, the bank reviews assets to check for 
indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the bank 
estimates the recoverable amounts of such assets. If that is 
lower than the initial costs minus accumulated depreciation, 
impairment of such an asset is needed. Recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset‘s fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised on 
disposal or when no further benefits are expected from them.

On disposal of items of property, plant and equipment, the 
difference between the asset’s net sales value and its book 
value is recognised in gains and losses on derecognition.

h) Investment property
Investment property is property not used directly by the 
bank in its business, but held to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation. Investment property is stated at fair value 
determined by a certified appraiser. Fair value is based on 
current market prices. Any gain or loss arising from a change 
in fair value is recognised in the income statement. If there 
is a change in use due to the commencement of owner 
occupation, investment property is transferred to owner 
occupied property.

i) Intangible assets
The bank uses the cost model for measuring intangible 
assets. After initial recognition, intangible assets are 
amortised. They are impaired only if there is an indication of 
impairment. Intangible assets comprise computer software 
and licences. An item of intangible assets is amortised using 
the straight-line method. Items of intangible assets are 
derecognised on disposal or when no further benefits are 
expected from them. At this point, amortisation stops.

Intangible assets are amortised over their useful life. This 
is the period of time over which an asset is expected to be 
used by the bank, and is the following:
• licences from 4 to 10 years
• software up to 4 years
 
Periods of useful life did not change in 2017.

On an annual basis, the bank reviews assets to check for 
indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the 
bank estimates the recoverable amount of such assets. If 
that is lower than the initial cost, impairment of such an asset 
is needed. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset‘s 
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

The bank does not have intangible assets with an indefinite 
useful life, which would require impairment testing on an 
annual basis.
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j) Financial assets
On initial recognition, the bank classifies financial instruments 
into the following categories, taking into account the purpose 
of purchase, the holding period and the type:

•  financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 
can be held for trading, which means that they were 
acquired for the purpose of selling in the short term, 
or can be designated as such in accordance with IAS 
39. The bank classifies all equity, debt and derivative 
instruments (except those designated as hedging 
instruments) as held for trading;

•  held-to-maturity financial assets: are financial assets 
with determinable payments and maturity that the bank 
intends and is able to hold to maturity;

•  available-for-sale financial assets: are expected 
to be held for an indefinite period of time and can be 
sold for liquidity purposes or due to changes in interest 
rates, foreign exchange rates or prices of financial 
instruments;

•  loans and receivables: are financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market.

 
Based on a decision to purchase a security, the asset-liability 
committee defines the purpose of purchase and classifies 
the security accordingly.

Purchases of financial instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss are recognised on the trade date.

Financial assets other than those at fair value through profit 
or loss are initially recognised at fair value, increased by any 
transaction costs directly attributable to the purchase.

Gains and losses on financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss for the same 
period. Gains or losses on available-for-sale financial 
assets are recognised in other comprehensive income, and 
transferred to profit or loss on derecognition due to disposal 
or impairment.

Held-to-maturity financial assets are measured at amortised 
cost.

The bank derecognises a financial asset when the 
contractual rights to receive the cash flows from it expire, 

or when it transfers the asset together with all the risks and 
rewards of ownership. Regular way purchases and sales 
are recognised using trade date accounting. Trade date is 
the date on which the bank undertakes to purchase or sell 
the asset. The bank derecognises a financial liability when 
its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or 
expire.

k) Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets are impaired based on the provisions and 
criteria:
•  laid down in the bank‘s policy of assessment of credit 

risk losses, and
•  applicable to the measurement of financial instruments 

at fair value.

Specifics in the case of an inactive market:
If the transaction price of a financial instrument in an 
inactive market significantly differs from the fair value of the 
same instrument in another comparable market, or if the 
transaction price significantly differs from the price based 
on a valuation model, which takes into account assumptions 
of an active market, the bank immediately recognises the 
difference between the transaction price and the fair value 
in the income statement, under net gains and losses from 
trading as the “day one” profit or loss. If the market price is 
irrelevant, the difference between the transaction price and 
the price based on a valuation model is recognised in the 
income statement only when the market becomes relevant 
or when the instrument is sold.

l) Measurement of financial instruments at fair  
value
Financial assets held for trading, financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss, and available-for-sale financial assets 
are measured at fair value.

Fair value is based on the asset‘s quoted market price in 
an active market at the balance sheet date. If this is not 
available, the bank establishes the fair value by using the 
discounted cash flow or pricing models.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value, 
with changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive 
income.
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Prior to each reporting date the bank assesses whether 
there are signs of impairment of financial assets available 
for sale. A significant or long-term decline of a financial 
asset’s fair value below its cost is also an objective evidence 
of impairment. The decision of what presents an important 
or long-term decline in fair value is based on estimates. In 
making such estimates, among other factors, the bank takes 
into account the volatility of securities prices.

In the case of impairment of debt financial assets, which 
are available-for-sale, the cumulative loss is recognised 
in the income statement, which can be reversed. If, in a 
subsequent period, fair value of available-for-sale debt 
securities increases and the increase can be objectively 
related to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the reversal of impairment loss is recognised 
through the income statement.

In the case of impairment of available-for-sale equity 
securities, an impairment loss is recognised in the income 
statement. Reversal of impairment of equity securities is not 
done through the income statement, but the subsequent 
increase in fair value is directly recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

m) Financial instruments at amortised cost
Held-to-maturity financial instruments may be impaired if 
there is objective evidence of impairment. Impairment loss 
is measured as the difference between a financial asset‘s 
carrying amount and the net present value of estimated cash 
flows discounted at the asset‘s original effective interest rate. 
It is recognised in the income statement.

n) Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives, including currency futures/forward contracts, 
currency options, interest rate swaps and futures/forward 
contracts relating to securities, are used by the bank for 
trading and hedging purposes. They are measured at fair 
value (market prices), with changes in fair value recognised 
in the income statement.

o) Loans and receivables
Loans are measured at amortised cost. They are recognised 
at the principal outstanding, increased by interest and 
fees accrued, and reduced to account for allowances, in 
accordance with the bank‘s policy of assessment of credit 
risk losses.

The bank assesses on an ongoing or at least quarterly 
basis whether there is objective evidence of impairment as 
a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset, and whether such events affect the 
cash flows from the asset that can be reliably estimated. Such 
evidence could include the following: a debtor‘s failure to 
make payments when due, a debtor‘s imminent bankruptcy, 
compulsory settlement or financial reorganisation, etc.

Impairment loss is measured as the difference between 
a financial asset‘s carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated cash flows discounted at the asset‘s original 
effective interest rate. In case of first-class collateral, cash 
flows from taking possession of such collateral are also 
included. The asset‘s carrying amount is reduced directly 
or through the allowance account. Impairment loss is 
recognised in the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss relating to a financial asset decreases, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed in the income 
statement.

If possible, the bank prefers to restructure loans rather 
than to take possession of collateral. Loan restructuring 
involves extending payment agreements and collaboration 
on achieving new terms, which are acceptable for both 
parties. Once the terms have been renegotiated, the loan 
is no longer considered past due, but client’s rating cannot 
improve only based on restructuring. The bank constantly 
monitors the compliance with the terms of restructured 
loans and at the same time monitors the likelihood of future 
repayments. Restructured loans continue to be subject to an 
individual or collective impairment assessment, calculated 
on the basis of the original effective interest rate of the loan.

p) Cash equivalents
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid assets that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, and are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash equivalents include:
•  cash and balances in the settlement account with the 

central bank and in the current accounts with other 
banks;

•  loans to banks with an original maturity of up to three 
months; and
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•  investments in debt securities issued by the Member 
States or their central banks or the European Central 
Bank with an original maturity of up to three months.

 
r) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities comprise liabilities to clients for the 
deposits made, liabilities to creditors for the loans granted, 
liabilities from securities issued, and other liabilities.

Financial liabilities are recognised at the amounts arising 
from the relevant documents, which evidence the receipt 
of cash, and are measured at amortised cost. They are 
increased by accrued interest/returns and reduced by the 
amounts paid.

s) Provisions
Provisions are recognised in the statement of financial 
position if the bank has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event; and if it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation, which can be reliably 
estimated. The bank has provisions for employee benefits 
(severance and similar), off-balance sheet liabilities, pending 
lawsuits, etc.

The bank has provisions for retirement and anniversary 
benefits that reflect the net present value of its future 
obligations. These are calculated for each employee by 
estimating the costs of his or her retirement bonus as laid 
down in the employment contract, and the costs of all his or 
her anniversary bonuses until retirement. For the Sberbank 
Europe Group, a certified actuary based in Austria calculates 
such future obligations for long-term employee benefits for 
each Group entity separately.

The bank recognises provisions for off-balance sheet 
liabilities when the conditions are met as laid down in the 
bank‘s policy of assessment of credit risk losses.

t) Financial and operating income and expenses
Financial and operating income and expenses are 
recognised if it is probable that future economic benefits will 
flow to/from the bank, and if they can be measured reliably.

u) Interest income and expenses
Interest income and expenses are recognised in the income 
statement using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial asset or liability, and of 
allocating its interest income or expenses over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future flow of cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument 
or, when appropriate, in a shorter period, to the carrying 
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When 
calculating the effective interest rate, an entity shall estimate 
cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument but not future credit losses. The calculation 
includes all payments or receipts between parties to the 
contract (interest, fees, transaction costs, etc.)

v) Dividends
Dividend income comprises dividends and shares of profit 
arising from the bank‘s equity investments. Dividend income 
is recognised in the income statement on the date when the 
bank’s right to receive payment is established.

z) Fees and commissions
Fee and commission income comprises the amounts 
charged by the bank for the services provided, in accordance 
with the bank‘s tariff or contracts between the bank and its 
clients.

Fee and commission expenses comprise the amounts 
paid by the bank for the services provided by others, in 
accordance with the contracts between the bank and such 
third persons.

Fee and commission income and expenses are recognised 
in the income statement when the service is completed.

aa) Income and expenses from financial 
transactions
Income and expenses from financial transactions comprise 
realised gains or losses from financial assets not measured 
at fair value through profit of loss, and gains or losses 
from trading in equity and debt securities and derivatives 
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

ab) Other operating income and expenses
Other operating income and expenses comprise rentals for 
offices leased out, and other operating income, as well as 
duties, membership fees and other operating expenses.
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ac) Impairment
Impairment comprises impairment of financial assets 
measured at amortised cost, recognised in accordance with 
the bank‘s policy of assessment of credit risk losses. It also 
comprises impairment of items of investment property, which 
are not financial assets.

ad) Taxes
Current tax is recognized at the amount calculated by 
the bank in accordance with the Corporate Profit Tax Act 
(ZDDPO-2) and the applying the rate of 17% (for 2017).

Deferred tax is recognised for all temporary differences, 
which are the differences between the tax base of an 
asset or liability and its carrying amount in the statement of 
financial position. Deferred taxes are calculated using the 
tax rates that are expected to apply when assets are realised 
or liabilities are settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary difference can be utilised.

Deferred tax associated with measurement of available-
for-sale financial assets is recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income.

ae) Segment reporting
Segment reporting is used only by the Sberbank Europe 
Group, which presents segment information in respect of the 
Group‘s business and geographical segments. The Group‘s 
primary format for segment reporting is based on business 
segments, determined by the Group‘s management and 
internal reporting structure.

af) Employee benefits
Employment benefits include retirement and anniversary 
bonuses. Provisions for employee benefits are calculated by 
an independent actuary. In 2017, they were estimated using 
the latest employee data and the following assumptions:

•  interest rate: 1.35% (previous year: 2.15%),
•  future salary increase: 3.5% (previous year: 3.5%).
 
The bank as employer pays certain statutory contributions 
that amount to 16.1% of the gross salaries paid, and has 
otherwise no other obligations. Contributions are recognised 

as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. They 
are included within labour costs in the income statement. 
Under Slovenian legislation, employees retire after 35 
to 40 years of service when, provided they meet certain 
conditions, they are entitled to a one-off retirement bonus. 
They are also entitled to an anniversary bonus for every 10 
years of service.

These obligations are measured as the net present value of 
future obligations, while any gains and losses arising in this 
connection are recognised in the income statement, except 
actuarial profit/losses from retirement benefits.

ag) Related parties
Under the ”Regulation on large exposures of banks and 
savings banks”, a group of related parties means the 
following:
•  a group consisting of two or more natural or legal 

persons who, unless proved otherwise, constitute a 
single risk for the bank because one of them, directly or 
indirectly, has control over the other or others;

•  a group consisting of two or more natural or legal persons 
between whom there is no relationship of control, but 
who are regarded as constituting a single risk for the 
bank because they are so interconnected that, if one of 
them were to experience financial problems, the other 
or all others would be likely to encounter repayment 
difficulties.

Generally, related parties are all persons who hold more than 
a 50% share of another legal person, or legal persons that 
are majority-owned by such persons. When determining a 
group of related clients, the bank must in particular consider 
the following forms of ties:
•  legal persons that have common holders of shares;
•  companies related by joint control;
•  entities that are mutually economically connected and 

dependent, these ties being irreplaceable in the short 
term;

•  individual natural persons and their immediate family 
members;

•  natural persons, and legal persons in which these natural 
persons are members of management bodies or have 
any other significant influence in their management;

•  natural persons who pursue business activities as 
private entrepreneurs, and their immediate family 
members.
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When determining a group of connected clients, the bank 
does not consider relations with the central government.

ah) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
presented in the statement of financial position when the 
bank has a legal right and intention to set off an asset against 
a liability, or when the asset is realised and the liability is 
settled at the same time.

ai) Repurchase agreements
Securities purchased but agreed to be sold back (under 
repurchase agreements) are included within loans to clients. 
Under such agreements, the risks and rewards of ownership 
are not transferred to the bank, for which reason they have 
the characteristics of loans collateralised with securities. 
The difference between the purchase and selling price is 
recognised as interest income, allocated over the relevant 
period by means of the effective interest method.

aj) Leases
A finance lease is a lease in which the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the goods are transferred to the 
lessee. Title may be passed to the lessee or not. Under a 
finance lease contract, the lessee may purchase the asset 
or return it to the lessor. Such a lease usually cannot be 
unilaterally terminated. Deprecation of leased assets is 
consistent with depreciation of the bank’s own assets.

A lease other than a finance lease is an operating lease.

Bank as lessee
In the case of operating leases, all payments made are 
recognised in the income statement over the contract term. 
If the contract is terminated early, all payments to the lessor 
due to such early termination are recognised as expenses 
upon termination.

Assets acquired under finance lease contracts are included 
in property, plant and equipment at the lower of their fair value 
or present value of the minimum lease payments. Payments 
made are recognised as interest expense. Property, plant 
and equipment assets acquired under finance lease 
contracts are depreciated over the shorter of their estimated 
useful life or lease term if there is no reasonable certainty 
that the bank will obtain their ownership by the end of the 
lease term.

Bank as lessor
Assets leased out under operating lease contracts are 
included in investment property or property, plant and 
equipment. Lease income is recognised in the income 
statement over the contract term.

In the case of assets leased out under finance lease 
contracts, the present value of future lease payments is 
recognised as a receivable under finance lease contracts. 
Lease income is recognised as interest income over the 
contract period, reflecting a constant periodic return of the 
bank.

ak) Financial guarantees
Financial guarantees are contracts that provide for payments 
to be made if the debtor fails to make payment when due. The 
bank issues financial guarantees to other banks, financial 
institutions and non-banking clients in order to insure their 
debts, overdrafts and other transactions.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised at fair value. 
Subsequently, they are recognised at the higher of the fair 
value less any fees and the present value of disbursements 
that the bank, based on its data and experience, expects to 
be required to settle the obligation. An increase in liabilities 
from financial guarantees is included within other operating 
expenses in the income statement.

al) Fiduciary business
Assets acquired by the bank within its fiduciary business are 
not risky and are kept separately from the bank‘s own assets. 
Fiduciary services comprise services associated with loan 
arrangements and securities transactions on behalf of third 
parties, for which the bank charges a fee.

am) Changes to financiral reporting standards and 
interpretations
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of 
the previous financial year except for the following amended 
IFRSs which have been adopted by the Bank as of 1 January 
2017:

• IAS 12: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for 
Unrealized Losses (Amendments)

 The objective of the Amendments is to clarify the 
requirements of deferred tax assets for unrealised 
losses in order to address diversity in practice in the 
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application of IAS 12 Income Taxes. The specific issues 
where diversity in practice existed relate to the existence 
of a deductible temporary difference upon a decrease 
in fair value, to recovering an asset for more than its 
carrying amount, to probable future taxable profit and to 
combined versus separate assessment. 

• IAS 7: Disclosure Initiative (Amendments)
 The objective of the Amendments is to provide 

disclosures that enable users of financial statements 
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities, including both changes arising from cash 
flows and non-cash changes. The Amendments specify 
that one way to fulfil the disclosure requirement is by 
providing a tabular reconciliation between the opening 
and closing balances in the statement of financial 
position for liabilities arising from financing activities, 
including changes from financing cash flows, changes 
arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries 
or other businesses, the effect of changes in foreign 
exchange rates, changes in fair values and other 
changes. 

• The IASB has issued the Annual Improvements 
to IFRSs 2014–2016 Cycle, which is a collection 
of amendments to IFRSs. The following annual 
improvement has not yet been endorsed by the EU:

 - IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: 
The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements 
in IFRS 12, other than those of summarised financial 
information for subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates, apply to an entity’s interest in a subsidiary, 
a joint venture or an associate that is classified as held 
for sale, as held for distribution, or as discontinued 
operations in accordance with IFRS 5.

B) Standards issued but not yet effective as at 31 
December 2017 and not adopted early by the Bank

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification and 
Measurement 
In July 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. IFRS 9 introduces a new approach to financial 
instruments classification and measurement, a forward-
looking expected loss model, and amends the requirements 
for hedge accounting. IFRS 9 is mandatorily effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with 
early application permitted. In October 2017, the IASB 
issued Amendment to IFRS 9: Prepayment Features with 
Negative Compensation that are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with early adoption 
permitted. The amendment allows certain pre-payable 
financial assets with negative compensation prepayment 
option to be measured at amortised cost or fair value through 
other comprehensive income, if the prepayment amount 
substantially represents unpaid principal and interest and 
reasonable compensation. Reasonable compensation may 
be positive or negative. Prior to this amendment, financial 
assets with this negative compensation feature would have 
failed the solely payments of principal and interest test and 
be mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
The Bank is assessing the impact of amendment on financial 
statements.

The Bank applied IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, with the 
exception of the above mentioned amendment that will enter 
into force on 1 January 2019.

IFRS 9 IMPLEMENTATION 
During 2016, in the course of the pre-study analyses, the 
Bank performed the following tasks: 
(1)  reviewed the current loan and securities portfolio 

and analysed the expected changes due to new 
classification rules under IFRS 9,

(2)  estimated the expected risk provisions under the 
impairment rules of IFRS 9 based on a high level 
calculation,

(3)  prepared business concepts for classification and 
measurement as well as impairment (including 
methodological concept) under IFRS 9,

(4)  identified the most relevant IFRS 9-related IT gaps and 
aligned those with other running and planned projects, 
and

(5)  prepared an IFRS 9 implementation plan. 
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With the beginning of 2017, the Bank established an 
implementation work stream with the aim of adapting the 
information systems for risk and finance functions, as well 
as the consolidation processes and reporting schedules, 
and incorporating the requirements of IFRS 9 into banking 
processes. The ultimate objective was to ensure a 
comprehensive implementation of the new standard and to 
be ready to apply it as of 1 January 2018. 

Regarding the governance structure, the Bank established 
a committee to manage the project. The implementation 
work stream was carried out by the representatives of risk, 
IT and finance functions, who are responsible for the overall 
implementation of the new standard.

Classification and measurement 
IFRS 9 retains the mixed measurement model and 
establishes three primary measurement categories for 
financial assets: 
• amortised cost, 
•  fair value through other comprehensive income, and 
•  fair value through P&L. 
 
The basis of classification depends on the entity’ business 
model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
financial asset. 

Financial assets are measured at amortised costs only if 
both the following conditions are met: 
a)  the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 

specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and 

b)  the asset is held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual 
cash flows. 

 
Measurement of a fair value through OCI is applicable when 
financial assets meet the condition a) but the business 
model applied to them is focused both on holding the assets 
to collect contractual cash flows and selling the assets. 

All other financial assets are measured at fair value. 

Investments in equity instruments are required to be 
measured at fair value though profit or loss with the 
irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair 
value in OCI not recycling.

For financial liabilities, there were no changes to 
classification and measurement in comparison to IAS 39, 
except for the recognition of changes in own credit risk in 
other comprehensive income for liabilities designated at 
fair value through profit or loss. The remaining amount of 
change in the fair value is presented in profit or loss. 

Derivatives embedded in contracts where the host 
instrument is a financial asset in the scope of IFRS 9 are 
never bifurcated. Instead, the hybrid financial instrument is 
as a whole assessed for classification. 

The review of the Bank’s portfolios of financial assets to 
determine their future accounting treatment under IFRS 
9, considering the characteristics of their contractual cash 
flows and the Bank’s business models for managing them, 
was performed during the pre-study analyses and in the 
course of 2017. 

In order to ensure a harmonised implementation within the 
Bank, we developed the methodologies for the business 
model determination, and for the analysis of contractual 
cash flows of financial assets and their comparison with a 
benchmark instrument where the time value component 
included in the interest is subject to modification according 
to the instrument’s contractual terms. 

In addition, the Bank prepared the accounting rules and a 
methodological framework for the implementation steps to 
be carried out by each local unit. These internal rules were 
approved by all competent bodies in 2017. 

The Bank mainly uses the so-called hold to collect business 
model for loans and other receivables, at times also the so-
called hold and sell business model. The latter is mainly used 
for financial investments. During the SPPI assessment, the 
key SPPI  features were identified for some financial assets.

The Bank has not designated any financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss, and the Group does not have the 
intention to do so soon.

Impairment 
The new expected credit losses model replaces the incurred 
loss impairment model used in IAS 39. It has to be applied 
to both financial assets and off-balance sheet credit risk 
bearing instruments (guarantees, credit commitments). At 
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initial recognition a loss allowance is recognised in the form 
of a 12-month expected credit loss. After initial recognition 
lifetime expected losses are to be recognized for all 
instruments whose credit risk increases subsequently. The 
measurement base is the lifetime expected credit loss.

New models had been developed where for retail models 
the selected approach was to build models based on 
migration matrices approach and for non-retail to base 
models on adjusted IRB models. Staging criteria which are 
used for analysis and determination of credit risk increases 
will leverage on currently existing process such as non-
retail monitoring process and for all segments forbearance 
process. In addition staging for all segments is based also on 
deterioration of credit rating since origination and observed 
days past due of credit exposures. Transfer from stage 1 to 
stage 2 will be based on the stated triggers immediately as 
the trigger is breached, and in case of transfer from stage 
2 to stage 1, after the confirmation that trigger is no longer 
breached, will be done after the stipulated period during 
which no other triggers should be present. The cool off 
period will be no less than one impairment calculation cycle. 
Transfers to stage 3 will be based on the default triggers. 
Definition of default is harmonised with EBA guidelines.

The SBAG Group decided for a centralized approach 
regarding the implementation of IFRS 9, which means that 
new models were developed in accordance with harmonised 
policies and processes within the SBAG Group, but based 
on the data of Sberbank bank of Slovenia. Impairments, too, 
will be calculated in a harmonised manner, where centrally 
delivered data of Sberbank banka will be fed in in the 
Group IFRS 9 tool, so that impairments will be calculated 
in accordance with the same standards for all Group 
members. As IFRS 9 brings significant changes to credit risk 
management, all relevant polices were updated during the 
reporting period, and a new policy governing estimation of 
credit risk losses was also prepared.

In 2017, Sberbank banka adopted a framework methodology 
set up centrally by the SBAG Group. This defines the rules for 
assessing the deterioration of credit risk and for determining 
12-month and lifetime expected credit losses, factoring 
in macroeconomic projections reflecting the credit cycle. 
Simultaneously, governance for the approval and the control 
of parameters used for measuring the expected credit losses 
and for management judgement was also set up.

The Bank incorporated forward-looking information in both 
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk and 
in the measurement of the expected credit losses. Forward-
looking information includes macroeconomic factors and 
economic forecasts. Recalculation of all parameters is 
performed annually. 

The Bank started, in the third quarter of 2017, a parallel 
calculation of impairment provisions under IFRS 9, without 
prejudice to the fact that a preliminary parallel calculation 
was already being made at consolidated level for monitoring, 
performance tracking and impact purposes. Based on 
the preliminary results obtained from the impairment 
provisions calculations, the Bank addressed the disclosure 
requirements of the EBA’s second Quantitative Impact Study 
(QIS). 

Calibration and validation streams included simulations of 
different management rules and calibration methodologies 
for measuring parameters (as consistent as possible with 
the ones developed for Basel requirements) in order to 
determine the best conjunctions between normative and 
business criteria. Furthermore, the process was defined 
for updating the models and the weighted macro-economic 
scenarios in compliance with the bookkeeping deadlines. 

The joint programme between the Risk Division and the 
Finance Division, dedicated to credit risks, will coninue 
during the first half of 2018 in connection with the further 
development of IT systems (mainly for the reporting of 
additional information to be disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements).

Hedging 
When applying IFRS 9, the Bank may choose to 
a)  continue to apply the hedge accounting requirements of 

IAS 39 instead of the requirements of IFRS 9, 
b)  apply fully the requirements of IFRS 9, or 
c)  continue applying the requirements of IAS 39 in 

special cases of fair value hedges and thus appling the 
requirements of IFRS 9 only to a limited extent. 

 
The standard relaxes the requirements for hedge effectiveness 
by replacing the bright line hedge effectiveness tests. It 
requires an economic relationship between the hedged 
item and hedging instrument and for the ‘hedged ratio’ to 
be the same as the one management actually uses for risk 
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management purposes. Contemporaneous documentation is 
still required but is different to that currently prepared under 
IAS 39. Only the prospective effectiveness test is required. 

The Bank is planning to continue to apply the hedge-
accounting principle of IAS 39. 

Transition 
The Bank chose to use the exemption allowing it not to 
restate comparative information of prior periods with respect 
to classification and measurement (including impairment) 
changes. Any differences in the carrying amounts of financial 
assets, financial liabilities and risk provisions resulting 
from the adoption of IFRS 9 will be recognised in retained 
earnings and reserves as at 1st January 2018.

Application of IFRS 9 Transitional Arrangements 
Since the application of IFRS 9 may lead to a sudden 
significant increase in expected credit loss provisions and 
consequently to a sudden decrease in institutions Common 
Equity Tier 1 capital, on 30 October 2017 European 
Parliament / Council introduced a compromise proposal 
regarding transitional arrangements for mitigating negative 
impact on CET1 arising from ECL increase (IFRS 9). 
Financial institutions may include in their CET1 capital a 
portion of the increased ECL provisions during a transitional 
period (5 years). On 27 December 2017, the official 
transitional provisions with regard to IFRS 9 were published. 

The Bank informed the competent authority that it would not 
apply for transitional arrangements. 

The Bank will initially apply IFRS 9 as issued in July 2014 
on 1 January 2018, and will adopt the amendments to IFRS 
9 on the same date. Based on assessments undertaken 
to date, the total estimated adjustment (net of tax) of the 
adoption of IFRS 9 on the opening balance of the Group´s 
equity at 1 January 2018 is approximately EUR 7.6 million, 
representing: 
-  a reduction of approximately EUR 9.3 million related to 

impairment requirements, 
- an increase of approximately EUR 1.8 million related to 

deferred tax impacts, 
- a reduction of approximately EUR 0.1 million related to 

classification and measurement requirements. Less than 
EUR 5 million are expected to be reclassified from AC to 
FVTPL, and less than EUR 0.2 million are expected to 
be reclassified from FVTOCI to FVTPL. 

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
 The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2018. IFRS 15 establishes a five-step 
model that will apply to revenue earned from a contract 
with a customer (with limited exceptions), regardless 
of the type of revenue transaction or the industry. The 
standard’s requirements will also apply to the recognition 
and measurement of gains and losses on the sale of 
some non-financial assets that are not an output of the 
entity’s ordinary activities (e.g., sales of property, plant 
and equipment or intangibles). Extensive disclosures will 
be required, including disaggregation of total revenue; 
information about performance obligations; changes in 
contract asset and liability account balances between 
periods and key judgments and estimates. 

• IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
(Clarifications)

 The Clarifications apply for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier application 
permitted. The objective of the Clarifications is to clarify 
the IASB’s intentions when developing the requirements 
in IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, 
particularly the accounting of identifying performance 
obligations amending the wording of the “separately 
identifiable” principle, of principal versus agent 
considerations, including the assessment of whether an 
entity is a principal or an agent, as well as applications 
of control principle and of licensing providing additional 
guidance for accounting of intellectual property and 
royalties. The Clarifications also provide additional 
practical expedients for entities that either apply IFRS 
15 fully retrospectively or that elect to apply the modified 
retrospective approach.

• IFRS 16: Leases
 The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2019. IFRS 16 sets out the principles 
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract, i.e. the 
customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier (‘lessor’). The new 
standard requires lessees to recognize most leases on 
their financial statements. Lessees will have a single 
accounting model for all leases, with certain exemptions. 
Lessor accounting is substantially unchanged. 



61SBERBANK SI  |   ANNUAL REPORT 2017

• Amendment in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures: Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture

 The amendments address an acknowledged 
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and 
those in IAS 28, in dealing with the sale or contribution 
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint 
venture. The main consequence of the amendments is 
that a full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction 
involves a business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary 
or not). A partial gain or loss is recognised when a 
transaction involves assets that do not constitute 
a business, even if these assets are housed in a 
subsidiary. In December 2015, the IASB postponed the 
effective date of this amendment indefinitely pending 
the outcome of its research project on the equity method 
of accounting. The amendments have not yet been 
endorsed by the EU. 

• IFRS 2: Classification and Measurement of Share 
based Payment Transactions (Amendments)

 The Amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier 
application permitted. The Amendments provide 
requirements on the accounting for the effects of vesting 
and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of 
cash-settled share-based payments, for share-based 
payment transactions with a net settlement feature, for 
withholding tax obligations and for modifications to the 
terms and conditions of a share-based payment that 
changes the classification of the transaction from cash-
settled to equity-settled. These Amendments have not 
yet been endorsed by the EU. 

• IAS 40: Transfers to Investment Property
  (Amendments)
 The Amendments are effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier 
application permitted. The Amendments clarify when an 
entity should transfer property, including property under 
construction or development, into or out of investment 
property. The Amendments state that a change in use 
occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the 

definition of investment property and there is evidence 
of the change in use. A mere change in management’s 
intentions for the use of a property does not provide 
evidence of a change in use. These Amendments have 
not yet been endorsed by the EU. 

• IAS 28 Amendments: Long-term Interests in 
Associates and Joint Ventures

 The Amendments are effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 with 
earlier application permitted. The Amendments relate 
to whether the measurement, in particular impairment 
requirements, of long term interests in associates and 
joint ventures that, in substance, form part of the ‘net 
investment’ in the associate or joint venture should be 
governed by IFRS 9, IAS 28 or a combination of both. 
The Amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments, before it applies IAS 28, to such 
long-term interests for which the equity method is not 
applied. In applying IFRS 9, the entity does not take 
account of any adjustments to the carrying amount of 
long- term interests that arise from applying IAS 28. 
These Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the 
EU.

• IFRIC INTERPETATION 22: Foreign Currency 
Transactions and Advance Consideration

 The Interpretation is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with earlier 
application permitted. The Interpretation clarifies the 
accounting for transactions that include the receipt or 
payment of advance consideration in a foreign currency. 
The Interpretation covers foreign currency transactions 
when an entity recognises a non-monetary asset or a 
non-monetary liability arising from the payment or receipt 
of advance consideration before the entity recognizes 
the related asset, expense or income. The Interpretation 
states that the date of the transaction, for the purpose 
of determining the exchange rate, is the date of initial 
recognition of the non-monetary prepayment asset or 
deferred income liability. If there are multiple payments 
or receipts in advance, then the entity must determine a 
date of the transactions for each payment or receipt of 
advance consideration. This Interpretation has not yet 
been endorsed by the EU.
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• The IASB has issued the Annual Improvements 
to IFRSs 2014–2016 Cycle, which is a collection of 
amendments to IFRSs. The amendments are effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 
for IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards and for IAS 28 Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures. Earlier application is 
permitted for IAS 28 Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures. These annual improvements have not 
yet been endorsed by the EU. 

- IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards: This improvement 
deletes the short-term exemptions regarding 
disclosures about financial instruments, employee 
benefits and investment entities, applicable for first 
time adopters.

- IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures: The amendments clarify that the election 
to measure at fair value through profit or loss 
an investment in an associate or a joint venture 
that is held by an entity that is a venture capital 
organisation, or another qualifying entity, is available 
for each investment in an associate or joint venture 
on an investment-by-investment basis, upon initial 
recognition.

• IFRIC INTERPETATION 23: Uncertainty over Income 
Tax Treatments 

 The Interpretation is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019 with earlier 
application permitted. The Interpretation addresses 
the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments 
involve uncertainty that affects the application of IAS 
12. The Interpretation provides guidance on considering 
uncertain tax treatments separately or together, 
examination by tax authorities, the appropriate method 
to reflect uncertainty and accounting for changes in 
facts and circumstances. This Interpretation has not yet 
been endorsed by the EU.

3. Risk management
The Bank of Slovenia issued a “Regulation on the internal 
governance arrangements, the management body and the 
internal capital adequacy assessment process for banks and 
savings banks” (Official Gazette of the RS, nos. 73/15), laying 
down the rules on risk management in banks. Pursuant to 
the Regulation, banks must prepare strategies for assuming 
and managing risks, thus revealing their approach to the 
risks they assume in the scope of their operations.

The risks that a bank takes up within the framework of its 
operations include credit risk and counterparty credit risk, 
concentration risk within credit risk, market risks, interest 
rate risk, liquidity risk, operational risk (including legal risk), 
compliance risk, model risk, strategic risk, reputational risk, 
outsourcing risk, risk of new products and leverage risk.

The bank must comply with the general management 
standards for the following risks: credit risk, market risk, 
interest rate risk, operational risk and liquidity risk. At the 
same time, the bank must be capable of managing all other 
material risks assumed in the scope of its operations.

The bank must regularly assess its risk-bearing capacity. 
Such assessment must be documented. The bank 
must also prepare a methodology for assessing its risk-
bearing capacity and clarify the assumptions on which the 
methodology is based. The methodology shall be a recurring 
process based on the policies adopted by the bank for each 
type of risk. Further, the bank must prepare a methodology 
for measuring and assessing its risk exposure, which shall 
be based on risk identification and assessment that takes 
into account the scope and complexity of its operations. The 
bank’s risk exposure shall be assessed in qualitative and 
quantitative terms. Monitoring of the bank’s risk assumptions 
and assessment of its risk-bearing capacity shall be 
organised independently from the organisational units of 
the bank that assume such risks. The bank shall verify the 
appropriateness of the methodology for assessing its risk-
bearing capacity at least once a year and at every significant 
change in its risk exposure.
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The below sections deal with the bank’s exposure to credit 
risk, liquidity risk, markets risks and operational risk, and the 
manner in which the bank manages such risks.

3.1 Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as potential losses due to debtors’ 
inability to meet their financial or contractual obligations in full.

Credit risk is associated with the bank activities that result in:

• risky balance sheet assets (due and undue loans 
regardless of maturity, investments in securities and 
long-term equity investments,  accounts receivable under 
finance leases, accounts receivable from derivatives, 
interest/fees/commissions accrued, accounts receivable 
from guarantees, sureties and other liabilities assumed, 
bank deposits and other items measured at amortised 
cost/cost/fair value that can be allocated to individual 
debtors);

• risky off-balance sheet assets (financial guarantees/
sureties/unsecured letters of credit issued and other 
similar-risk transactions that could result in a bank’s 
payment obligation).

As regards credit risk, the bank uses the standardised 
approach to calculating the capital requirement for credit 
risk. In case of collateralised transactions, it uses the 
comprehensive approach.

In accordance with its guidelines for the organisation of its 
credit function, execution of loan transactions and credit 
risk management, as well as with its internal organisational 
rules, the bank ensures a clear separation of competences 
between the commercial unit and credit risk management 
unit on the one hand and between the commercial unit and 
back office on the other hand, also at managerial level.

Said guidelines applying to credit risk management, as well 
as the rules of procedure applying to the credit committee, 
lay down a clear and consistent decision-making structure 
for the loan approval procedure. The term credit (or loan) 
covers all transactions bearing credit risk. Any loan approval 
decision must be agreed between the commercial unit and 
the credit risk management unit, taking into account the 
complexity and risk of the transaction.

The bank classifies debtors or exposures into rating grades 
based on detailed criteria, allowing it to consistently classify 
debtors or exposures with similar risks to the same rating 
grade. The bank ensures that impairment- and allowance-
related decisions are not within the competence of the 
commercial unit.

The bank has implemented a clear and consistent 
organisational structure, policies, processes and internal 
rulebooks with regard to the monitoring process in 
accordance with the adopted credit risk management 
strategy approved by the management body, and a clear 
segregation of duties between the monitoring process 
and the credit approval process. The monitoring process 
includes general requirements with regard to the monitoring 
of individual exposures and the credit quality of the debtor, 
the early warning system for increased credit risk, the 
workout process for problematic exposures and the credit 
protection monitoring process.

The bank regularly reviews its credit portfolio and also 
estimates future trends. The results of such reviews serve 
the bank when preparing and assessing strategies and 
policies for assuming and managing risks.

Close loan monitoring and bad loan treatment
The bank uses a set of criteria when deciding whether 
a debtor/exposure requires close monitoring. Debtors/
exposures requiring close monitoring are regularly reviewed 
to decide their future treatment. If they meet certain criteria, 
they are handed over to the bad loan collection unit. 
Otherwise, the bank may also decide to restructure the 
exposure: a restructuring plan is then prepared, implemented 
and monitored. If a bankruptcy procedure is initiated against 
a debtor, the bank involves its own experts and/or external 
experts in the collateral recovery process, if the exposure is 
collateralised.

Early identification of upward changes 
in credit risk
 
The bank has a process in place for early identification of 
upward changes in credit risk associated with individual 
debtors. In this process, it uses qualitative and quantitative 
indicators.
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Debtor/exposure rating process
 
For the purpose of credit risk assessment, the bank uses 
a debtor/exposure rating process. Within said process, 
debtors/exposures are classified into credit rating classes 
and/or groups. The bank regularly monitors and assesses 
its rating process, as well as impairment- and provision-
related decisions, in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. The bank classifies its debtors based 
on the assessment and valuation of their ability to meet 
their obligations to the bank, as well as based on collateral 
provided.

When classifying its debtors into rating groups, the bank 
uses its policy for assessing credit risk losses, which is in 
accordance with the central bank’s “Regulation on the 
assessment of credit risk losses of banks and savings 
banks”, as well as with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. Non-performing loans are loans to clients who 

have defaulted on their payment (payments delayed by 
more than 90 days, restructuring, compulsory settlement or 
bankruptcy etc.)

The bank assesses individually significant financial assets 
or commitments including off-balance sheet items, as 
specified by the central bank and its internal policies. If 
such assessment reveals that a loss could arise from such 
significant financial assets or commitments including off-
balance sheet items, the bank must recognise an impairment 
loss both in its statement of financial position and in its 
income statement. If individual impairment or provisioning is 
not required, the bank then calculates a collective impairment 
loss or provision using a certain prescribed percentage.

Concentration risk identification and 
measurement
The bank has appropriate methodologies in place for 
identifying and measuring concentration risk.
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Loans and advances
to non-banks

  Loans and 
advances to 

banks
   Securities              Total

 31 Dec
2017

31 Dec
2016

31 Dec
2017

31 Dec
2016

31 Dec
2017

31 Dec
2016

31 Dec
2017

31 Dec
2016

1 Loans and advances: 
impaired

a) Individually impaired

   Gross amount 148,548 170,241 148,548 170,241

   Impairment amount 59,208 61,173 59,208 61,173

   Net amount 89,340 109,068 89,340 109,068

b) Collectively impaired:        

   Grade D 6,645 6,724 6,645 6,724

   Grade E 14,159 12,231 14,159 12,231

   Gross amount 20,804 18,955 20,804 18,955

   Impairment amount 12,985 11,894 12,985 11,894

   Net amount 7,819 7,061 7,819 7,061

2 Loans and advances: past due, not impaired

a)   Total loans and advances   
  past due: 1,165 1,446 1,165 1,446

  Gross amount 1,165 1,217 1,165 1,217

  Net amount 0 0

b)   Loans and advances by 
   days past due: 352 740 352 740

  31-60 days 72 0 72 0

  61-90 days 1 0 1 0

  91-180 days 740 706 740 706

  181+ days 

3 Loans and advances: not 
past due, not impaired 1,214,265 1,110,135 47,593 113,116 172,616 248,970 1,434,474 1,472,221

  Gross amount 1,162,121 1,071,688 47,593 113,116 172,616 248,970 1,382,330 1,433,774

  Grade A 31,884 20,824

  Grade B 20,260 17,623

  Grade C 3,065 4,197

Collective impairment 
amount  4,197 6,741 6,741

   Net amount 1,212,146 1,104,251 47,593 113,116 172,616 248,970 1,432,355 1,466,337

Total gross amount of 
loans and advances 1,384,782 1,300,777 47,593 113,116 172,616 248,970 1,604,991 1,662,863

Total net amount of loans 
and advances 1,310,470 1,221,597 47,593 113,116 172,616 248,970 1,530,679 1,583,683

Exposure to credit risk as at 31 December
thousand EUR
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Loans and advances by collateral submitted as at 31 December

Collateral type
       Loans and advances

to non-banks     Loans and advances to banks

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Individual impairment 141,707 162,569 0 0

Property 125,649 142,634 0 0

First-class collateral 8,211 8,846 0 0

Shares 5,745 6,061 0 0

Other 2,102 5,028 0 0

Collective impairment 14,882 14,404 0 0
Property 14,134 13,910 0 0

First-class collateral 251 273 0 0

Shares 293 0 0 0

Other 204 221 0 0

Past due, not impaired 1,132 1,313 0 0
Property 1,108 1,313 0 0

First-class collateral 0 0 0 0

Shares 0 0 0 0

Other 24 0 0 0

Not past due, not impaired 1,004,103 862,987 0 0
Property 725,059 690,522 0 0

First-class collateral 207,172 87,992 0 0

Shares 722 2,852 0 0

Other 71,150 81,621 0 0

Without collateral 148,646 180,324 47,593 113,116
Without collateral, not past due 135,883 168,101 47,593 113,116

Without collateral, past due 12,763 12,223 0 0

  Individual impairment 6,841 7,672 0 0

  Collective impairment 5,922 4,551 0 0

TOTAL 1,310,470 1,221,597 47,593 113,116

thousand EUR
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Credit risk by sector and geographic area as at 31 December
thousand EUR

Loans and advances to non-banks    Loans and advances to banks
 31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016 31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
TOTAL 1,310,470 1,221,597 47,593 113,116

    

SECTOR     

Companies 839,932 803,271 0 0

Public sector 102 3 0 0

Banks 0 0 47,593 113,116

Households 470,436 418,323 0 0

    

GEOGRAPHIC AREA     

Slovenia 1,245,194 1,146,388 19,083 21,718

Austria 200 721 138 0

CEE* 62,530 71,540 28,372 84,763

Other 2,546 2,948 0 6,635

       Available-for-sale and held-to-maturity investments
 31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Total 188,957 248,970

  
SECTOR   
Companies 0 0
State 162,605 179,718
Banks 10,011 52,891
Other financial institutions 16,341 16,361

GEOGRAPHIC AREA  
Slovenia 161,046 165,981
Austria 0 9,108
CEE 27,911 68,173
Other 0 5,708

thousand EUR

*Note: covered CEE countries are Lithuania, Macedonia, Poland, Montenegro, Serbia, Croatia, Romania, Czech Republic, Albania, Kosovo, Hungary, Latvia, 

Slovakia, Estonia, Germany, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria
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Gross carrying amount

Performing Non-performing

Total Performing 
Total

Not past due or 
Past due <= 30 

days

Past due
> 30 days <= 60 

days

Past due
> 60 days <= 90 

days

Non-performing 
Total

Unlikely to pay that 
are not past-due or 

past-due < = 90 days

Past due
> 90 days

<= 180 days

Past due
> 180 days

<= 1 year

Past due
> 1 year

Of which:  
defaulted

Of which:
impaired

Debt securities

Credit institutions

Non-financial corporations

Loans and advances 1,597,964 1,431,463 1,428,956 2,435 72 166,501 56,090 2,077 9,126 99,208 166,501 166,501
Central banks 162,719 162,719 162,719          

General governments 102,172 102,172 102,172          

Credit institutions 47,587 47,587 47,587          

Other financial corporations 9,919 8,751 8,751   1,168    1,168 1,168 1,168

Non-financial corporations 801,240 656,968 656,490 476 3 144,272 49,993 1,003 4,804 88,471 144,272 144,272

Of which: Small and Medium-sized Enterprises 517,847 399,666 399,571 95  118,181 30,180 839 1,259 85,903 118,181 118,181

Of which: Commercial real estate 549,580 450,232 450,001 231  99,348 37,456 272 491 61,129 99,348 99,348

Households 474,327 453,266 451,237 1,959 70 21,061 6,097 1,074 4,322 9,569 21,061 21,061

Of which: Residential mortgage loans 283,302 269,347 268,540 789 18 13,955 4,243 298 3,715 5,698 13,955 13,955

Of which: Credit for consumption 167,771 163,777 162,588 1,140 48 3,994 643 747 352 2,252 3,994 3,994

DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT AMORTISED COST 1,597,964 1,431,463 1,428,956 2,435 72 166,501 56,090 2,077 9,126 99,208 166,501 166,501

Debt securities 172,616 172,616 172,616          
General governments 162,605 162,605 162,605          

Credit institutions 10,011 10,011 10,011          

DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE other than 
HFT 172,616 172,616 172,616

DEBT INSTRUMENTS other than HFT 1,770,580 1,604,079 1,601,572 2,435 72 166,501 56,090 2,077 9,126 99,208 166,501 166,501

Loan commitments given 269,250 266,667    2,583  -  -  -  - 2,583 2,583

Credit institutions 17 17      -  -  -  -   

Other financial corporations 1,778 1,778      -  -  -  -   

Non-financial corporations 247,640 245,086    2,554  -  -  -  - 2,554 2,554

Households 19,815 19,786    29  -  -  -  - 29 29

Financial guarantees given 105,910 105,028    882  -  -  -  - 882 882

Credit institutions 19,241 19,241  -  -  -   -  -  -  -   

Other financial corporations 16 16  -  -  -  -

Non-financial corporations 86,416 85,533  -  -  - 882  -  -  -  - 882 882

Households 237 237  -  -  -   -  -  -  -   

OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES 375,161 371,696    3,465  -  -  -  - 3,465 3,465

Note: Data are from the F.18 form of the FINREP report.

Information on performing and non-performing exposures  
– gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2017

thousand EUR
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Accumulated impairment, accumulated changes in fair value due to credit risk and provisions Collateral received and financial guarantees 
received

Total
on performing 

exposures

on non-performing exposures

Total
Unlikely to pay that 
are not past-due or 

past-due < = 90 days

Past due
> 90 days

<= 180 days

Past due
> 180 days

<= 1 year

Past due
> 1 year

Collateral received on 
non-performing 

exposures  

Financial
guarantees received 

on non-performing 
exposures

Loans and advances -76,974 -6,850 -70,124 -14,154 -510 -3,759 -51,701 87,055 1,118
General governments -9 -9

Other financial corporations -217 -50 -167    -166 991  

Non-financial corporations -67,659 -5,589 -62,069 -12,530 -136 -2,806 -46,599 73,819 1,118

Of which: Small and Medium-sized Enterprises -57,160 -4,674 -52,486 -7,148 -85 -119 -45,134 58,626 989

Of which: Commercial real estate -39,498 -3,973 -35,525 -7,840 -7 -163 -27,516 60,416 889

Households -9,089 -1,202 -7,888 -1,624 -374 -953 -4,936 12,245  

Of which: Residential mortgage loans -5,294 -522 -4,772 -1,247 -91 -592 -2,842 9,074  

Of which: Credit for consumption -2,419 -530 -1,888 -229 -270 -154 -1,234 1,339  

DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT AMORTISED COST -76,974 -6,850 -70,124 -14,154 -510 -3,759 -51,701 87,055 1,118
DEBT INSTRUMENTS other than HFT -76,974 -6,850 -70,124 -14,154 -510 -3,759 -51,701 87,055 1,118
Loan commitments given 499 334 164 - - - - 48  

Non-financial corporations 496 331 164 - - - - 48  

Households 3 3  - - - -   

Financial guarantees given 522 385 138 - - - - 427  
Non-financial corporations 522 385 138 - - - - 427  

OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES 1,021 719 302 - - - - 475  

Information on performing and non-performing exposures – acumulated impairment, accumulated changes in fair value 
due to credit risk and provisions as at 31 December 2017

Gross carrying amount of exposures with forbearance measures

Performing exposures with forbearance measures Non-performing exposures with forbearance measures

Total Total

Instruments with 
modifications in 
their terms and 

conditions Refinancing

of which: Perfor-
ming forborne 

exposures under 
probation Total

Instruments with 
modifications in 
their terms and 

conditions Refinancing
of which:
Defaulted

of which:
Impaired

of which:
Forbearance of 
non-performing 

exposures

Loans and advances 91,452 21,269 20,109 1,160 4,972 70,183 64,954 5,229 70,183 70,183 46,471
Other financial corporations 115 115 115         

Non-financial corporations 83,422 19,518 18,418 1,100 4,842 63,903 58,778 5,125 63,903 63,903 40,488

Of which: Small and Medium-sized Enterprises 77,755 19,014 18,024 989 4,842 58,741 54,002 4,739 58,741 58,741 35,452

Of which: Commercial real estate 68,106 14,391 13,432 960 4,701 53,715 48,803 4,911 53,715 53,715 32,934

Households 7,915 1,636 1,576 60 130 6,280 6,176 104 6,280 6,280 5,983

Of which: Residential mortgage loans 5,964 1,285 1,285  130 4,679 4,636 44 4,679 4,679 4,383
Of which: Credit for consumption 455 181 168 14  274 274  274 274 274

DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT AMORTISED COST 91,452 21,269 20,109 1,160 4,972 70,183 64,954 5,229 70,183 70,183 46,471
DEBT INSTRUMENTS other than HFT 91,452 21,269 20,109 1,160 4,972 70,183 64,954 5,229 70,183 70,183 46,471

Information on forborne exposures – gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2017

thousand EUR

thousand EUR
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Note: Data are from the F.18 form of the FINREP report.

Note: Data are from the F.19 form of the FINREP report.
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Information on forborne exposures – accumulated impairment, 
accumulated changes in fair value due to credit risk and provisions 
as at 31 December 2017

Accumulated impairment, accumulated changes in fair value due 
to credit risk and provisions

Collateral received  
and financial guarantees 

received

on performing 
exposures with 

forbearance 
measures

on non-performing exposures with 
forbearance measures

Instruments 
with modifica-

tions in their 
terms and 
conditions

Refinan-
cing

Collateral re-
ceived on ex-
posures with 
forbearance 

measures

Financial
guarantees 
received on 
exposures 

with for-
bearance 
measures

Loans and advances -23,013 -1,566 -21,447 -20,325 -1,122 60,619 179

Non-financial corporations -21,748 -1,473 -20,275 -19,191 -1,084 54,199 179

Of which: Small and Medium-
-sized Enterprises -18,670 -1,464 -17,206 -16,228 -978 51,927 179

Of which: Commercial real 
estate -16,130 -1,024 -15,107 -14,133 -974 50,345  

Households -1,263 -91 -1,172 -1,134 -38 6,306  

Of which: Residential 
mortgage loans -826 -72 -754 -741 -14 5,029  

Of which: Credit for con-
sumption -136 -11 -125 -125  145  

DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT 
AMORTISED COST -23,013 -1,566 -21,447 -20,325 -1,122 60,619 179

DEBT INSTRUMENTS other 
than HFT -23,013 -1,566 -21,447 -20,325 -1,122 60,619 179

Note: Data are from the form F.19 of the FINREP report

thousand EUR
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3.2 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as potential losses due to the bank’s 
inability to meet its obligations or the ability to meet them only 
by incurring significantly higher costs than the usual costs. 
Liquidity risk includes also the situation when the bank cannot 
sell or substitute a position within a short time. Liquidity is 
the bank’s ability to sustain a decrease in deposits, meet its 
obligations and increase financial assets.

Liquidity risk is closely connected with other bank risks (such 
as credit, interest rate and currency risks), and usually arises 
from one of the bank’s most important functions, i.e. the 
transformation of short-term deposits into long-term financial 
assets. Liquidity is an important component of banking 
operations, as it balances the expected and unexpected 
balance sheet fluctuations, as well as ensures growth.

The bank must at all times ensure adequate liquidity by 
matching its actual and potential sources of liquidity with its 
actual and potential usage of liquidity. Taking into account 
its specifics and level of risk assumed, the bank identifies, 
measures, manages and monitors liquidity risk, thus ensuring 
ongoing and timely settlement of its liabilities. Bank is striving 
to use all available measures like committed lines and ECB 
eligible loans pledge, ensure liquidity ratios at comfort zone 
level. Liquidity buffers represent available liquidity without 
any additional measures being required.

The bank’s guidelines applying to liquidity risk management 
comprise also measures aimed at preventing or eliminating 
the causes for illiquidity. The bank regularly reviews the 
correctness and appropriateness of assumptions on which 
its liquidity management policy is based. The bank uses 
several liquidity management scenarios for the purpose of 
monitoring liquidity risk and ensuring an adequate liquidity 
position. Based on such scenarios, the bank determines 
the measures to be adopted for the purpose of ensuring an 
adequate liquidity position in the normal course of business 
(basic scenario), as well as in emergency liquidity situations 
(stress scenario). The bank regularly reviews the correctness 

of assumptions on which its liquidity management scenarios 
are based.

To ensure an adequate liquidity position, the bank identifies, 
measures, manages and monitors liquidity risk by means of:

• planning of actual and potential cash inflows in view of 
cash outflows (also intraday) and assessing the liquidity 
risk by LCR and liquidity buffers to cover overdue 
liabilities in the normal course of business and in 
emergency liquidity situations;

• ensuring an amount of liquid assets or other sources of 
liquidity that are appropriate in view of the liquidity risk;

• monitoring the appropriateness of the structure of assets 
and their sources;

• assessing liquidity risk in specific currencies, if this 
represents a significant exposure;

• calculating liquidity ratios and defining limits for liquidity 
risk exposure;

• calculating liquidity buffers to cover overdue liabilities 
in the normal course of business and in emergency 
liquidity situations, as well as defining limits for liquidity 
risk exposure;

• adopting a plan to be used during a possible liquidity 
crisis.

The bank prepared a contingency plan, which is being 
regularly tested and comprises measures aimed at preventing 
or eliminating causes for liquidity crises, measures aimed at 
overcoming and limiting the consequences of occasional or 
prolonged liquidity crises, as well as measures aimed at re-
establishing a normal liquidity situation.

Liquidty coverage ratio (LCR) is reported to the regulator on 
a monthly basis, but the Bank calculates it on a daily basis for 
internal needs. The Bank calculates its LCR in accordance 
with the regulation and internal limits. LCR is calculated as 
the ratio of total assest to total net outflows for the next 30 
calendar days. LCR is calculated individually for all relevant 
currencies and also at an aggregated level.

LCR regulatory limit in 2017 was 80% and the bank fulfilled it 
on each day in 2017. On 1 January 2018, the regulatory limit 
was increased to 100%.
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LCR in 2017

Liquidity ratio for the last three years

 2017
End-of-year 147.1%

Annual average 132.1%

Highest level 180.6%

Lowest level 105.1%

 2017 2016 2015
end-of-year 1.26 1.40 1.43

Annual average 1.30 1.39 1.35

Highest level 1.66 1.69 1.63

Lowest level 1.09 1.10 1.10

The Bank is also creating LCR forecasts and liquidity streams 
for the next 15 working days on a daily basis. 

We expect the average LCR to be in the range of 120%–130% 
in 2018.

The bank also fulfilled the local liquidity ratio required by the 
Bank of Slovenia, which is calculated as the ratio between 

assets and liabilities.  Sberbank banka was  at all days above 
the regulatory 1.00 level.

Local liquidity ratio is from 1 January 2018 onward only a 
recommendation. The bank still calculates and reports it on 
daily basis for informative purposes only.

In 2017, despite a further drop in interest rates, we 
increased short term deposits by introducing new products. 
The increase in short term deposits was partialy due 
to the decrease in long term deposits and mostly due to 
the decrease of sight deposits, which led to an improved 
liquidity structure and more stable liquidity ratios. Also in 
term of volume, deposits grew significantly, which allowed 
us to decrease interbank funding and become almos 
exclusively self-funded.

The concentration of sources was further reduced in 2017 
both by client and by maturity.

The bank calculates also liquidity buffers required to cover 
overdue liabilities in the normal course of business and 
in emergency liquidity situations, in accordance with the 
central bank’s “Regulation on the calculation of capital 
requirements for credit risk under the internal ratings-
based approach” and the Committee of European Banking 
Supervisors’ guidelines. Expected cash-flows are based on 
agreed, budgeted and expected business events. Liquidity 
shortfalls are compared with liquidity buffers in different 
time horizons in the normal course of business (basic 
scenario), emergency liquidity situations (stress scenario) 
and a combined scenario.
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Contractually agreed deadlines
thousand EUR

Carrying 
amount

Gross 
amount

On 
demand

 Up to
3 months

Up to
12 months 

Up to
5 years

Over
5 years

Amounts owed to banks 272,871 280,386 16,001 22,495 87,532 130,077 24,281

Amounts owed to non-banks 1,219,695 1,221,058 581,944 301,812 257,132 78,306 1,864

Subordinated liabilities 60,899 73,903 0 636 3,813 69,454 0

Derivatives (credit/debit) 1,754 1,754 0 391 209 293 861

Unused credit lines 269,250 269,250 269,250 0 0 0 0

31 December 2017

thousand EUR

Carrying 
amount

Gross 
amount

On 
demand

 Up to
3 months

Up to
12 months 

Up to
5 years

Over
5 years

Amounts owed to banks 505,671 513,420 17,022 16,495 264,906 177,927 37,070

Amounts owed to non-banks 1,086,388 1,088,053 527,239 137,168 321,309 100,493 1,843

Subordinated liabilities 60,888 73,884 0 635 3,812 69,437 0

Derivatives (credit/debit) 6,579 6,579 0 3,664 419 997 1,499

Unused credit lines 281,050 281,050 281,050 0 0 0 0

31 December 2016
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31 December 2016 thousand EUR

Financial position in view of liquidity risk
31 December 2017

On 
demand 

Up to
3 months

Up to
12 months

Total up to 
12 months

Up to
5 years

Over
5 years

Total over  
1 year Total

Cash and cash balances 
with central banks 170,655 0 0 170,655 0 0 0 170,655

Loans to and receivables 
from banks 17,798 24,502 0 42,300 0 1,000 1,000 43,300

Loans to and receivables 
from non-banks 50,761 47,988 238,804 337,553 612,615 361,182 973,797 1,311,350

Available-for-sale 
financial assets 16,585 40,011 20,000 76,596 112,605 0 112,605 189,201

Held-to maturity financial 
assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other assets 0 2,227 5,268 7,495 18,859 0 18,859 26,354
Total assets 255,799 114,728 264,072 634,599 744,079 362,182 1,106,261 1,740,860
Deposits and loans from 
banks 16,001 22,230 86,399 124,630 124,174 24,067 148,241 272,871

Deposits and loans from 
non-banks 581,944 301,699 256,642 1,140,285 77,630 1,780 79,410 1,219,695

Subordinated liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 60,899 60,899 60,899
Other liabilities 0 1,754 13,539 15,293 0 0 0 15,293
Equity 0 0 0 0 0 172,102 172,102 172,102
Total liabilities 597,945 325,683 356,580 1,280,208 201,804 258,848 460,652  1,740,860

On 
demand 

Up to
3 months

Up to
12 months

Total up to 
12 months

Up to
5 years

Over
5 years

Total over  
1 year Total

Cash and cash balances 
with central banks 231,421 0 0 231,421 0 0 0 231,421

Loans to and receivables 
from banks 17,704 53,176 30,452 101,332 6,005 5,779 11,784 113,116

Loans to and receivables 
from non-banks 69,846 86,239 180,160 336,245 549,550 335,802 885,352 1,221,597

Available-for-sale 
financial assets 0 30,021 125,313 155,334 49,960 40,658 90,618 245,952

Held-to maturity financial 
assets 0 0 0 0 3,018 0 3,018 3,018

Other assets 0 3,618 8,770 12,388 18,627 0 0 31,015
Total assets 318,971 173,054 344,695 836,720 627,160 382,239 990,772 1,846,119
Deposits and loans from 
banks 17,022 127,678 150,015 294,715 175,189 35,767 210,956 505,671

Deposits and loans from 
non-banks 516,553 147,410 320,761 984,724 99,892 1,772 101,664 1,086,388

Subordinated liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 60,888 60,888 60,888
Other liabilities 0 108 23,968 24,076 0 0 0 24,076
Equity 0 0 0 0 0 169,096 169,096 169,096
Total liabilities 533,575 275,196 494,744 1,303,515 275,081 267,523 542,604 1,846,119

thousand EUR

A significant proportion of liabilities falls due within a one-
year period, represented mainly by inter-bank financing. The 
bank monitors the stability of demand deposits and has a 

credit line available in case of an unexpected drop in these 
deposits.
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3.3 Market risks
 
Market risk is defined as potential losses due to unfavo-
urable changes in market variables (price, interest rate, 
exchange rate). Market risk comprises:

• position risk, which is defined as potential losses due 
to changes in prices of debt instruments, equity instru-
ments, derivative financial instruments or commoditi-
es. The level of position risk depends on price volati-
lity of financial instruments, as well as on the bank’s 
portfolio of financial instruments – its structure and 
liquidity;

• interest rate risk, which is defined as potential losses 
due to unfavourable interest rate movements. Interest 
rate movements have a significant effect on the bank’s 
income and expenses;

• currency risk, which is defined as potential losses due 
to unfavourable exchange rate movements. The level 
of currency risk depends on the open foreign currency 
position, exchange rate volatility and foreign exchange 
market liquidity.

 
The main objective of the bank is to ensure close currency 
matching of on- and off-balance sheet items on the assets 
and liabilities sides while consistently keeping within the 
prescribed maximum net open foreign currency position in 
all currencies and in each currency.

The main objective of the bank’s strategy of interest risk 
management is to have a low interest rate risk exposure.

The bank clearly separates the trading unit and back office, 
both in operational and organisational terms, also at mana-
gerial level. Operational separation of the trading unit from 
its back office requires the bank to have appropriate safety 
and work processes and IT system access rules in place, 
as well as to have the two units physically separated.

3.3.1 Currency risk
Sberbank banka d.d. monitors its currency risk in accor-
dance with the requirements of its parent bank, trying to 
optimise the balance sheet structure within the prescribed 
limits. The main objective of the bank is to ensure close 
currency matching of on- and off-balance sheet items on 
the assets and liabilities sides while consistently complying 

with the maximum net open foreign currency position in all 
currencies and in each currency.

Following a proposal by its asset and liability management 
committee and with the agreement of the Group, the bank 
may decide to have a strategic open foreign currency posi-
tion outside the normal limits.

The bank’s currency risk mainly arises from:
• prompt closing of only major client transactions or cli-

ent transactions that would cause the bank to exceed 
the maximum net open foreign currency position, as 
closing of smaller client transactions on a transaction-
-by-transaction basis would be cost-inefficient in all 
circumstances except for those of high exchange rate 
volatility;

• bank’s own position, i.e. its own account trading;
• transactions with a foreign exchange (mainly CHF) 

indexation clause, the prompt closing of which is not 
possible due to limited liquidity.

 
In accordance with the Capital Requirements Regulation, 
the bank treats assets/liabilities denominated in a foreign 
currency and those with a foreign exchange indexation cla-
use equally, i.e. as foreign currency-denominated. To cal-
culate the net open position by currency, the bank sums 
separately all long positions in a currency and all short posi-
tions in a currency. The higher of the two totals is the bank’s 
net open position in that currency and thus also the basis 
for the calculation of capital requirements for currency risk. 
Currency risk (net open foreign currency position) is moni-
tored by the Financial Markets area, while the Risk Mana-
gement department (Market and Operational Risks) reports 
on such risks. Risk is monitored based on real-time data, 
while reports are made based on bookkeeping values.

In managing currency risk, the bank takes into account the 
limits prescribed by the parent bank. The central bank li-
mits currency risk only indirectly, namely with capital requi-
rements for currency risk. The bank itself may at any time 
adopt even stricter limits. Under its current methodology, 
the total net open foreign currency position is defined as 
the higher of the totals of its (a) long and (b) short positi-
ons, whereby the bank treats in the same manner assets/
liabilities denominated in a foreign currency and those with 
a foreign exchange indexation clause.
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Financial position in view of currency risk
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
ASSETS 1,740,860 1,846,119

 - EUR 1,525,432 1,808,479

 - foreign currencies 215,428 37,640

LIABILITIES 1,740,860 1,846,119
 - EUR 1,550,335 1,717,588

 - foreign currencies 190,525 128,531

3.3.2 Interest rate risk

The main objective of the bank’s strategy of interest rate risk 
management is to have a low interest rate risk exposure. 
This strategy is reflected in the bank’s decision-making and 
monitoring systems in the field of interest rate risk.

To assess interest rate risk, the bank assesses the following 
sources of this risk:
• the risk arising from maturity mismatch of the bank’s 

assets and liabilities that are interest rate-sensitive (re-
pricing risk);

• the risk of changes in the slope and shape of the 
yield curve, which can affect the bank’s income or the 
underlying economic value (yield curve risk);

• the risk arising from the imperfect correlation between 

interest rates applying to different instruments with 
otherwise similar re-pricing characteristics (basis risk);

• the risk arising from the options embedded in many 
of the bank’s assets and liabilities that are interest 
rate-sensitive. Formally, an option provides the holder 
the right, but not the obligation, to buy, sell, or repay/
withdraw early such interest rate-sensitive items.

The bank measures its interest rate exposure by estimating 
the changes in economic value of its capital. The calculation 
is based on the interest rate gap report, on the estimated 
impact on profit and on the estimated basis risk. This is 
done on a monthly basis, when a report for the asset and 
liability management committee is prepared. This committee 
is responsible for controlling the interest rate risk and 

Sensitivity analysis for currency risk
2017 2016

End-of-year 1,435 908

Average for the period 1,462 1,206

Standard deviation for the period 328 334

Maximum for the period 2,327 1,926

Minimum for the period 456 547

thousand EUR

Net open foreign currency position was between EUR 456 
thousand and EUR 2,327 thousand in 2017, while on average 

it stood at EUR 1.462 thousand, with the standard deviation 
being EUR 328 thousand.

Market and Liquidity risk department monitors and calcula-
tes the open currency risk position on a daily basis, where 
internal limits are set for each currency separately and in to-

tal. The total OCP is calculated as the sum total of absolute 
values, which are the basis for P&L and FX VaR calculation. 
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thousand EUR

Sensitivity analysis of capital (200 bps shift)
31.12.2017 31.12.2016

200 bps shift YE result  7,025  2,414

Average for the period  3,674 4,384

Maximum for the period  7,025 9,788

Minimum for the period  455 731

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

100 bps shift YE result  2,394 5,153

Average for the period 2,403 2,773

Maximum for the period 3,559 5,153

Minimum for the period 1,104 1,118

Sensitivity anaylsis of income statement (100 bps shift)

for making decisions about the level of interest rate risk 
assumed. Interest rate risk exposure and measurement, as 
well as appropriate measures to be adopted if necessary, are 
laid down in the bank’s guidelines applying to interest rate 
risk management.

The asset and liability management committee is responsible 
for controlling the interest rate risk and for making decisions 

about the level of interest rate risk assumed. It approves the 
bank’s policy based mainly on variable-rate instruments, as 
well as decides on measures to be taken in the case of an 
excess exposure to the interest rate risk. The bank’s own 
limits applying to its interest rate exposure are determined 
together with the parent bank. Before launching a new 
product, the bank also checks its effect on the interest rate 
risk.

thousand EUR
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Exposure to interest rate risk
31 December 2017

Total At sight Up to 3 
months

From  
3 months to 

1 year

From 1 to  
5 years

Over 5 
years

Cash and balances with central bank 231,421 231,421 0 0 0 0

Loans to banks 113,116 17,703 58,956 30,452 6,005 0

Loans to non-banks 1,221,597 13,224 593,934 522,963 77,467 14,009

Available-for-sale financial assets 245,952 0 245,952 0 0 0

Held-to-maturity financial assets 3,018 0 0 0 3,018 0

Loans and deposists from banks 505,671 17,022 215,539 169,904 103,206 0

Deposits from –non-banks 1,086,388 516,143 137,007 334,365 98,353 520

Subordinated liabilities 60,888 0 0 0 0 60,888

GAP -270,817 546,296 49,146 -115,069 -47,399

thousand EUR

31 December  2016

Total At sight Up to 3 
months

From  
3 months to 

1 year

From 1 to  
5 years

Over 5 
years

Cash and balances with central bank 170,655 170,655 0 0 0 0

Loans to banks 43,300 17,798 25,502 0 0 0

Loans to non-banks 1,311,350 2,838 582,536 615,974 79,123 30,879

Available-for-sale financial assets 189,201 0 189,201 0 0 0

Held-to-maturity financial assets 0 0 0 0 0 0

Loans and deposists from banks 272,871 15,963 20,030 173,878 63,000 0

Deposits from –non-banks 1,219,695 581,788 301,697 259,271 76,411 528

Subordinated liabilities 60,899 0 0 0 0 60,899

GAP -406,460 475,512 182,825 -60,288 -30,548

thousand EUR
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3.4 Operational risk
Operational risk is defined as potential losses due to the 
following:
• inappropriateness or incorrect implementation of the 

bank’s internal processes;
• other inappropriate acts of the bank’s employees;
• inappropriateness or incorrect functioning of the bank’s 

internal systems;
• external events or acts.

Operational risk also includes the next sub-categories:
• information technology risk and cyber risk, which 

is defined as potential losses due to inappropriate 
IT technology and processing, mainly in terms of 
manageability, accesses, integration, control and 
continuity;

• legal risk, which is defined as potential losses due 
to non-compliance with or improper application of 
laws, executive acts, instructions, recommendations, 
contracts, good banking practice or ethical norms;

• compliance risk (including conduct risk), which is the 
risk of legal sanctions or sanctions by regulatory bodies, 
financial loss, unplanned expenses or loss of reputation 
as a result of non-compliance with laws, instructions, 
rules, policies/standards of the organisation or codes 
of conduct. Conduct risk is defined as the current or 
prospective risk of loss to an institution arising from 
inappropriate supply of financial services including 
cases of wilful or negligent misconduct;

• reputational risk, which refers to the potential adverse 
effects that can arise from the bank’s reputation 
deviating negatively from its expected level;

• regulatory risk, which is the risk that a change in 
laws and regulations will materially impact the Bank’s 
operations;

• model risk, which arises from the uncertainty (errors) 
of model results (including risk estimation models, 
security costs and financial estimation tools), including 
the risk of model features changing with time;

• outsourcing risk - outsourcing means an arrangement 
of any form between a credit institution and a service 
provider by which that service provider performs a 
process, a service or an activity which would otherwise 
be undertaken by the credit institution itself. 

The most important factors affecting the operational risk 
are:
• people: their culture, ethics, motivation, knowledge, 

skills, etc.;
• processes: their design, implementation, clarity, 

appropriateness, controls, objectives, communication;
• systems: their appropriateness, safety, availability, etc.;
• environment: any undesired or unexpected changes, 

crime, accidents, extraordinary events.

The main objective of the bank’s strategy of operational risk 
management is to minimise potential and actual operational 
losses. The bank’s Management Board is expected to 
adopt an active approach to operational risk management, 
which includes raising awareness of such risk within the 
bank, promoting transparency, and evidencing of actual 
and potential losses.

As regards capital requirements for operational risk, the 
bank uses the standardised approach.

Using the loss events database, the bank analyses the 
causes of actual material losses arising from operational 
risk. It also uses quarterly yearly Risk & Control Self-
Assessment to identify and assess possible material 
operational risk. The bank monthly controls the Key Risk 
Indicators, which showed a low and acceptable level in 
2017. The definition of the term “major losses arising from 
operational risk” is laid down in the guidelines applying to 
operational risk management.

Any major losses and exposures associated with operational 
risk are reported to the bank’s senior management, including 
the bank’s Management Board. The latter decides what 
additional measures, if any, should be taken to manage 
operational risk, as well as the deadlines and persons 
responsible. The implementations of such measures is then 
monitored by the operational risk unit.

Losses arising from operational risk events in 2017 were 
EUR 113,414. After recoveries and other reductions, their 
net effect was EUR 99,125.

Implementation and documentation of internal controls is a 
part of operational risk management. This is done with the 
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3.5 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Carrying  
amount

Fair  
value

Carrying  
amount

Fair  
value

Loans and advances to banks 43,300 43,300 113,116 113,116

Loans and advances to non-banks 1,311,350 1,311,533 1,221,597 1,221,693

       Short-term 118,544 118,587 125,155 125,155

       Long-term 1,192,806 1,192,946 1,096,442 1,096,538

Available-for-sale financial assets 189,201 189,201 245,952 245,952

Held-to-maturity financial assets 0 0 3,018 2,694

Deposits from banks 62,270 62,270 160,820 160,820

Loans from banks 210,604 210,604 344,850 344,850

Deposits from non-banks 1,212,307 1,212,307 1,074,915 1,074,915

In 2017, the fair value of long-term loans was above their 
carrying amount. This is explained with the drop in market 
interest rates: e.g., the three-month Euribor was -0.319% at 
year-end 2016 and -0.329% at year-end 2017. Consequently, 
the fair value of long-term loans with a fixed interest rate 
increased and was above their carrying amount as at year-
end 2017.

The fair value of financial assets held to maturity was 
estimated based on the fair value of Level 1 assets (i.e. the 
market value of bonds). No other financial assets and liabilities 
in the statement of financial position are carried at fair value. 
The fair value is determined based on the fair value of Level 2 
assets (use of market indicators: interest rates).

thousand EUR

integrated BART tool used for operational risk identification, 
assessment, analysis, monitoring and reporting. Internal 
controls are defined in great detail by the responsible heads 
of divisions/services who receive automatic reminders at 
specified intervals to check whether and how such internal 

controls are being carried out by their subordinates. There 
are 93 management controls covering all important bank 
processes. They are carried out periodically, as required. 
In 2017, they were performed 225 times, this represents a 
100% achievement of the plan).
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thousand EUR

thousand EUR

Fair value hiearchy as at 31 December 2017

Fair value hiearchy as at 31 December 2016

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and balances with central bank 170,655   170,655

Loans to banks  43,300 43,300
Loans to non-bank customers   1,311,533 1,311,533
Other financial assets   2,448 2,448
Held-to maturity investments 0  0
Available-for-sale financial assets 189,201 189,201
Financial assets held for trading  2,211  2,211
Investment property 9,417 9,417
Total assets 359,856 11,628 1,357,281 1,558,110
Deposits from banks and central banks 62,270 62,270
Deposits from non-bank customers  1,212,307 1,212,307
Loans from banks and central banks  210,604 210,604
Loans from non-bank customers  0 0
Debt instruments  10,001 10,001
Other financial liabilities  7,388 7,388
Financial liabilities held for trading  1,754  1,754
Total Liabilities 1,754 1,502,570 1,504,324

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash and balances with central banks 231,421   231,421
Loans to banks  113,116 113,116
Loans to non-banks   1,221,693 1,221,693
Other financial assets   2,058 2,058
Held-to maturity financial assets 2,694  2,694
Available-for-sale financial assets 245,952 245,952
Financial assets held for trading  6,984  6,984
Investment property 8,608 8,608
Total assets 480,067 15,592 1,336,867 1,832,526
Deposits from banks and central banks 160,820 160,820
Deposits from non-banks  1,074,915 1,074,915
Loans from banks and central banks  344,850 344,850
Loans from non-banks  
Debt instruments  15,004 15,004
Other financial liabilities  11,473 11,473
Financial liabilities held for trading  6,579  6,579
Total liabilities 6,579 1,607,062 1,613,641
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3.6 Capital management
The bank must, in accordance with the central bank’s 
regulations and the Banking Act (ZBan-2) and EU regulations 
(the Capital Requirements Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 
and the Capital Requirements Directive (2013/36/EU), at 
all times ensure an adequate structure and amount of its 
capital in respect of the size and type of services it provides 
and in respect of the risks to which it is exposed thereby. 
For this purpose, the bank has prepared internal monitoring 
processes to ensure that its capital complies with all statutory 
requirements (in terms of structure and amount). By regularly 
monitoring its capital amount, capital requirements and 
capital adequacy, the bank ensures the following:

• that its original own funds always amount to at least 
2/3 of its total capital, and that its subordinated debt 
included in additional own funds does not exceed 50% 
of its original own funds (and that if it does, the excessive 
amount is not used to cover capital requirements);

• that its capital always at least equals the sum of capital 
requirements under the first pillar of Basel II (associated 
with credit, market and operational risks) and the second 
pillar of Basel II within the ICAAP process;

• that its capital adequacy ratio is at least 13.25%;
• that the capital adequacy ratio of internal capital 

(regulatory capital + profit for the current year) to capital 
requirements under the second pillar always amounts 
to at least 8%;

• that the Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio is at least 11.25%;
• that the structure of its operations is optimal in respect 

of the level of risk assumed and the profitability required;
• that its claims are secured by collateral that reduces 

the risk level and at the same time guarantees debt 
repayment within the shortest time possible.

The bank regularly reports to the regulator and to the 
parent bank (in accordance with the Group’s guidelines) 
on its compliance with the capital adequacy and capital 
requirements regulations.

Once a year (upon preparation of the annual business plan), 
the bank also prepares a plan aimed at maintaining an 
adequate structure and amount of capital in view of the size 
and type of services it provides as well as in respect of the 
risks to which it is exposed and in respect of stress test results 
thereby. This plan also allows the bank to obtain capital in the 
market when the conditions are most favourable.

Said plan aimed at maintaining an adequate amount of 
capital comprises:
• one-year-ahead projections of capital requirements and 

bank’s position, based on the relevant business plan;
• a projection of the largest scope of its operations based 

on capital projection;
• the amount, quality and sources of additional capital, if 

needed;
• an assessment of availability of external sources of 

capital;
• an assessment of financial consequences of a possible 

increase in capital;
• the effects on capital of possible changes in the bank’s 

business, operational and financial position;
• overview by maturity of debt and hybrid instruments 

acquired.
 
The factors that might affect the bank’s need for additional 
capital are the following:
• legislation/regulatory changes;
• an increase in the capital adequacy level by the central 

bank;

In accordance with IFRS 7 and IFRS 13, the bank classified 
the fair value measurements in the following levels of fair 
value hierarchy:

Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 
and liabilities;

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within 
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e. as prices on less active markets) or indirectly 

(i.e. derived from quoted prices and prices on less active 
markets);

Level 3 – investments where fair value is determined based 
on valuation models that take into account subjective 
variables that are not publicly available to the markets.

There were no transfersa between Level 1 and Level 2 
assets in 2017 and 2016.
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Capital adequacy as at 31 December
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
CORE CAPITAL (TIER I) 165,256 164,327
Subscribed capital 133,140 133,140
Capital reserves 27,248 27,248
Deductions from tier I:
  Reserves and retained earnings 8,709 7,603
  Intangible assets -1,655 -1,211
  Revaluation reserves -2,186 -2,453
ADDITIONAL CAPITAL (TIER II) 45,032 57,176
Hybrid instruments and cumulative preference shares 0 0
Subordinated loan 45,032 57,176
DEDUCTIONS FROM TIER I AND TIER II 0 0
Investments in other credit or financial institutions (exceeding 10% of their capital) 0 0
BANK’S OWN FUNDS (for solvency purposes) 210,289 221,502
Capital requirement for credit risk (standardised approach) 81.527 89.309
Central governments 148 168
Regional governments or local authorities 35 44
Public sector entities 75 104
Institutions 2,202 1,286
Corporates 35,134 43,666
Retail 19,801 17,904
Secured by real estate property 12,720 10,824
Past-due items 9,195 11,067
Items belonging to regulatory high-risk categories 116 197
Covered bonds 160 1,995
Other items 1,942 2,054
Capital requirement for commodities risk 0 31
Capital requirement for credit valuation adjustment 458 595
Capital requirement for operational risk (standardised approach) 6,547 6,329
Capital requirement for traded debt instruments (standardised approach) 103 562

Total capital requirement 88,636 96,826

Capital adequacy ratio (%): bank's own funds / (total capital requirement / 0.08) 18.98 % 18.30 %
Tier I ratio (%): Tier I / (total capital requirement / 0.08) 14.92 % 13.58 %

• an extraordinary/unplanned increase in provisions;
• an increase in the on- and off-balance sheet transactions;
• an increase in capital requirements for operational risk;
• an increase in capital requirements for other risks 

(identified within the ICAAP process);

• an increase in the required financing of individual debtors;
• changes in the structure of risks assumed by the bank;
• shortfall of capital after stress test;
• possible losses from operations;
• changes in the dividend policy.
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4.  Cash, cash balances at central banks and other 
 demand deposits at banks

thousand EUR

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
EUR foreign currencies EUR foreign currencies

Cash on hand 2,796 853 3,211 835
Cash balances at central bank 144,921 0 185,472 0
Other demand deposits at banks 13,874 8,210 37,149 4,754
Total 161,591 9,063 225,832 5,589
Total (EUR and foreign currencies)             170,655              231,421

As at year-end 2017, other demand deposits at banks 
amounted to EUR 22,084 thousand. Cash balances at 
central bank amounted to EUR 144,921 thousand.

The bank’s obligatory reserve requirement was on average 
EUR 10,031,319 in 2017 (2016: EUR 9,281,644).

5. Financial assets held for trading
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Exchange rate-related transactions 605 3,799
Interest rate-related transactions 1,607 3,110
Others 0 75
Financial assets held for trading 2,211 6,984

The reason for the decrease in assets held for trading in 
2017 is primarily in the drop in the derivatives portfolio’s 

market value, which did not affect the portfolio’s profitability.

6.  Available-for-sale financial assets – non-marketable 
 and marketable

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
 Equity securities: non-marketable 16,571 16,385
 Debt securities: marketable 172,616 229,567
TOTAL 189,201 245,952

As at year-end 2017, the bank had EUR 146.3 million of first-
class securities in the pool of the Bank of Slovenia, and EUR 
90.6 million of loans with first-class insurance. These assets 
are ready to cover any regulatory pledging needs, to secure 
payment transactions and to ensure the bank’s secondary 
liquidity.

As at year-end 2017, there were EUR 103.3 million of 
eligible loans and securities pledged for the ECB’s longer-
term funding, EUR 11.5 million of securities pledged with the 
Slovenian Resolution Fund, and EUR 0.3 million of securities 
pledged with the Deposit Guarantee Scheme. In addition, 
EUR 16 million were pledged for SEPA payments.

thousand EUR
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The Bank of Slovenia established a special fund for bank 
resolution at the end of March 2015 pursuant to the Bank 
Resolution Authority and Fund Act (Official Gazette of the 
Republic of Slovenia, No. 97/14). The fund is financed by 
contributions from banks and savings banks established in 

Slovenia. The fund’s assets will be used for financing the 
resolution of banks within the framework of the extraordinary 
measures that can be imposed by the Bank of Slovenia. In 
accordance with said Act, the Fund will cease operations on 
31 December 2024.

6.1 Shares and interests at fair value – non-marketable

6.2 Shares and interests at cost – non-marketable

thousand EUR

thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Shares at fair value of non financial institutions 230 0
Slovenian Resolution Fund 16,341 16,361
TOTAL 16,571 16,361

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Bankart, d.o.o., Ljubljana 11 11
SWIFT Belgium 3 3
Credit bureau SISBON, Ljubljana 0 10
TOTAL 14 24

6.3 Available-for-sale debt securities – marketable

thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
  Bonds issued by the Republic of Slovenia 144,705 149,596
  Bonds issued by other EU governments 17,900 30,098
  Bonds issued by local banks 0 0
  Bonds issued by foreign banks 10,011 49,873
Total available-for-sale debt securities 172,616 229,567

Structure by issuer

Structure by listed-unlisted thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Listed 172,616 229,567
  Bonds 172,616 229,567
  Other 0 0
Total 172,616 229,567

Fair value measurement thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Cost 169,643 227,362
Interest (receivables, accruals) 2,679 1,842
Change in fair value 294 363
Carrying amount 172,616 229,567



88 SBERBANK SI  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2017

7. Loans
 thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
- debt securities 0 0
- loans to banks 43,300 113,116
- loans to non-banks 1,311,350 1,221,597
- advances 2,448 2,058
TOTAL 1,357,098 1,336,771

7.1 Debt securities
In 2017, the bank did not have debt securities that would 
classify as loans.

7.2 Loans to banks
 thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Short-term 38,798 96,666
EUR 38,798 93,533
Foreign currency 0 3,133
Long-term 4,502 16,450
EUR 4,502 16,450
Foreign currency 0 0
Total loans to banks 43,300 113,116

Structure by geographic area
 thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Slovenia 17,798 20,834
Other countries 25,502 92,282
TOTAL 43,300 113,116

Structure by maturity
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7.3 Loans to non-banks

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Short-term Long-term Short-term Long-term

EUR 145,992 1,197,937 153,610 1,090,972
General government 534 102,022 700 2,326
Other financial corporations 3,836 7,055 4,290 5,865
Non-financial corporations 122,484 670,400 134,246 710,058
Households 19,138 418,461 14,374 372,723
- private individuals 17,186 382,468 10,298 330,190
- self-employed 1,796 32,214 2,750 35,531

- non-profit service providers 156 3,778 1,326 7,002

Foreign currencies 3,534 40,826 4,578 51,618
General government 0 150 0 245
Other financial corporations 0 0 0 0
Non-financial corporations 2,355 4,227 3,291 5,393
Households 1,179 36,448 1,287 45,979
- private individuals 1,179 36,301 1,287 45,798
- self-employed 0 148 0 180
- non-profit service providers 0 0 0 1
Total gross loans to non-banks 149,526 1,238,762 158,188 1,142,590
Provisions -30,982 -45,956 -33,032 -46,148
Total net loans to non-banks 118,543 1,192,806 125,155 1,096,441
Total loans to non-banks 1,311,350 1,221,597

Structure by client

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
General government 102,697 3,254

Other financial corporations 10,670 8,680

Non-financial corporations 732,117 784,431

Households 465,865 425,232

- private individuals 428,975 380,546

- self-employed 33,196 36,648

- non-profit service providers 3,695 8,037

Total loans to non-banks 1,311,350 1,221,597

Structure by sector
 thousand EUR

 thousand EUR
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First-class collateral

thousand EUR
First-class collateral as at year-end 2017 by loan risk grade:

A B C D E P Total
Bank deposits 8,638 85 230 0 19 311 9,283

Guarantees from the government 132,588 503 958 0 142 988 135,179

Guarantees from first-class foreign banks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Securities of first-class banks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 141,226 588 1,188 0 161 1,299 144,462

First-class collateral as at year-end 2016 by loan risk grade:

A B C D E P Total
Bank deposits 12,037 909 38 0 19 340 13,343

Guarantees from the government 25,058 226 54 144 0 998 26,480

Guarantees from first-class foreign banks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Securities of first-class banks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 37,095 1,135 92 144 19 1,338 39,823

thousand EUR

Eligible collateral – mortgage

As at 31 December 2017, the bank had EUR 769,315 
thousand of loans insured by means of mortgages in its 
gross loan portfolio.

As at 31 December 2016, the bank had EUR 766,909 
thousand of loans insured by means of mortgages in its 
gross loan portfolio.
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Impairment allowances

thousand EUR

thousand EUR

Movements in impairment allowances in 2017:

Movements in impairment allowances in 2016:

Loans to non-banks
1 January 79,183

Share of impairment allowances in gross loans (%) 6.09

Formed 22,823

Released -25,031

31 December 76,975
Share of impairment allowances in gross loans (%) 5.54

Loans to non-banks
1 January 72,358

Share of impairment allowances in gross loans (%) 5.36

Formed 29,419

Released -22,594

31 December 79,183
Share of impairment allowances in gross loans (%) 6.09

7.4 Other financial assets
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016     
 Trade receivables 33 14
 Receivables of other support activities 851 1,610
 Other financial assets 1,564 434
Total 2,448 2,058
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8. Held-to-maturity debt securities

thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
  Bonds – banks 0 3,018
  Bonds – non-financial corporations 0 0
Total 0 3,018

Structure by sector

thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Listed 0 3,018
  Bonds issued by ÖVAG 0 3,018
  Bonds issued by others 0 0
Total 0 3,018

In 2017, the bank sold held-to-maturity debt securities. 

Structure by listed-unlisted
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9.  Property, plant and equipment, investment 
 property and intangible assets
Movements in property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets in 2017

In 2017, the bank used certain 100% amortised intangible 
assets (with a cost of EUR 1,076 thousand). At year-end 

2017, the bank did not have property, plant and equipment 
assets pledged as collateral.

Invest-
ment 

property

Total 
invest- 

ment  
property

Land 
and

build- 
ings

Equip-
ment

Assets 
under 

con-
-struc-

-tion

Total 
Tangible 

assets

Intan-
gible 

assets

Intan-
gible 

assets in 
prepara-

tion

Total in-
-tangible 

assets
Grand 

Total
Initial cost
Balance  
1 Jan 2017 8,608 8,608 7,743 8,130 47 15,920 2,815 234 3,049 27,577

Additions 8,677 8,677 15 267 297 579 455 911 1,366 10,622

Disposals -7,711 -7,711 0 -662 -281 -943 -101 -455 -556 -9,210

Revaluation -158 -158 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -158

Balance  
31 Dec 2017 9,416 9,416 7,758 7,735 63 15,556 3,169 690 3,859 28,831

 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance  
1 Jan 2017 0 0 2,325 5,263 0 7,588 1,838 0 1,838 9,426

Accumulated  
depreciation 0 0 177 816 0 993 467 0 467 1,460

Sales 0 0 0 6 0 6 0 0 0 6

Disposals 0 0 0 -662 0 -662 -101 0 -101 -763

Balance  
31 Dec 2017 0 0 2,502 5,423 0 7,925 2,204 0 2,204 10,129

Carrying amount
31 Dec 2016 8,608 8,608 5,418 2,867 47 8,332 977 234 1,211 18,151
31 Dec 2017 9,416 9,416 5,256 2,312 63 7,631 965 690 1,655 18,702

thousand EUR
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Movements in property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets in 2016

In 2016, the bank used certain 100% amortised intangible 
assets (with a cost of EUR 1,149 thousand). At year-end 

2016, the bank did not have property, plant and equipment 
assets pledged as collateral.

thousand EUR

10. Long-term investments in subsidiaries
Long-term investments in Group members as at 31 December 2017

Investment 
amount

Participation 
percentage

Voting rights 
percentage

Subscribed 
capital

Profit for the 
year

Privatinvest, d.o.o., Ljubljana 963 100 100 1,267 -52
Total 963 1,267 -52

thousand EUR

Invest-
ment 

property

Total 
invest-

ment 
property

Land 
and 

buil-
dings

Equip-
ment

Assets 
under 

con-
struc- 

tion

Total 
Tangible 

assets

Intan-
gible 

assets

Intan- 
gible 

assets in 
prepara-

tion

Total in-
tangible 

assets
Grand 

Total
Initial cost
Balance 1 Jan 2016 12,427 12,427 7,734 7,965 87 15,786 2,265 230 2,495 30,708
Additions 941 941 9 387 352 748 660 669 1,329 3,018

Disposals -4,564 -4,564 0 -222 -392 -614 -110 -665 -775 -5,953

Revaluation -196 -196 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -196

Balance 31 Dec 2016 8,608 8,608 7,743 8,130 47 15,920 2,815 234 3,049 27,577
 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance 1 Jan 2016 0 0 2,148 4,658 0 6,806 1,666 0 1,666 8,472
Accumulated  
depreciation 0 0 177 826 0 1,003 282 0 282 1,285

Sales 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1

Disposals 0 0 0 -222 0 -222 -110 0 -110 -332

Balance 31 Dec 2016 0 0 2,325 5,263 0 7,588 1,838 0 1,838 9,426

Carrying amount
31 Dec 2015 12,427 12,427 5,586 3,307 87 8,980 599 230 829 22,236
31 Dec 2016 8,608 8,608 5,418 2,867 47 8,332 977 234 1,211 18,151
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Long-term investments in Group members as at 31 December 2016

Investment 
amount

Participation 
percentage

Voting rights 
percentage

Subscribed 
capital

Profit for the 
year

Privatinvest, d.o.o., Ljubljana 1,015 100 100 1,267 -116
Total 1,015 1,267 -116

thousand EUR

In 2017, the bank depreciated its long term investment in the 
Privatinvest subsidiary in an amount of EUR 52 thousand.

As at year-end 2017, the subsidiary’s balance sheet total 
was EUR 3,839,007.50 (2016: EUR 3,906,145.20). The 
main activity of Privatinvest is acting as real estate agency / 
intermediary (activity code 68.310).

Due to its insignificance for the bank’s financial position 
(the subsidiary’s balance sheet total representing only 
0.20% of the bank’s balance sheet total), Privatinvest was 
excluded from consolidation in accordance with Article 56 of 
Companies Act.

Article 7(5) of the “Regulation on the supervision of banks 
and savings banks on a consolidated basis” allows that 
a subsidiary is excluded from consolidation, provided 
its balance sheet total does not exceed 1% of the bank’s 
balance sheet total or EUR 10 million in absolute terms. 
Sberbank banka d.d. informed the Bank of Slovenia of 
exclusion of Privatinvest from consolidation.

The bank meets the IAS 27 criteria regarding the exception 
from consolidation. The company is consolidated by 
Sberbank Europe AG.

11. Tax assets
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
TAX ASSETS 816 877

Current tax assets 67 36

Deferred tax assets 749 841

Current tax assets represent excess advance payments of 
corporate income tax.

Deferred tax assets arise from non-deductible provisions 
for employee benefits, actuarial losses on pension plan 
provisions, tax loss for the previous period, valuation of 
available-for-sale securities, and impairment of capital 

investment. Compared to 2016, they decreased mainly due 
to covering a tax loss from preceding tax periods. 

The time in which the bank may use tax losses is not limited 
in accordance with Article 36 of the Corporate Income Tax 
Act (ZDDPO-2).
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Movements in deferred taxes in 2017 and 2016

Movements in deferred taxes in year 2017 by type of assets and liabilities

Opening balance
Through  

profit or loss

Through 
comprehensive 

income Closing balance

31 Dec 2017 756 -78 -4 674

31 Dec 2016 817 18     -75 756

thousand EUR

Deferred taxes are shown net, as the difference between 
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities.

Deferred taxes from security valuation
thousand EUR

thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Net deferred taxes -73 -85

Valuation to fair value 385 449

Revaluation reserve 312 364
Deferred taxes – shown as changes in comprehensive income -158 -85

1 January 31 December

Deferred tax assets– provisions for pensions 172 167

Deferred tax assets –provisions for anniversary bonuses 12 12

Deferred tax assets – loss from previous years 543 445

Deferred tax assets – valuation of securities available for sale 0 1

Deferred tax assets – impairment of capital investment 114 124

Total long term deferred tax assets 841 749
Deferred tax liabilities – securities available for sale 85 75

Total long term deferred tax liabilities 85 75
TOTAL DEFERRED TAXES 756 674
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12. Other assets
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
 Receivables for advances 601 1,716

 Inventories 78 66

 Receivables for taxes, contributions and other duties 95 14

 Capitalised deferred expenses and accrued income 440 134

Total 1,214 1,930

13. Financial liabilities from derivatives (held for trading)
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Exchange rate-related derivatives 606 3,796
Interest rate-related derivatives 1,147 2,715
Commodity options 0 67
Financial liabilities held for trading 1,754 6,579

As of 13 December 2014, in accordance with the “Regulation 
on the books of account and annual reports of banks and 
savings banks”, the layout of financial statements was 

made compliant with the Implementing Technical Standards 
on Supervisory Reporting and FINREP. 

14. Financial liabilities at amortised cost

thousand EUR

14.1 Deposits from banks and central banks
Structure by type, currency and maturity

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Demand deposits 16,001 17,022
  - EUR 15,979 17,009
  - Foreign currencies 22 13
Deposits with agreed maturity 46,268 143,798
Short-term 45,066 33,797
  - EUR 45,066 30,002
  - Foreign currencies 0 3,795
Long-term 1,202 110,001
  - EUR 1,202 110,001
Total 62,270 160,820
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14.2 Deposits from non-banks

thousand EUR
Structure by type, currency and maturity

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016

 EUR Foreign 
currency Skupaj EUR Foreign 

currency Total

Demand deposits 564,391 12,509 576,900 505,441 10,691 516,132
General governments 74 41 115 82 201 283
Other financial corporations 16,147 0 16,147 5,302 0 5,302
Non-financial corporations 316,031 6,189 322,220 282,870 4,867 287,737
Households 232,139 6,279 238,418 217,188 5,623 222,811
- private individuals 214,140 5,452 219,592 201,991 5,089 207,080
- self-employed 12,319 3 12,322 9,480 34 9,514
- non-profit service providers 5,680 824 6,504 5,717 500 6,216
Deposits with agreed maturity 635,154 253 635,407 556,515 2,267 558,783
Short-term deposits 339,361 94 339,455 227,499 561 228,061
General government 39,026 0 39,026 65,314 0 65,314
Other financial corporations 29,627 0 29,627 25,489 0 25,489
Non-financial corporations 189,846 0 189,846 128,683 433 129,116
Households 80,862 94 80,956 8,014 128 8,142
- private individuals 78,563 94 78,657 7,123 128 7,252
- self-employed 41 0 41 6 0 6
- non-profit service providers 2,257 0 2,257 885 0 885
Long-term deposits 295,794 159 295,952 329,016 1,706 330,722
General government 92,506 0 92,506 94,287 0 94,287
Other financial corporations 28,284 0 28,284 38,253 0 38,253
Non-financial corporations 126,919 0 126,919 106,747 0 106,747
Households 48,084 159 48,242 89,729 1,706 91,435
- private individuals 44,066 159 44,224 83,701 1,706 85,407
- self-employed 40 0 40 6 0 6
- non-profit service providers 3,977 0 3,977 6,022 0 6,022
Total deposits from non-banks 1,199,545 12,762 1,212,307 1,061,957 12,958 1,074,915
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14.3 Loans from banks
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Total loans from banks 210,610 344,850

Long-term loans from banks 210,610 344,850
 - EUR 210,610 233,108

 - Foreign currencies 0 111,742

Structure by type, currency and maturity

14.4 Loans from non-banks
In 2017, the bank did not have loans from non-banks.

14.5 Debt instruments

14.6 Subordinated liabilities

thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Subordinated liabilities to non-residents in EUR 60,899 60,888

Total 60,899 60,888

The bank paid EUR 2,396 thousand of interest in 2017 
(2016: EUR 2,448 thousand) on its subordinated liabilities.

The bank, in accordance with Article 63 of the Regulation 
(EU) No. 575/2013, meets the conditions for the inclusion 
of subordinated debt in additional capital on the basis of a 
subordinated debt contract with the European Investment 
Fund (in the amount of EUR 8.75 million) and another with 
Sberbank Europe AG (in the amount of EUR 52 million). 

The contractual maturity is over 5 years and one day, the 
debt will not be repaid early due to special circumstances, 
and the debt is subordinated to the liabilities to ordinary 
creditors and to the liabilities related to subordinated debt 
that is included in additional capital. The subordinated debt 
is not secured or covered by a guarantee of the bank or its 
related party or any other form of arrangement that legally 
or economically enhances the seniority of the claim.

Structure

Debt securities 31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Short term debt securities to banks 10,001 13,002

Long term debt securities to banks 0 2,001

Total 10,001 15,003

thousand EUR
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15. Long-term provisions

thousand EUR

Structure

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Pending lawsuits 79 80

Employee benefits 1,530 1,465

Off-balance sheet liabilities 931 585

Other provisions 10 0

Total 2,550 2,130

As at 31 December 2017, the pending lawsuits in which 
the bank acted as defendant amounted to EUR 11,329 
thousand (2016: EUR 11,705 thousand). Provisions set 
aside by the bank for this purpose were EUR 79 thousand 

(2016: EUR 80 thousand). The Management Board is of 
the opinion that the provisions are sufficient in view of the 
potential future liabilities arising from such lawsuits.

thousand EUR

Movements

Off-balance 
sheet 

liabilities
Employee 

benefits Other
Pending 
lawsuits Total

1 January 585 1,465 0 80 2,130

Increases 1,136 190 10 0 1,336

Decreases -790 -125 0 -1 -916

31 December 932 1,530 10 79 2,550

Movements in 2017

14.7 Other financial liabilities
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Liabilities to suppliers 1,449 1,667

Liabilities from card business 1,618 1,543

Liabilities for unprocessed payments 731 4,701

Liabilities from salaries, taxes and contributions 1,115 1,053

Accrued expenses and deferred income 1,936 1,399

Other financial liabilities 539 1,109

Total 7,388 11,473
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thousand EUR

Off-balance 
sheet 

liabilities
Employee 

benefits Other
Pending 
lawsuits Total

1 January 362 1,294 0 74 1,730

Increases 3,147 218 5 17 3,387

Decreases -2,924 -47 -5 -11 -2,987

31 December 585 1,465 0 80 2,130

Movements in 2016

16. Tax liabilities
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
TAX LIABILITIES 148 85

Current tax liabilities 73 0

Deferred tax liabilities 75 85

17. Other liabilities
thousand EUR

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Other taxes payable 182 200

Deferred income 0 0

Received advances 641 78

Total 822 278

18. Equity
31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016

Subscribed capital 133,140 133,140

Capital reserves 27,248 27,248

Accumulated other comprehensive income 12 -16

Reserves from profit 6 6

Retained earnings (including profit/loss for the current year) 11,715 8,719

Total equity 172,120 169,097

thousand EUR

Current tax liabilities represent remaining income tax obligation 
for the year 2017. 
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Balance sheet profit for 2017

thousand EUR

Profit carried forward from previous years 8,709

Reversal (release) of capital reserves

Reversal (release) of revenue reserves by individual type of reserves

Increase (additional) reserves by type of reserves 3,006

Reduction by the amount of long-term deferred development costs on the balance sheet date

Balance sheet profit 11,715

Net profit for the financial year 2017, for which the bank is 
going to propose to the general meeting of shareholders 
that it remains unallocated, was EUR 3,005,587.45.   
 

As at year-end 2017, the book value of a share calculated 
based on the bank’s total equity was EUR 5.39, which is 
EUR 0.09 more than as at 31 December 2016.

In 2017, profit per share was EUR 0.09.

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Profit or loss after tax 3,005,587 1,115,621

Shares outstanding 31,928,152 31,928,152

Average number of shares 31,928,152 31,928,152

Basic earnings per share 0.09 0.03

Diluted earnings per share 0.09 0.03

EUR

Subscribed capital comprised 31,928,152 ordinary shares 
with a nominal value of EUR 4.17.

Capital reserves mainly comprise paid-up share premium, 
and also the former general capital revaluation adjustment.

Accumulated other comprehensive income stood at 
EUR 12 thousand as at year-end 2017. It relates to fair 
value valuation of available-for-sale financial assets, 
and actuarial gains/losses on pension plans previously 
recognised in retained earnings.

As of 13 December 2014, in accordance with the “Regulation 
on the books of account and annual reports of banks and 
savings banks”, the layout of financial statements was 
made compliant with the Implementing Technical Standards 
on Supervisory Reporting and FINREP. In the short layout 
of the statement of financial position, the expression 
“Revaluation surplus” shall be replaced with the expression 
“Accumulated other comprehensive income”, while net 
profit/loss for the year shall be combined with retained 
earnings into one item.

BALANCE SHEET PROFIT as at 31 Dec 2017



103SBERBANK SI  |   ANNUAL REPORT 2017

In accordance with the bank's Articles of Association, the 
general meeting decides on the usage of the balance sheet 
profit at the proposal of the Management and Supervisory 
Boards. While this proposal is not binding for the general 
meeting, the approved annual report is. Its resolution on 
usage of the accumulated profit must contain the following 
information:
• the amount of the balance sheet profit;
• the amount of profit distributed to shareholders;
• the amount of profit allocated to other reserves from 

profit;
• the amount of profit carried forward to the following 

year; and

• the amount of profit appropriated for other purposes 
provided for in the bank's Articles of Association.

 
The resolution on appropriation of the accumulated profit 
does not change the approved annual report. The general 
meeting cannot decide on matters concerning the bank's 
management, unless if so required by the Management 
Board.

Other reserves from profit were formed in previous years 
from profit and retained earnings for those years, and 
cannot be distributed to shareholders. They remained 
unchanged at EUR 6 thousand in 2017.

19. Treasury shares
The bank has not bought back any of its shares, and does 
not have reserves for such transactions.

20. Off-balance sheet items
31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016

- Contingencies arising from guarantees, letters of credit and other contingencies and
  commitments (including assets pledged for clients’ liabilities) 107,157 137,140

- Granted loans, overdrafts, credit lines and other assumed liabilities 269,250 281,050

- Contractual (notional) amounts of spot transactions 41,852 5,680

- Contractual (notional) amounts of derivative financial instruments 610,534 758,662

Total risky items 1,028,793 1,182,532
- Other off-balance sheet items 110,000 220,000

- Collateral received 2,497,097 2,608,119

- Bank’s financial assets pledged for the bank’s liabilities and financial assets in the pool of the
  Bank of Slovenia 265,509 178,883

Total risk-free items 2,872,606 3,007,002
Total off-balance sheet items 3,901,399 4,189,532

As at year-end 2017, the bank had off-balance sheet items 
involving some risk of EUR 1,028,793 thousand, and off-
balance sheet items involving no risk of EUR 3,901,399 

thousand. All derivative financial instruments were held for 
trading.

thousand EUR
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21. Net interest and similar income and expenses
Interest by source

2017 2016
Net interest income 33,366 33,572

Interest income 41,708 44,084
Balances with the central bank (at amortised cost) 0 1

Financial assets held for trading 1,354 1,729

Financial assets available for sale 298 550

Loans and deposits (including finance leases) 39,829 41,138

Financial assets held to maturity 3 283

Other financial assets 225 382

Interest expenses -8,343 -10,512
Financial liabilities held for trading -1,308 -1,636

Financial liabilities at amortised cost -5,890 -7,986

Other financial liabilities (including finance leases) -1,145 -889

2017 2016
Dividend income 35 0

Interest by type
               2017             2016
Income Expenses Income Expenses

Regular 38,106 -8,343 41,688 -10,512
Default 444 0 -251 0
Accrued fees similar to interest 3,158 0 2,647 0
Total 41,708 -8,343 44,084 -10,512

22. Dividend income

thousand EUR

thousand EUR

thousand EUR

2017 2016
Up to one year 0 0

From one to five years 1,077 1,325

More than five years 23,364 23,175

Total future lease payments 24,441 24,501

Future lease payments – bank as lessee under operating lease contracts: thousand EUR
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23. Net fee and commission income
2017 2016

Net fee and commission income 8,217 7,900
Fee and commission income 10,494 10,806
Auxiliary services to investment services 659 465

Payment transactions 7,390 7,049

Credit transactions 965 1,354

Guarantees issued 1,481 1,938

FEE AND COMMISSION EXPENSES -2,277 -2,906
Stock Exchange and similar organisations -73 -151

Brokerage and commission services on the bank’s account -440 -485

Payment transactions -328 -273

Guarantees received -1,388 -1,938

Other services -49 -58

thousand EUR

24. Realised gains/losses from financial assets/
 liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss

2017 2016

Net realised gains/losses 212 -1,892

Realised gains 347 6
Available-for-sale financial assets 338 2

Loans and receivables (including finance leases) 9 3

Realised losses -135 -1,898
Available-for-sale financial assets -17 0

Loans and receivables (including finance leases) -3 -3

Financial liabilities at amortised cost -100 -1,892
Other financial assets and liabilities -15 -3

thousand EUR

In 2017, we sold government bonds of Slovenia, Austria 
and France. 

Net loss realised in 2016 is mainly attributable to one client, 
Kranjska investicijska družba, and the payment of an EUR 
2 million loan. The entire loan amount was written off and 
covered with provisions.
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25. Net gains/losses from financial assets/liabilities 
held for trading

2017 2016
Net gains/losses 1,616 2,363

Trading in foreign exchange and precious metals 33 940
    Companies -74 872

    Households 107 68

  Derivatives 1,583 1,112
    Forwards -472 -5,650

    Swaps 2,023 6,594

    Options 31 169

Other financial instruments 0 311

thousand EUR

26. Net gains/losses from exchange rate differences
thousand EUR

27. Net gains/losses from derecognition of assets 
other than non-current assets held for sale

2017 2016
Net gains/losses -123 -282

 Gains 170 71

 Losses -294 -354

thousand EUR

2017 2016
Net gains/losses -761 -578

 Foreign exchange gains 13,395 12,510

 Foreign exchange losses -14,156 -13,087
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28. Other net operating gains/losses
2017 2016

Other net operating gains/losses -1,232 -1,189

Gains 685 948
    Income for non-banking services 42 45

    Other operating income 644 903

Losses -1,918 -2,137
   Membership fees -63 -58

   Other operating expenses -1,854 -2,079

thousand EUR

29. Administrative expenses
thousand EUR

2017 2016
Labour costs 14,703 14,366
Costs of material and services 10,121 9,034
Advertising 1,346 1,268

Consulting, auditing, legal consulting and notarial services 1,694 1,460

Information technology system 3,112 2,601

Rents 878 871

Other services 1,142 1,109

Maintenance, management and protection of PPE assets 460 426

Postal and other communication services 752 649

Insurance 107 81

Business trips 75 67

Seminars and tuition fees 109 121

Material 447 381

Total administrative expenses 24,823 23,400

30. Amortisation and depreciation
2017 2016

Total amortisation/depreciation 1,461 1,284

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 994 1,003

 Amortisation of intangible assets 467 282

thousand EUR

 As in 2016, the bank used the proportional amortisation/
depreciation method also in 2017.

The majority of losses represent the resolution fund and 
deposit scheme.
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31. Impairment and provisions
Impairment and provisions in 2017

thousand EUR

Recognition of 
impairment and 

provisions

Derecognition of 
impairment and 

provisions Total
Loans – principal -22,451 11,800 -10,651
Loans – interests -56 47 -9
Loans – other -275 49 -225
Impairment – loans -22,781 11,896 -10,885
Impairment – investment property -158 0 -158
Impairment – long term investments in subsidiaries -52 0 -52
Total impairment -22,992 11,896 -11,095
Provisions for off-balance items -1,133 790 -343
Provisions for pending lawsuits 0 0 0
Other provisions -10 0 -10
Total provisions -1,143 790 -353
Total impairment and provisions -24,135 12,687 -11,448

Recognition of 
impairment and 

provisions

Derecognition of 
impairment and 

provisions Total
Loans – principal -28,676 15,923 -12,753
Loans – interests 0 0 0
Loans – other -264 60 -203
Impairment – loans -28,940 15,984 -12,957
Impairment – investment property -507 0 -507
Impairment – long term investments in subsidiaries -299 0 -299
Total impairment -29,746 15,984 -13,762
Provisions for off-balance items -3,147 2,924 -223
Provisions for pending lawsuits -16 11 -6
Other provisions 0 0 0
Total provisions -3,163 2,934 -229
Total impairment and provisions -32,910 18,918 -13,992

Impairment and provisions in 2016
thousand EUR

In accordance with the accounting policies of Sberbank Eu-
rope AG, the bank is showing provisions for retirement and 
anniversary bonuses under labour costs.
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32. Net profit or loss for the current year
In 2017, the bank earned a profit from continuing operati-
ons of EUR 3,597 thousand. The tax calculated by the bank 

was EUR 592 thousand, and net profit for 2017 was EUR 
3,006 thousand.

33. Analysis of income and expenses by markets

2017 2016
Total income (gross) 80,525 123,308

Income earned in foreign markets 17,603 34,387

Share of income earned in foreign markets (%) 21.86% 27.89%

Total expenses (gross) 39,195 83,413

Expenses incurred in foreign markets 17,081 54,036

Share of expenses incurred in foreign markets (%) 43.58% 64.78%

thousand EUR

The majority of income earned and expenses incurred in 
foreign markets arose from transactions with Sberbank 
Russia, Sberbank Austria and ING bank.

34. Auditing expenses
In accordance with a contract to audit the 2017 annual 
report, the bank paid Ernst & Young, d.o.o., the amount of 
EUR 54,200 without VAT.

In accordance with a contract related to the 2017 Group 
reporting package audit, the bank paid Ernst & Young, d.o.o., 
EUR 10,000 without VAT.

In accordance with a contract to audit the 2017 related parties 
transaction report, the bank paid Ernst & Young, d.o.o., the 
amount of EUR 4,000 without VAT.

In accordance with a contract to audit the 2017 TLTRO 
report, the bank paid Ernst & Young, d.o.o., the amount of 
EUR 2,000 without VAT.

In accordance with several contracts related to the 
reporting package review, the bank paid Ernst & Young, 
d.o.o., EUR 35,000 without VAT for the first three quarters 
of 2017.

The total amount spent on auditing in 2017 amounted to 
EUR 105,200 without VAT.

In accordance with a contract to audit the 2016 annual 
report, the bank paid Ernst & Young, d.o.o., the amount of 
EUR 60,200 without VAT.

In accordance with a contract related to the 2016 Group 
reporting package audit, the bank paid Ernst & Young, d.o.o., 
EUR 10,000 without VAT.

In accordance with several contracts related to the 
reporting package review, the bank paid Ernst & Young, 
d.o.o., EUR 45,000 without VAT for the first three quarters 
of 2016.

The total amount spent on auditing in 2016 amounted to 
EUR 115,200 without VAT.
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35. Effective tax rate
2017 2016

Profit or loss from continuing operations before tax 3,597 1,218

Estimated tax liability at the statutory tax rate of 19% (2016: 17%) 683 207

Difference to the actual tax liability -91 -105
Reduced expenses (non-deductible entertainment expenses, donations, employee benefits)  123 93

Tax incentives (capital investments), incl, transferred tax incentives -184 -109

Provisions for pension plan in retained earnings (actuarial gains/losses) -1 -1

Other   -29 -88

Income tax in the income statement 592 102
Effective tax rate 16.46%  8.37%

thousand EUR

36. Number of employees
In 2017, the bank had 348 employees on average. As 
at year-end 2017, it had 354 employees. In accordance 
with the Klasius classification – classification system of 

education & training, the educational structure of employees 
is the following:

37. Organisational units abroad
The bank does not have organisational units abroad.

  Level of education under the Klasius qualification Number Share

level V / high school education 117 33 %
level VI/1 / college degree education 30 9 %
level VI/2 / Bologna declaration, 1st degree, Bachelor's study 91 26 %
level VII / Bologna declaration, 2nd degree, Master's study 97 27 %
level VIII / Bologna declaration, 3rd degree, Doctoral study 19 5 %
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31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016
Fiduciary transactions 17,466 38,251
  Syndicated loans 17,466 38,251
  Transactions for third party accounts                                 0                                 0

38. Fiduciary transactions

The bank did not have assets or liabilities arising from 
transactions for third party accounts as at 31 December 
2017 and as 31 December 2016.

thousand EUR

39. Documents on participation rights, convertible  
 bonds
The bank does not have documents relating to participation 
rights or convertible bonds.

40. Assets pledged as collateral

As at year-end 2017, the bank had EUR 146.3 million of 
first-class securities in the pool of the Bank of Slovenia, and 
EUR 90.6 million of loans with first-class insurance. These 
assets are ready to cover any regulatory pledging needs, 
to secure payment transactions and to ensure the bank’s 
secondary liquidity.

As at year-end 2017, there were EUR 103.3 million of 
eligible loans and securities pledged for the ECB’s longer-
term funding, EUR 11.5 million of securities pledged with 
the Slovenian Resolution Fund, and EUR 0.3 million of 
securities pledged with the Deposit Guarantee Scheme. In 
addition, EUR 16 million were pledged for SEPA payments.

2017 2016

Fee and commission income from investment and ancillary investment services 
and transactions for clients 513 465

Acceptance, transmission and execution of orders 513 465

Fee and commission expenses from investment and ancillary investment 
services and transactions for clients -440 -485

thousand EUR
Net fees and commissions from investment services and transactions
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42. Related parties

Management 
Board 

members

Key 
management 

personnel*

Close family 
members of 

Management Board 
members and 

key management 
personnel**

Sberbank  
of Russia

Other 
related 
parties

Financial assets held for trading 0 0 0 114 22

Available-for-sale financial assets 0 0 0 0 0

Loans to and receivables from banks 0 0 0 761 27,028

Loans to and receivables from non-banks 9 944 170 0 2,984

Held-to-maturity investments 0 0 0 0 0

Investments in subsidiaries 0 0 0 0 963

Other assets 0 1 0 0 17

Total assets 9 945 170 875 31,014
Financial liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 53 1

Deposits from banks 0 0 0 2 47,287

Deposits from non-banks 191 503 486 0 871

Loans and advances from banks 0 0 0 0 0

Subordinated liabilities 0 0 0 0 52,015

Other liabilities 0 3 0 103 103

Total liabilities 191 506 486 158 100,277

thousand EURStatement of financial position as at 31 December 2017

* Key managers: procurators and members of senior management.
**Close family members of Management Board members and key managers: parents, children, brothers and sisters.

41. Subordinated instruments

The bank does not have investments in others’ subordina-
ted instruments.

On the basis of Article 545 and Article 546 of the Companies 
Act, the company's management prepared a report on 
relations with the parent company and other subsidiaries 
in the Group, in which it found that Sberbank banka d.d., 
based on the circumstances known to it at that time, did not 

enter into such transactions with the parent company and 
its affiliates or taken or abandoned other actions at their 
initiative in 2017 that would be to its detriment or result in it 
suffering a loss.
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Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016 thousand EUR

* Key managers: procurators and members of senior management.
**Close family members of Management Board members and key managers: parents, children, brothers and sisters.

Management 
Board 

members

Key 
management 

personnel*

Close family 
members of 

Management Board 
members and 

key management 
personnel**

Sberbank of 
Russia

Other 
related 
parties

Financial assets held for trading 0 0 0 333 8

Available-for-sale financial assets 0 0 0 0 0

Loans to and receivables from banks 0 0 0 12,761 82,064

Loans to and receivables from non-banks 10 975 182 0 2,985

Held-to-maturity investments 0 0 0 0 0

Investments in subsidiaries 0 0 0 0 1,015

Other assets 0 1 0 0 28

Total assets 10 976 182 13,094 86,100
Financial liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 2,908 126

Deposits from banks 0 0 0 100,001 19,463

Deposits from non-banks 231 373 547 0 145

Loans and advances from banks 0 0 0 111,742 0

Subordinated liabilities 0 0 0 0 52,010

Other liabilities 0 7 0 83 3,730

Total liabilities 231 380 547 214,734 74,747
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Management 
Board 

members

Key 
management 

personnel*

Close family 
members of 

Management Board 
membesr and 

key management 
personnel**

Sberbank 
of Russia

Other related 
parties

Net interest income 0 12 1 -383 -1,658

Net fee and commission income 0 0 0 -14 -243

Gains and losses on financial assets and 
liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 -2,197 100

Gains and losses on available-for-sale
financial assets and liabilities 0 0 0 0 0

Other net operating income 0 0 0 0 13

Administrative costs -33 -13 0 -10 -784

Impairments 0 1 0 0 -52

Release of provisions 0 -1 0 0 0

Total -33 -2 1 -2,604 -2,624

thousand EUR
Income statement for 2017

thousand EURIncome statement for 2016

* Key managers: procurators and members of senior management.
**Close family members of Management Board members and key managers: parents, children, brothers and sisters.

Management 
Board 

members

Key 
management 

personnel*

Close family 
members of 

Management Board 
membesr and 

key management 
personnel**

Sberbank 
Russia

Other related 
parties

Net interest income 0 16 2 -81 -763

Net fee and commission income 0 2 1 -593 -528

Gains and losses on financial assets and 
liabilities held for trading 0 0 0 -7,551 -10,854

Gains and losses on available-for-sale 
financial assets and liabilities 0 0 0 0 0

Other net operating income 0 6 0 -1 61

Administrative costs -34 -20 0 -8 -937

Impairments 0 -1 0 0 -897

Release of provisions 0 1 0 0 0

Total -34 4 3 -8,234 -13,918
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Terms and conditions and amounts of loans to Management Board members 
and key management personnel as at 31 December 2017

2017 Maturity Currency Interest 
rate

Type of 
interest 

rate
Collateral Loan 

amount
Repayment 

in year 

Key management 
personnel long-term EUR 3.25 fixed

mortgage, pledge of 
insurance, personal 

securities, insurance 
company, cash deposit

194 24

Key management 
personnel (granted 
before 1 Jan 2005)

long-term EUR 0.18 variable
mortgage, pledge of 

insurance, insurance 
company

18 3

Key management 
personnel long-term EUR 1.42 variable

mortgage, pledge of 
insurance, personal 

securities, insurance 
company

687 128

Total  899 155

thousand EUR

As at year-end 2017, the bank did not have provisions or 
impairments related to these loans.

Terms and conditions and amounts of loans to Management Board members 
and key management personnel as at 31 December 2016

thousand EUR

As at year-end 2016, the bank did not have provisions or 
impairments related to these loans.

Key management personnel includes procurators and 
members of senior management.

The bank does not have internal owners and therefore does 
not disclose their receipts.

The terms applicable to the transactions with members of 
the Management and Supervisory Boards and employees 
with individual employment contracts are the same as 
those applicable to other bank employees and their family 
members, i.e. the same as those laid down in the bank’s 
official tariff.

2016 Maturity Currency Interest 
rate

Type of 
interest 

rate
Collateral Loan 

amount
Repayment 

in year 

Management Board 
members long-term EUR 0.000 variable mortgage, pledge of 

insurance 0 24

Key management 
personnel long-term EUR 3.232 fixed

mortgage, pledge of 
insurance, personal 

securities, insurance 
company, cash deposit

111 10

Key management 
personnel  (granted 
before 1 Jan 2005)

long-term EUR 0.347 variable
mortgage, pledge of 

insurance, insurance 
company

22 4

Key management 
personnel long-term EUR 1.554 variable

mortgage, pledge of 
insurance, personal 

securities, insurance 
company

807 104

Total  940 142
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thousand EUR
Gross receipts of Managing and Supervisory Board members in 2017 

Receipts Gašpar 
Ogris-Martič

Aleš 
Zajc

Sergey 
Ludentsov**

Elisabeth
Friedl*

for period: 1. 1.–31. 12. 2017 1. 1.–31. 12. 2017 1. 1.–31. 12. 2017 1. 1.–31. 12. 2017
Fix receipts (gross salary) 288 259 242 54

Variable pay (annual bonus) 39 42 0 36

Profit sharing  

Option and other rewards

Insurance and pension insurance 70 12 0 21

Costs reimbursment1) 19 1 31 5

Provisions and other additional receipts 38

Total 416 314 311 116

thousand EURGross receipts of Managing and Supervisory Board members in 2016

Receipts of employees with individual employment contracts in 2017

Employees with individual employment contracts
Gross receipts 1,475

Profit sharing 0

Total 1,475

As at year-end 2017, the bank had three members of the 
Management Board, six members of the Supervisory Board, 
and 22 employees (positions at the first level below the 

Management Board) with individual employment contracts. 
The bank also had five procurators.

thousand EUR

Receipts Gašpar 
Ogris-Martič

Aleš 
Zajc

Sergey 
Ludentsov

Elisabeth
Friedl

for period: 1. 1.–31. 12. 2016 1. 1.–31. 12. 2016 1. 1.–31. 12. 2016 1. 1.–31. 12. 2016
Fix receipts (gross salary) 257 244 226 150

Variable pay (annual bonus) 39 41 28 24

Profit sharing

Option and other rewards

Insurance and pension insurance 70 12                        0 61

Costs reimbursment1) 19 1 29 16

Provisions and other additional receipts 

Total 385 298 283 251

1) Lunch reimbursement, internet,  accommodation & utility costs, plane  tickets, parking , etc

* E. Friedl for the period of 1.1.-5.5.2017
** S. Ludentsov. Member of the management board until 6.12.2017
1) lunch reimbursement, internet,  accommodation & utility costs, plane  tickets, parking , etc.
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43. Notes to the cash flow statement
The bank prepared the cash flow statement in accordance 
with the indirect method using the income statement and 
balance sheet data. Within cash equivalents, it included 
all financial assets with an original maturity of up to three 
months. Under IAS 7, these are short-term, highly liquid 
assets that are readily convertible to known amounts of 

cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 
Any differences between the data from two consecutive 
balance sheets and the data from the income statement 
for the period between them were corrected to ensure that 
inflows were as close as possible to receipts and outflows 
to expenses.

thousand EURCash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2015

1. Cash and balances with central bank 233,099
2. Loans to banks and savings banks maturing in 3 months 72,726
       Transaction accounts abroad 16,582

       Transaction accounts abroad in foreign currency 7,144

       Overnight deposits abroad 49,000

       Overnight deposits abroad in foreign currency 0

Other short-term investments in foreign banks                         0

TOTAL 305,825

thousand EURCash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2016

1. Cash and balances with central bank 189,517
2. Loans to banks and savings banks maturing in 3 months 41,904
        Transaction accounts abroad 37,107

        Transaction accounts abroad in foreign currency 4,797

        Overnight deposits abroad 0

        Overnight deposits abroad in foreign currency 0

Other short-term investments in foreign banks                         0

TOTAL 231,421

thousand EURCash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2017

1. Cash and balances with central bank 148,571
2. Loans to banks and savings banks maturing in 3 months 22,084
        Transaction accounts abroad 13,874

        Transaction accounts abroad in foreign currency 8,205

        Overnight deposits abroad 0

        Overnight deposits abroad in foreign currency 0

Other short-term investments in foreign banks                         0

TOTAL 170,655
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thousand EURInterest and dividends received and paid in 2017 and in 2016

 2017 2016
Interest received 41,708 44,084

Interest paid 8,343 10,512

Dividends received 43 0

Dividends paid 0 0

44. Post-balance sheet events
In the period between the submission of the financial 
statements contained herein and the completion of this 
report, the bank did not experience any significant business 

events that would affect these financial statements, the 
results of its operations and other disclosures made herein.
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Our network

HEADQUARTERS       
Sberbank banka, d.d. 
Dunajska 128 a 
1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia 
T +386 (0)1 53 07 400 
F +386 (0)1 53 07 555 
info@sberbank.si
www.sberbank.si

BRANCHES 

Ljubljana

Dunajska cesta 128 a  
SI-1000 Ljubljana   
T +386 (1) 53 07 672  
F +386 (1) 53 07 560  
 
 
Pavšičeva 4   
SI-1000 Ljubljana   
T +386 (1) 50 00 790  
F +386 (1) 50 00 796  
 

Cesta na Brdo 69
SI-1000 Ljubljana
T +386 (1) 24 12 042
F +386 (1) 24 12 047

Miklošičeva 30
SI-1000 Ljubljana
T +386 (1) 23 49 390
F +386 (1) 23 49 392

Gosposka ulica 1
SI-1000 Ljubljana
T +386 (1) 24 10 172
F +386 (1) 24 10 192

Kranj 
    
Na skali 6   
SI-4000 Kranj   
T +386 (4) 20 13 880  
F +386 (4) 20 13 888  
 

Maribor    

Poslovna zgradba City Jug  
Ul. Heroja Bračiča 6   
SI-2000 Maribor 
T +386 (2) 23 80 345
F +386 (2) 23 80 344 

Šentjur 
   
Mestni trg 2   
SI-3230 Šentjur pri Celju  
T +386 (3) 74 71 840  
F +386 (3) 74 71 842  
 

Koper

Pristaniška 43 a
SI-6000 Koper
T +386 (5) 66 34 866
F +386 (5) 66 34 872

Celje

Prešernova 27
SI-3000 Celje
T +386 (3) 42 87 808
F +386 (3) 42 87 818

Šentjernej

Levičnikova cesta 2
SI-8310 Šentjernej
T +386 (7) 39 42 680
F +386 (7) 39 42 683

Tepanje

Tepanje 28 d
SI-3210 Slovenske Konjice
T +386 (3) 75 80 850
F +386 (3) 75 80 852
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SBERBANK EUROPE AG 

Austria
Sberbank Europe AG 
Schwarzenbergplatz 3, 
1010 Vienna, Austria
T +43 (0) 1227320
office@sberbank.at
www.sberbank.at

Bosnia and Herzegovina
Sberbank BH d.d. Sarajevo 
Fra Anđela Zvizdovića 1 
71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia-Herzegovina 
T +387 (0)33 29 47 00 
F +387 (0)33 26 38 32 
info@sberbank.ba 
www.sberbank.ba 

Sberbank a.d. Banja Luka 
Jevrejska 71 
78 000 Banja Luka, Bosnia-Herzegovina 
T +387 (0)51 241 100 
F +387 (0)51 213 391 
info@sberbankbl.ba 
www.sberbankbl.ba

Croatia
Sberbank d.d.
Varšavska 9
10000 Zagreb, Croatia
T +385 (0)1 4801 300
F +385 (0)1 4801 365
info@sberbank.hr
www.sberbank.hr

Czech Republic
Sberbank CZ, a.s.
U Trezorky 921/2
158 00 Praha 5, Czech Republic
T: Infoline 800 133 444
F: +420 221 969 951
E: mail@sberbankcz.cz
www.sberbankcz.cz

Serbia  
Sberbank Srbija a.d. Beograd 
Bulevar Mihaila Pupina 165g 
11070 Belgrad, Serbia 
T +381 (0)11 201 69 69 
F +381 (0)11 201 32 70 
info@sberbank.rs 
www.sberbank.rs

Slovenia   
Sberbank banka, d.d. 
Dunajska 128a 
1000 Ljubljana, Slovenija 
T +386 (0)1 53 07 400 
F +386 (0)1 53 07 555 
info@banka-sberbank.si
www.banka-sberbank.si

Hungary 
Sberbank Hungary Zrt. 
Rákóczi út 7 
1088 Budapest, Hungary 
T +36 (0)1 328 66 66 
F +36 (0)1 328 66 60 
info@sberbank.hu 
www.sberbank.hu

Germany
Sberbank Direct
P.O. Box 620
45956 Gladbeck
T: +49 69 66 777 45 777
T: +49 69 66 777 45 799
kundenbetreuung@sberbank-direct.de
www.sberbankdirect.de
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